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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual report
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021.

The Group is a long established contractor in Hong Kong and
is principally engaged in the provision of foundation works
(including the construction of mini-piles, rock-socketed steel
H-piles and driven steel H piles, and other civil work, including site
formation works, and road and pavement works) and tunneling
works (including pipe jacking, hand dig tunnel and cut-and-over
tunnel works) in Hong Kong and overseas. We had diversified and
expanded our business to the areas which include conservation
and utilization of aquatic genetic resources, molecular breeding of
aquaculture species, ecological and industrial process of aquatic
products, import and export trade. The Company also intends to
use genetic modification for biosynthetic exploration to provide
new solutions to tackle the bottleneck of drug sources, expend
resources on research and development of marine functional
products and marine innovative drugs through its non-wholly
owned subsidiary, BGI Marine.

In late March 2021, the Group also diversified and expanded to
sub-leasing business by entering two cooperation agreements
which relate to premises situated in Guangzhou, a first-tier city
in the PRC.

The Group has also invested in an associated company for the
purpose of the development of the Birmingham Property Project.
The Birmingham Property Project consists of 304 residential
apartments situated at the Windmill Street, Birmingham, the
United Kingdom. During the 2021 Financial Year, 74.3% of
the apartments have been sold and share of profits from the
Birmingham Property Project were approximately HK$19.0 million.
As at the date of this annual report, the Birmingham Property
Project has practically been completed and about 77.6% of the
apartments have been pre-sold/sold.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

RESULT SUMMARY

During the 2021 Financial Year, the Group recorded a
consolidated revenue of approximately HK$1,056.5 million,
representing an increase of 7.8% from the 2020 Corresponding
Year. Gross Profit of the Group amounted HK$120.6 million, an
increase of 10.0% from the 2020 Corresponding Year. Profit
attributable to owners of the Company amounted to HK$49.3
million representing an increase of 100.6% as compared to that
in the 2020 Corresponding Year. Earnings per share was HK$0.10
for the 2021 Financial Year comparing with HK$0.05 for the
2020 Corresponding Year. The Group maintained healthy financial
position with net current assets of HK$131.8 million and net cash
position at the financial year end.

Despite the challenges and difficulties, with the dedicated support
of our staff and customers, the Group has been successfully
awarded 12 contracts with original contract sums of totaling
HK$553.8 million and the outstanding contract value (based on
the original contract value) as at 31 March 2021 amounted to
approximately HK$586.2 million.

OUTLOOK

When compared with other industries in Hong Kong, the
construction industry is less affected under the current economic
environment. To support the employment market, the Hong Kong
SAR Government has adopted expansionary fiscal measures which
include continuous investment in infrastructure projects. We are
cautiously optimistic about the construction market in the medium
to the long term.

In the future, the Group will continue to explore strategic
cooperation with potential entities in the worldwide market to
acquire a larger market share in the marine biopharmaceutical
market. At present, the Group’s marine drugs focus on the
development of new drugs for major human diseases such as
tumors, cardiovascular diseases, therapeutic microorganisms, and
nervous system diseases. The main products under development
are CMBT series (suitable for G-CSF and anti-tumor fields) and
Conotoxin (suitable for analgesia and addiction treatment).

The Group also has actively expanding the breeding, sale and
trading of aquatic products business by entering into letters of
intent for strategic cooperation/agreements or project investment
intention/cooperation framework agreements with relevant parties
which possess extensive resources in various coastal provinces and
cites in the PRC.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

The COVID-19 pandemic has halted the economy of many
countries around the world with closure of borders and movement
control restrictions. Even with roll-out of vaccination programs,
the recovery of the economy and the confidence of customers
take time. The management is of the view that the Hong Kong
economy would be challenging with the new norm that the
COVID-19 would not die out in the short run, but is still cautiously
optimistic about our core business performance in the coming
year. The Group will take a cautious approach in its business
planning to weather the current unfavourable environment.

APPRECIATION

I would like to this opportunity to express my heartfelt
appreciation to the board members, management team and staff
for their dedication and their valuable contributions.

I would also like to thank our customers, subcontractors and
suppliers, other business partners and, most importantly, our
Shareholders of their continue support to the Group for the past
years.

Jim Yin Kwan Jackin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEER Wk DM

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the 2021 Financial Year, the revenue of the Group increased
to approximately HK$1,056.5 million (2020 Corresponding Year:
HK$980.1 million), an increase of 7.8%. The increase in revenue is
mainly contributed from the increase in the revenue of foundation
and other civil works, and tunneling works by approximately
HK$70.1 million and HK$11.0 million respectively.

During the 2021 Financial Year, the Group has been awarded 12
contracts with original contract sums of approximately HK$553.8
million of which all were for foundation works in Hong Kong.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had a total of 24 major
contracts on hands with the outstanding contract value in
Hong Kong (based on the original contract value) amounted to
approximately HK$586.2 million (as at 31 March 2020: HK$918.7
million) to be completed.

During the 2021 Financial Year, Shenzhen Huahai Sales Co., Ltd.,
the wholly owned subsidiary of BGI Marine, had entered into a
two-year strategic cooperation agreement with BGI Shenzhen Co.,
Ltd.* CRIIZERXERERFHABRAF) in relation to the testing,
food and skin care probiotics.

In July 2020, a Fish Antimicrobial Peptide Database (& %8 #1 &
BREHEE) has been officially launched by BGI Marine, providing
important scientific and technological support for the in-depth
research and development of new feed additives, health foods
and pharmaceuticals.

In September 2020, BGI Marine had entered into a non-legally
binding strategic cooperation framework agreement with BGI
Life Science Research Institution (RYIZE KR 4 a5 B ZBH 7 br)
("BGI Research”) in relation to the establishment of a long-term
strategic partnership to foster marine technology innovation and
industry development with the use of genetic technology.

In October 2020, BGI Marine had also entered into a non-legally
binding strategic cooperation framework agreement with Marine
Biomedical Research Institute of Qingdao Holdings Ltd. (5 &
WAEEMBERERMDERLQF]) ("QDMBRI”). Together with
BGI Research strategic cooperation, BGI Research and QDMBRI
separately will help BGI Marine combine related patents with
the powerful genomics database accumulated by BGI Research
over the years, thus accelerating the industrialization of marine
biological genetic data and pharmaceutical applications. It will
also expedite the production of precise biology drugs, thereby
benefiting the Group’s development of marine ecology business
which includes biopharmaceuticals.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWmR DM

SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT
The Group has placed strong emphasis on quality assurance
systems and it has strong commitment to works’ quality, safety,
occupational health and environmental management to ensure
delivering of quality works to the customers on a timely basis.

The Group has implemented a stringent management system to
regulate its works’ quality, safety and environmental management
standards, which complies with international standards. The
Group has met the requirements of ISO 9001, ISO 14001, 1SO
45001, I1SO 50001 and OHSAS 18001 accreditation for our
quality management system, environmental management system,
energy management system and occupational safety and health
management system respectively.

Same as previous years, the Group has maintained accident rates
at the construction sites lower than the industry average.

During the 2021 Financial Year, the Group received the following
awards from Government departments, public utility companies
and industry organizations on recognizing our Group's effort on
promoting and maintaining our site safety:

o HEC-Certificate of Appreciation for Safety, Health and
Environmental Performance Achiever Award by Hong Kong
Electric Co., Ltd. Safety Award 2020

o Outstanding Award for Sports Excellence and Activeness —
Sliver by Development Bureau

° Merit in Non-Public Works Sites — New Works & RMAA
Works and CCSA-Merit by 26th Development Bureau
Considerate Contractors Site Award Scheme

o Chief Operating Officer Award 2019 The Best Safety
Performance by CLP Power Hong Kong Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENRR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the 2021 Financial Year, the Group recorded a consolidated
revenue of approximately HK$1,056.5 million, an increase of
approximately 7.8% comparing with the revenue of approximately
HK$980.1 million for the 2020 Corresponding Year. The increase
in revenue is mainly due to the increase in the revenue of
foundation and other civil works, and tunneling works by
approximately HK$70.1 million and HK$11.0 million respectively.

Revenue from the foundation and other civil works segment
increased from approximately HK$699.3 million for the 2020
Corresponding Year to approximately HK$769.4 million for the
2021 Financial Year, an increase of approximately 10.0%. The
increase in the revenue of the foundation works was primarily
due to the increase in the number of sizable projects tendered
and commenced during the 2021 Financial Year.

Revenue from the tunneling works segment for the 2021 Financial
Year amounted to approximately HK$94.5 million representing an
increase of approximately 13.2% from the 2020 Corresponding
Year. The increase in the revenue from the tunneling works was
due to the completion of significant tunneling projects during the
2021 Financial Year.

Revenue from the breeding, sale and trading of aquatic
products segment and other services slightly decreased from
approximately HK$197.3 million for the 2020 Corresponding Year
to approximately HK$192.6 million for the 2021 Financial Year,
a decrease of approximately 2.4%. The decrease in revenue was
mainly attributable to the increase in the provision of research
and development service and offset by the decrease in the sale
and trading of aquatic products due to the worldwide outbreak
of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) epidemic, which affected the
supply chain of the aquatic products.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENRR DM

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The overall gross profit of the Group increased from approximately
HK$109.6 million for the 2020 Corresponding Year to
approximately HK$120.6 million for the 2021 Financial Year,
representing an increase of approximately 10.0%.

Gross profit in relation to foundation and other civil works
increased by approximately HK$14.0 million from approximately
HK$76.5 million for 2020 Corresponding Year to approximately
HK$90.5 million for the 2021 Financial Year. The gross profit
margin in relation to foundation and other civil works segment
was 11.8% for the 2021 Financial Year, an increase from 10.9%
for the 2020 Corresponding Year. The increase in gross profit
was attributable to the increase in revenue from foundation
works as explained above. The gross profit margin in relation
to the foundation and other civil works segment increased from
approximately 10.9% for the 2020 Corresponding Year to 11.8%
for the 2021 Financial Year as a result of the commencement of
a high profit margin project during the 2021 Financial Year and
offset by the increase in the overall construction costs.

Gross profit in relation to tunneling works decreased by
approximately HK$19.8 million from approximately HK$28.7
million for the 2020 Corresponding Year to approximately HK$8.9
million for the 2021 Financial Year. The gross profit margin for the
tunneling works segment decreased from approximately 34.4%
for the 2020 Corresponding Year to approximately 9.4% for the
2021 Financial Year as a result of the delay in obtaining approval
from relevant authorities under the special work arrangements
for the COVID-19. The progress of certain projects has been
affected which in turn lead to the decrease in the recognition of
the overall gross profit and gross profit margin during the 2021
Financial Year.

Gross profit in relation to breeding, sale and trading of aquatic
products and related services increased by approximately
HK$12.2 million from approximately HK$17.6 million for the 2020
Corresponding Year to approximately HK$29.9 million for the
2021 Financial Year. The increase in gross profit was mainly due
to the provision of research and development service during the
year. The gross profit margin in relation to the breeding, sale and
trading of aquatic products decreased from approximately 8.9%
for the 2020 Corresponding Period to approximately 1.4% for
the 2021 Financial Year as results of the adverse impact on the
supply chain of the aquatic products during the novel coronavirus
(COVID-19) epidemic.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWmR DM

Other income and gain

Other income and gain for the 2021 Financial Year amounted
to HK$46.1 million, comparing with that of HK$45.8 million
for the 2020 Corresponding Year. The other income and gain
mainly included the various subsidies of approximately HK$27.2
million from both the PRC and the Hong Kong Government
under anti-epidemic schemes, interest income on bonds of
approximately HK$1.0 million, imputed interest income of
approximately HK$6.3 million and exchange gain of approximately
HK$8.0 million arose from the appreciation of foreign currency
denominated monetary assets.

Gain from changes in fair value of biological assets
less costs to sell

It represented changes in fair value less costs to sell of biological
assets as at 31 March 2021 which are determined with reference
to the market-determined prices of items with similar age, breed
and genetic merit.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for the 2021 Financial Year
amounted to HK$25.5 million, comparing with that of HK$21.2
million for the 2020 Corresponding Year. The increase in the
selling and distribution expenses was mainly due to the increase
in wages and salaries, transportation fee and storage expenses
in relation to diversify emerging channels. The Group has
cooperated with various platforms and merchants to develop its
operating models which cover e-commerce channels, traditional
supermarket channel and special channel etc.

Administrative and other expenses

Administrative and other expenses for the 2021 Financial Year
amounted to HK$105.0 million, comparing with that of HK$110.4
million for the 2020 Corresponding Year. The decrease in
administrative and other expenses was mainly attributable to the
decrease in general corporate expenses such as overseas and local
travelling as a result of global lockdown caused by the COVID-19
epidemic.

Finance costs

Finance cost of the Group for the 2021 Financial Year was
approximately HK$10.2 million, compared to approximately
HK$7.6 million for the 2020 Corresponding Year. The increase in
finance cost was mainly attributable to the increase in the average
interest rate of the bank and other borrowings.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWmR DM

Impairment loss on goodwiill

The prolonged unprecedented COVID-19 pandemic and the
associated anti-epidemic measures extended globally had
further disrupted the supply chain of the aquatic products.
The management had performed impairment assessment for
the carrying amount of cash generating unit (“CGU”) and
representing the operating segment — breeding, sales and
trading of aquatic products and related services, including
the goodwill and respective assets as at 31 March 2021. The
impairment assessment was carried out by determining the
recoverable amount of the CGU based on the higher of fair value
less cost of disposal and value-in-use calculation. The carrying
amount of the CGU is written down to its recoverable amount
if the carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount. The management used discounted cash flow projections
from the financial budgets reflecting actual and prior year
performance and market development expectations. To determine
the recoverable amount under the value-in-use calculation,
key assumptions include the expected growth in revenues and
operating margins, estimated growth rates, selection of discount
rates and the COVID-19 impact. The management considered
that impairment should be made to goodwill. As a result, an
impairment loss on goodwill of approximately HK$7.3 million has
been recognised for the operating segment — breeding, sales
and trading of aquatic products and related services for the 2021
Financial Year.

Share of result of an associate

Share of result of an associate relates to the Group’s 40% interest
in an associate for the purpose of developing the Birmingham
Property Project. The Group's share of profit of an associate for
the 2021 Financial Year was approximately HK$19.0 million.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses increased by approximately HK$0.4 million
from approximately HK$6.2 million for the 2020 Corresponding
Year to approximately HK$6.6 million for the 2021 Financial Year
as a result of the increase in operating profit.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWmR DM

Profit attributable to the owners of the Company

The consolidated profit attributable to the owners of the
Company amounted to approximately HK$49.3 million for the
2021 Financial Year when compared to approximately HK$24.6
million for the 2020 Corresponding Year, an increase of 100.6%.

Return on total assets for the 2021 Financial Year increased to
4.0%, from 2.8% for the 2020 Corresponding Year. The increase
was due to the increase in profits for the year. Return on equity
for the 2021 Financial Year was 12.4% when compared to 7.4%
for the 2020 Corresponding Year. The increase was due to the
increase in profits attributable to the owners of the Company.

Capital expenditure

The Group incurred capital expenditure, primarily on property,
plant and equipment and motor vehicles, of HK$40.7 million
for the 2021 Financial Year, (2020 Corresponding Year: HK$64.5
million) which was financed by internal resources and borrowings.

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had bank balances and cash
of approximately HK$71.1 million (as at 31 March 2020: HK$31.1
million).

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had bank and other borrowings
of approximately HK$153.8 million (as at 31 March 2020:
approximately HK$196.0 million) out of which approximately
HK$126.2 million (as at 31 March 2020: HK$196.0 million) were
classified under current liabilities.

As at 31 March 2021 the Group had lease liabilities of
approximately HK$138.7 million (as at 31 March 2020: HK$8.4
million).

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had net current assets
of approximately HK$131.8 million (as at 31 March 2020:
approximately HK$122.8 million).

The Group's current ratio (which is calculated on the basis of
current assets over current liabilities) as at 31 March 2021 and
31 March 2020 was approximately 1.4 times and 1.3 times
respectively. The gearing ratio (which is calculated on the basis of
total debt over total equity. Total debt includes bank and other
borrowings and lease liabilities) of the Group as at 31 March
2021 and 31 March 2020 was approximately 65.9% and 53.1%
respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWmR DM

Capital commitments

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s capital commitments relating
to the purchase of machinery and equipment was approximately
HK$4.4 million (as at 31 March 2020: HK$32.9 million).

Pledge of assets

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has pledged to banks and other
financial institutions of plant and equipment, other receivable,
contract assets and trade receivable of approximately in total
HK$26.9 million (31 March 2021: nil) to secure the banking
facilities granted to the Group.

Segmental information
Details of segmental information are set out in the note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Foreign exchange risk management

Apart from the interest in an associate of which the underlining
functional currency is GBP, and the subsidiaries in the Philippines
and the PRC of which the underling functional currencies are PHP
and RMB respectively, the revenue, expenses, monetary assets
and liabilities of the Group are mainly denominated in Hong
Kong dollar (which is the presentation currency of the financial
information), same as the functional currency of the Group.

For the 2021 Financial Year, apart from the interest in an associate
and subsidiaries in the Philippines and the PRC, there was no
significant exposure to the foreign currency rate fluctuations from
the operations of the Group. The Group did not maintain any
hedging policy against foreign currency risk. The management will
closely monitor the exposure to the foreign currency risk and will
consider hedging significant currency exposure should the need
arise.

Contingent liabilities
Details of contingent liabilities are set out in the note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has 426 employees in Hong
Kong (as at 31 March 2020: 418), 119 employees in Philippines
(as at 31 March 2020: 130) and 154 employees in PRC (as at 31
March 2020: 145). The remuneration package of the Group for
its employees includes salary, bonuses, other cash subsidies and
allowances. In general, employee salaries are determined based
on each employee’s qualifications, experience and capability and
the market remuneration rate. The Group has an annual review
system to assess the performance of our employees, which
forms the basis with respect to salary adjustments, bonuses and
promotions. Some in-house site staff were employed as daily
workers and their remuneration package includes salary and
overtime allowances. The employee remuneration expense and
Directors’ emoluments (including salaries, other benefits and
retirement benefit costs) amounted to approximately HK$231.9
million (2020 Corresponding Year: HK$199.8 million) for the 2021
Financial Year.

DIVIDENDS

No interim dividends has been paid by the Group during the 2021
Financial Year (2020 Corresponding Year: nil).

The Board does not recommend a payment of final dividend to

the Shareholders for the 2021 Financial Year (2020 Corresponding
Year: nil).
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Corporate Governance Report
TERERBE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board and senior management of the Company commit to
achieve a high standard of corporate governance, to formulate
good corporate governance practice for improvement of
accountability and transparency in operations, and to strengthen
the internal control and risk management systems from time to
time so as to ensure to protect the rights of the shareholders
and enhance shareholder value.

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
CG code under Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Company
has complied with the code provision of the CG Code during the
2021 Financial Year.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. The Company has made specific
enquiries with all Directors and all Directors confirmed that they
have complied with the standards required by the Model Code
during the 2021 Financial Year (the “CG Reporting Period”).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Overall Accountability

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders and in discharging
its corporate accountability. The Directors, individually and
collectively, must act in good faith in the best interests of the
Company and the Shareholders and fulfill their fiduciary duties
by applying the required level of skills, care and diligence to a
standard in accordance with the statutory requirements.

Board Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for formulating group policies and
business directions, and monitoring internal controls and
performances. The management has been delegated the authority
and responsibility by the Board for the operations of the Group.
In addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities
to the Board committees, namely, the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.
Further details of these committees are set out in this report.
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Composition of the Board

As at 31 March 2021, the Board comprises eight members
including five Executive Directors and three Independent Non-
executive Directors.

The current Board members are:

Name Present position
Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin

Mr. CHUI Mo Ming

Mr. YAN Chi Tat

Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick
Mr. XU JunMin

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu

Mr. YU Hon Kwan

Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny

Chairman of the Board
Vice Chairman

Chief Executive Officer
Executive Director
Executive Director

The composition of the Board has a balance and diverse skill,
experience and professional knowledge in construction business,
as well as finance, accounting and legal expertise appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Group.

The biographies details of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management”
in this annual report. There is no family relationship among the
Directors.

As permitted under the Articles, the Company has arranged
Directors and Officers Liability Insurance in respect of any legal
actions which may be taken against Directors and management
in execution and discharge of their duties or in relation thereto.

During the CG Reporting Period, the Board at all times met the
requirement of Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three Independent
Non-executive Directors representing one-third of the Board.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Board is headed by the Chairman Mr. Jim Yin Kwan Jackin,
with the assistance of the Vice-chairman, Mr. Chui Mo Ming. The
roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Yan
Chi Tat, are segregated and not exercised by the same individual.

The Chairman is responsible for the leadership and effective
running of the Board and ensuring that all material issues are
discussed by the Board in a timely and constructive manner. The
Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the management of
the Group’s business and the implementation of the approved
strategies of the Group. In addition, each Executive Director is
responsible for the management of the different functions of the
business of the Group.
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With the support of the Company Secretary, the Chairman
ensures that all the Directors are properly briefed on issues arising
from Board meetings and be provided with adequate information
in a timely manner.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement or letter of appointment with the Company with a
fixed term, subject to retirement and re-election in accordance
with the Articles of the Company.

According to code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, all Non-
executive Directors shall be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election. Each of the Non-executive Director and
Independent Non-executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement or letter of appointment with the Company for a term
of three years, subject to retirement and re-election in accordance
with Articles of the Company.

Each of the Non-executive Director and Independent Non-
executive Directors may terminate his appointment by giving a
three-month/one-month prior written notice to the Company or
in accordance with the terms set out in the respective service
agreement or letter of appointment.

The Articles of the Company provides that any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in the Board shall hold
office until the first general meeting of the Company after his/
her appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting,
and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible
for re-election.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee for
overseeing specific aspects of the Company’s affair under its
defined scope of duties and term of reference. The terms of
reference of each of the Board Committees are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. Details of each
committee are discussed below.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 25 November 2015 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The terms of reference of the Audit Committee is currently
made available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are, among
other things, to review and supervise the financial reporting
process and internal control and risk management systems of the
Group.

As at 31 March 2021, the Audit Committee consists of three
members who are the Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. LEE Luk Shiu, Mr. YU Hon Kwan and Mr. WONG Chi
Keung Johnny. The Chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. LEE
Luk Shiu.

During the CG Reporting Period, the Audit Committee had held
four meetings in relation to, among others, the following matters:

o the annual and interim financial statements and reports
together with related results announcements, including the
impact of the changes in accounting policies and practice,
major judgement areas and significant adjustments resulting
from audit etc;

o the adequacy and effectiveness of the financial reporting
systems, internal control and risk management systems of
the Group;

o the independence of the external auditors and the re-

appointment of the external auditors; and

o the scope of the audit and the remuneration and terms of
engagement of external auditors;

The members of the Audit Committee have a private meeting
with the Auditors, without the presence of the management, to
discuss matters in relation to the audit of the Group.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Remuneration Committee pursuant to
a resolution of the Directors passed on 25 November 2015 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee is currently
made available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
are, among other things, to review and to determine the terms of
remuneration packages, bonuses and other compensation payable
to the Directors and senior management.
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As at 31 March 2021, the Remuneration Committee consists of
four members, namely Mr. YU Hon Kwan, Mr. JIM Yin Kwan
Jackin, Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny and Mr. LEE Luk Shiu. The
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. YU Hon Kwan.

During the CG Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee has
held one meeting. The major work performed by the Remuneration
Committee included reviewing of the remuneration of the Directors
and senior management with reference to the remuneration level
of comparable companies, and responsibilities, performance and
contributions of Directors and senior management. No Director is
allowed to take part in any discussion about his own remuneration.

Details of the remuneration paid to Directors and the five highest
paid employees are set out in notes 12 and 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of remuneration of the members of senior management
by band for the 2021 Financial Year are set out below:
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Nomination Committee pursuant to
a resolution of the Directors passed on 25 November 2015 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. A
revised term of reference has been adopted on 31 December
2018 to incorporate amendments to the Listing Rules. The revised
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is currently
made available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. The primary function of the Nomination Committee is
to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and the management of the Board
succession. It also oversees the diversity policy of the Group.

As at 31 March 2021, the Nomination Committee consists of four
members, namely Mr. YU Hon Kwan, Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin,
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny and Mr. LEE Luk Shiu. The Chairman
of the Nomination Committee is Mr. YU Hon Kwan.
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During the CG Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee
has held one meeting. The major work performed by the
Nomination Committee included assessing the independence of
the Independent Non-executive Directors, reviewing the rotation
of the Directors for the re-election at the AGM and reviewing the
composition, the size and the diversity of the Board in accordance
with the board diversity policy adopted by the Company.

Pursuant to the CG Code, a separate ordinary resolution will be
proposed at the AGM for Shareholders to consider and approve
the re-election of the retiring Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Pursuant to the CG Code, the Board adopted a board diversity
policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”). The Company recognised
and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board members. While
all Board appointments will continue to the made on a merit
basis, the Company will ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
needs of the Company’s business. Selection of candidates will be
based on the Company’s Board Nomination Policy and a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, experience (professional or
otherwise), ethnicity, skills and knowledge and length of service.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises nine
Directors. The following tables further illustrate the diversity of
the Board members as of the date of this annual report:

REXEAREHE REZEEER
T—REZF -RBREGETZERET
FEEFEBLFNTEST 2B
R RRBFAGERECTNEEUR
RERARFRAZEZTEZILCERRR
NEFECHEK  RERZTE-

REBELEXEATH  —HBULEBRZ
ERNBRRBEAGRE  UHEERE
BRALEEERRIEIES -

EEEMESUILEE
RECEXEATR EFERMNTES
EEUIEBRR(ESESREBREK] - &
RABEMRAAEEENEZTILNE
moHBEEMAETREBEITEA
MEEORIOFE  ARFHERES
SEVNAARAAEBATNRE &R
RARERTEREFE - REANE
BRENRSBARAEZTGRARER
BRk—F%5ZniEB  2FETRRY
Rl Fi#  XEMHEESR  KR(FE
Kl HAM) Bk - B R A E A MRS
FR -

RAFHRAY  EFSRNBEFTHK -
TRE-DFHABEAFRANEES
B HZ T

60 and

50-59 above

605 &

Name of Directors EENA 50-5975% B
Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin ERBELE J

Mr. CHUI Mo Ming HRBEL v
Mr. YAN Chi Tat mEELEL v
Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick RIS R E V
Mr. XU JunMin BERKE V

Mr. WANG Jian Fika v

(appointed on 19 April 2021) (R20214F 4719 ¥ Z ()

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu gkt v
Mr. YU Hon Kwan RIEM G E V

Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny FEEIEAE V
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Professional Experience

Aquatic
Engineering organism
and Accounting  genomics
construction Law and Finance research
KEEY
HRAEZ
Name of Directors Esps IBRESE rE BHRBEB wx
Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin EREEE \
Mr. CHUI Mo Ming BRBEE V
Mr. YAN Chi Tat FELAE \
Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick 2K v
Mr. XU JunMin BRERAEL v
Mr. WANG Jian TREE v
(appointed on 19 April 2021) (R2021F4519A EZ(T)
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu ERKLE v
Mr. YU Hon Kwan REBES \
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny ot bt \

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of
the Board Diversity Policy and report the Board annually.

BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a Board Nomination Policy for the
Nomination Committee to consider and make recommendations
to Shareholders for election as Directors at general meetings or
appoint as Directors to fill casual vacancies.

Selection Criteria

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate:

1. reputation for integrity;

2. accomplishment and experience in the business in which
the Group is engaged in;

3. commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest;

4. diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to race,
gender, age (18 years or above), educational background,
professional experience, skills and length of service;

5. qualifications which include professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy;

e

ERLZEEREBESFE L TIEHERD
Bt UBFNEZSER -

EEEREBRE

ARRERREAZEERMNEFERS
BRSR  DAGEE R 1 IR R 7 IR R
AELHBAREEAZAAEFNER

[ 7 Z2 R

mERE
AEEBRREANGENER  RRZE
EREETIRAE:

1. BWEMEER:

2. RASKEPMEEEBRRRE R

3. ARAHEERARS:

4. REFENZTE BERETRR
Bk MR Fhe (18I L)
REER  BELKR  RERRE
FR:

5. B BREAQRREHBREER

BRAEENEXER - XL MHE K
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6. the number of existing directorships and other
commitments that may demand the attention of the
candidate;

7. requirement for the Board to have Independent Non-
executive Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and
whether the candidates would be considered independent
with reference to the independence guidelines set out in
Rules 3.08, 3.09 and 3.13 of the Listing Rules;

8.  Board Diversity Policy of the Company and any measurable
objectives adopted by the Nomination Committee for
achieving diversity on the Board; and

9. such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’'s
business.

Director Nomination Procedure

Subject to the provisions in the Articles of the Company and the
Listing Rules, if the Board recognises the need for an additional
Director or a member of senior management, the following
procedure will be followed:

1. The Nomination Committee and/or Board will identify
potential candidates based on the criteria as set out in the
selection criteria, possibly with assistance from external
agencies and/or advisors;

2. The Nomination Committee and/or the Company Secretary
of the Company will then provide the Board with the
biographical details and details of the relationship
between the candidate and the Company and/or Directors,
directorships held, skills and experience, other positions
which involve significant time commitment and any other
particulars required by the Listing Rules, the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands and other regulatory requirements
for any candidate for appointment to the Board;

3. The Nomination Committee would then make
recommendation to the Board on the proposed candidate(s)
and the terms and conditions of the appointment;

4. The Nomination Committee should ensure that the

proposed candidate(s) will enhance the diversity of the
Board;
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5. In the case of the appointment of an Independent Non-
executive Director, the Nomination Committee and/or
the Board should obtain all information in relation to the
proposed Director to allow the Board to adequately assess
the independence of the Director in accordance with the
factors set out in Rules 3.08, 3.09 and 3.13 of the Listing
Rules, subject to any amendments as may be made by the
Stock Exchange from time to time; and

6. The Board will then deliberate and decide on the
appointment based upon the recommendation of the
Nomination Committee.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Company generally convenes four regular Board meetings per
year or more meetings when necessary. During the CG Reporting
Period, 16 Board meetings were held, inter alia, to consider and
approve the matters recommended by the Board Committees,
including the interim report and annual report, the continuing
connected transactions, subscription of bonds, to review and
discuss the financial operation of the Group and appointment of
an Executive Director. The table below sets out the attendance
of each Director at the AGM and the meetings of the Board and
other Board committees held during the 2021 Financial Year:

5. WMBE-—BBUENTES &%
ZEek /HEFTSRESHEESR
EXAMOAAEN  FEFEA
RE LR R F3.081% - 3.0914& &
3BEMAHAR(BRAKE T
ERERER) B EEN B IE(E
B = R R

6. EFTEHHENRBZEENE
EEREEZENREEBERE -

ExgEe=

ARR—REBFEARNRATHEFE S
FIANEREREMEZRR - REX
ERBREHE BT6REEEEH
NETFBREELMEEFTETZES
EZEMEE(BETPHRERER &
BHEXRS REEF BRIEFTHAN
SENMBEERREATES - T X
I B EELFER202FPHFER
THRRBEFAGREZENEMES

EZEegRNBR:

Audit Remuneration  Nomination
AGM Board Committee committee committee
BRRBAFKE EZg EHRZEEY FHEEE REZEE
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin EREAE 11 16/16  N/A i@ A m”n 11
Mr. CHUI Mo Ming HRBEE 11 16/16  N/A i@ A N/A i A N/A R i F
Mr. YAN Chi Tat TETE 11 16/16  N/A i@ A N/A i A N/A R i F
Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick 2N T E 11 16/16  N/A i@ A N/A i A N/A R i F
Mr. XU JunMin BREREE 11 16/16  N/A i@ A N/A i A N/A R i F

Independent Non-executive BYEHTES

Directors

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu ZRKEE 11 16/16 4/4 11 11
Mr. YU Hon Kwan REWEE l 16/16 4/4 11 11
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny FTHEEEE 11 16/16 4/4 11 11

Formal notices of Board meeting have been given to all Directors
at least 14 days before the meeting, or reasonable time period
as allowed by the Directors. Notices and agenda of the Board
meeting are prepared by the Company Secretary as delegated by
the Chairman. All Directors are given opportunity to include any
matters which they believe to be appropriate in the agenda of
the Board meetings.

TREFEEANEABSHAENER
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Agenda and relevant information of Board meeting with adequate
background information and supporting analysis are made
available to the Directors at least 3 days before the intended
date of the Board meeting. All Directors are given separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior management for
further information and enquiries. The Company Secretary and
senior management will attend all the meetings of the Board and
Board Committees to advise on corporate governance, statutory
compliance and financial matters.

Any material matters that would have conflict of interest between
the Directors/substantial shareholders and the Company will
be dealt with in the Board meeting. Pursuant to the Articles,
a Director is not entitled to vote on (nor is counted in the
qguorum) any resolution of the Board in respect of any contract
or arrangement or any other proposal whatsoever in which he or
any of his associates (including any person who would be deemed
to be an “associate” of the Directors under the Listing Rules) has
any material interest, except in certain special circumstances. The
Chairman of the Board meeting is required to ensure that each
Director is aware of such requirement at the commencement of
each Board meeting and declaration of interest is properly made
in the Board meeting where conflicts of interest arise.

Directors have access to advices and services of the Company
Secretary and key officers of the Company in relation to the
Board procedures. Draft minutes of the Board/Board Committee
meetings are recorded in sufficient details. The matters considered
by participants of such meetings and decisions reached are
forwarded to participants for comments within a reasonable
time after the meetings and final versions of minutes of Board
meetings and meetings of Board Committee are kept by the
Company Secretary, which are open for inspection by any
Directors at any reasonable time on reasonable notice.

Board members are provided with complete, adequate and
timely information to allow the Directors to fulfill their duties
properly. Directors may seek independent professional advice at
the Company’s expense, if necessary, with the approval of the
Board.

During the CG Reporting Period, the Chairman has held a private

meeting with the Independent Non-executive Directors without
the presence of other Executive Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are encouraged to keep abreast of their
responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct, business
activities and development of the Company. The Company from
time to time updates the Directors on the latest regulatory and
governance developments.

Directors are encouraged to participate in professional
development courses and seminars to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills relating to the roles, functions and duties of
a Director of a listed company. Directors are regularly updated on
the latest development on the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements to ensure their contributions to the Board
remains informed and relevant.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Directors participated
in the following trainings:

ESNBIRERRE

ARBBEAEESRTIEREZTNE
T AEARBNRT  FHEHRHE
R #E - KRB TR MESFRH RN
RERERERNZMER -

ARG BHEE2REXERORKIER
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REIEFOBEE - BE LB AE R
Bt - EEE AR LR R K H AL E
AEEREZENER UEREHE
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HE2021F3A3MBILFE  EFLHET
B

Types of training
B A

>r>2>>
W W W W W

>>>
w

A ZERQBAIEIRE -

Executive Directors HITES:
Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin ERBLE
Mr. CHUI Mo Ming wE AL AL
Mr. YAN Chi Tat mEESE
Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick RIEHFTHE
Mr. XU JunMin BRERESE
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFEHTES:
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu K A&
Mr. YU Hong Kwan IR Sk A
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny FERESE

A: attending in house training sessions.

B: reading newspapers, journals and updates distributed by the Group

relating to the economy, general business and regulatory matters.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDITING

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in preparing the
Group's consolidated financial statements for each financial
year which give a true and fair view of the Group's state of
affairs, results and cash flows and in accordance with the
relevant accounting standards and principles and the disclosure
requirements under applicable laws and regulations in Hong
Kong.
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EMBERE REMABSTERERR
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2021, the generally accepted accounting
principles in Hong Kong, Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards are adopted,
with consistent use of appropriate accounting policies, for
making reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates. The
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2021 have been prepared on a going concern basis. The reporting
responsibilities of the auditors are set out in the Independent
Auditors’ Report in this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy, pursuant to which
the Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends
to the shareholders of the Company, subject to the Memorandum
and Articles of the Company and the applicable laws and
regulations of Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands, any other
laws and regulations applicable to the Company and the factors
set out in the Dividend Policy.

The Board shall also take into account the actual and expected
operation and financial performance of the Group; the retained
earnings and distributable reserves of the Company; the expected
working capital requirement and economic outlook for business
strategy and future expansion plan of the Group; the financial
and liquidity position of the Group; the financial covenants and
restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the
lenders of the Group; the statutory and regulatory restrictions
and taxation implications; the general economic conditions and
other internal and external factors that may have an impact on
the business of the Group; and other factors that the Board may
consider relevant when considering the declaration and payment
of dividends.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time, and the Dividend
Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by
the Company that dividends will be paid in any particular amount
and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare a dividend at
any time or from time to time.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control and risk management systems and for reviewing
their effectiveness, particularly in respect of controls on financial,
operational, compliance and risk management, to safeguard
shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets.
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The internal control and risk management systems are designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance. The systems
aim to eliminate, or otherwise manage, risks of failure in achieving
the Company’s objectives.

The Company does not establish an internal audit function.
The Group has engaged an external internal control consultant
to review various aspects of the internal control and risk
management systems of the Group. The Board, through the Audit
Committee, has reviewed the result of the work of the external
internal control consultant in relation to the effectiveness of the
internal control and risk management systems of the Group,
including the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function. The Audit Committee oversees the internal control and
risk management systems of the Group and reports any material
issues to the Board.

Based on the result of the reviews as mentioned above, the Board
considered that proper internal control and risk management
systems are in place and implemented effectively.

The Group has implemented the management and quality
assurance standards in accordance with the standards of
International Organisation for Standardisation in respect of 1SO
9001 (quality management systems), I1SO 14001 (environmental
management system) and ISO 50001 (energy management
system). In addition, the Group has implemented the occupational
health and safety management system in accordance with the
requirements of ISO 45001 (Occupational Health and Safety) and
OHSAS 18001 of Occupational Health and Safety Assessment
Specification. The Group has met the requirements of the annual
review conducted by the external consultants.

The Group has engaged Registered Safety Auditors to
conduct independent safety and health audit in relation to
the effectiveness, efficiency and reliability of safety and health
management systems in accordance with the requirements
under the Code of Practice on Safety Management for various
construction sites during the CG Reporting Period. Improvements
had been implemented according to the recommendations of the
Registered Safety Auditors.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

In order to avoid any future competition between the Group and
the Controlling Shareholders, each of the Controlling Shareholders
has executed a deed of non-competition dated 25 November
2015 (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) in favour of the
Company. Pursuant to the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition,
each of the Controlling Shareholders has undertaken, among
others, in favour of the Company that he/it will not and will
procure his/its close associates not to engage in any business
which may be in competition with the business carried on by
the Group from time to time. The Independent Non-executive
Directors have also reviewed the status of compliance by each of
the Controlling Shareholders with the Deed of Non-Competition
and as far as the Independent Non-executive Directors can
ascertain, there is no breach of any of the Deed of Non-
Competition.

AUDITORS" REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid or payable to SHINEWING (HK) CPA
Limited and its affiliated company in respect of the audit services
and non-audit services for the year ended 31 March 2021 are as
follows:

FHBRE
AP ABASEHEZERRE ENE
ﬂﬁ%' ERBEREARQRF AT A
FHEA2015F 11 A25BN T3 2 &
UTM¥¥ED BIET 5 F MK
o BEBRBREERAARG EH (KPR
%)&h%ﬁlhﬁﬁﬁzf L8 AN
BREAREEAEETHETHERE
W SERERER - B IERITESN
E%Eﬂx? F& RS B N5 F R EST
E WHERLBILIERNITEEZA
BMEERTANIFFZENBR -

S AT BN £
HZE2021F3A3MBLEFERBEZRB X
FEXRBENKEMNEKRPF(FB)
SHMEBMERARLREBE QAN
B&mT

Fee paid/
payables
B ENER
HK$'000
Nature of Services R M E BT T
Audit services FEIZRE
- consolidated financial statements of the Group — NEEROAFHREFEEHA
for the 2021 Financial Year B 7% R & 1,100
Non-audit services EEZRTE
— Agreed upon procedures on interim report - WIED BB E LRI E 440055
for the period ended 30 September 2020 EHTABRE ZE202069830H
under HKFRS 4400 IFEE MR ENREF 190

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chong Man Hung Jeffrey, the Company Secretary of the
Company, is the primary contact person of the Board for all
matters relating to corporate governance and board procedures.
All Directors have access to the Company Secretary to ensure that
Board procedures and all applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed. During the CG Reporting Period, he had taken relevant
professional trainings as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules. The details of the biographical of the Company Secretary
are set out on page 38 of this annual report.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Company believes that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Group also recognises the importance of
transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information,
which enables Shareholders and investors to make appropriate
investment decisions.

All' the members of the Board and Board committees and
the external auditor have attended the 2020 AGM to answer
Shareholders’ questions. Circular and notice of the 2020 AGM
have been distributed to all Shareholders before the 2020 AGM
in accordance with the timeline requirement as laid down in the
Listing Rules and the Articles. All the resolutions proposed to be
approved at the 2020 AGM have been taken by poll and poll
voting results have been published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company after the 2020 AGM.

As a channel to promote effective communication, the Group
maintains a website where information on the Company’s
announcements, financial information and other information are
posted. Shareholders and investors may write directly to the
Company at its principal place of business in Hong Kong with
any enquiries.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
1) Procedures for Shareholders to convene an

extraordinary general meeting (“EGM")

Pursuant to the Articles 64 of the Articles of the Company,
an extraordinary general meeting can be convened on
the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at
the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one
tenth (10%) of the paid up capital of the Company having
the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition
shall be made in writing to the Board or the Company
Secretary of the Company for the purpose of requiring
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within 2 months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of
such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Procedures for putting forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meeting

There are no provisions in the Articles of the Company or
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands for Shareholders
to move new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders
who wish to move a resolution may request the Company
to convene a general meeting in accordance with the
procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns
together with their names and contact information to the
Board by addressing them to the head office in Hong Kong
at Units 1104-1106, Nan Fung Commercial Centre, 19 Lam
Lok Street, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong by post
or email to info@yee-hop.com.hk for the attention of the
Chairman of the Board. The Board will reply the enquiries
and concerns as soon as possible.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholders must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice and
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above
address and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company adopted an amended and restated Memorandum
and Articles of the Company (the “Constitutional Documents”)
on 25 November 2015 and effective upon the Listing. A copy of
the Company’s updated Constitutional Documents is available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the CG Reporting Period, there is no change to the
Constitutional Documents.

Annual Report 2020/21 4 3R

2)

3)

RERAEREZEBNERF

ARAERAUKMAEEE ABDA
BMEGXRERRAIRNBERERRE
BRINRER - AEDBERERD
PR R AR B & — BTk A2 e ESRAR
REAHABRRAE -

BRROESEREENR
REABEHESSERNRBE
HERAMHERBEERR @SB T
FRTERABREEMMUAASE
BNAENEEREHIONEER
EFRH1104-1106F ) K BFH X EHZE
info@yee-hop.com.hk * WA A=
ERIR EFEHEREERR
NEARER -

RRERME BRRBEHEFXE L
A R EEEK B E RN
EHRTBRAME)  BEREEZW
ExR WREE2SR  BEEHRR
SMER  AERE - RREF K
SREAPIHRERE -

EREXH

ANA A A2015F 11 A258 B 49 K& 5T &
BINARBBRRAMEMAME([ER X
B TR ETEER RRBIEEH
ERE N AR AR E) KB T

Uh o

W R EARE I A BRI
EMEH -

31



32

Profiles of Directors and Senior Management
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Jim Yin Kwan Jackin (B # &), aged 59, an Executive
Director and the Chairman of the Board, a member of both the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Mr. Jim is one of the founders of the Group. He is
also a director of various subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Jim has over 30 years of experience in the engineering and
construction industry. Mr. Jim is responsible for formulating
corporate strategies and planning the business development of
the Group. Mr. Jim graduated from the University of Reading with
a Bachelor’s Degree of Science in Quantity Surveying and holds a
Master’s Degree of Business Administration in Management from
the Brighton University.

Mr. Chui Mo Ming (8 i BH) , aged 68, an Executive Director
and the Vice-chairman of the Board. Mr. Chui is one of the
founders of the Group. He is also a director of various subsidiaries
of the Group.

Mr. Chui has over 45 years of experience in the engineering and
construction industry. Mr. Chui is responsible for the formulating
the corporate strategies of the Group. Mr. Chui has been a
construction supervisor member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Construction Managers since August 2003.

Mr. Yan Chi Tat (alias: Andrew) (Bi7&3ZE), aged 54, an
Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Group.
Mr. Yan joined the Group in October 2010. He is also a director
of Yee Hop Engineering.

Mr. Yan has over 25 years of experience in the engineering and
construction industry. Mr. Yan is responsible for formulating
corporate and business strategies and operations of the Group.
Mr. Yan graduated from the South Bank University with a
Bachelor's Degree of Science in Quantity Surveying. He s
an associate of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and
a professional associate of The Royal Institute of Chartered
Surveyors. He has been a Registered Professional Surveyor since
July 2004.
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Mr. Leung Hung Kwong Derrick (R # ¥), aged 52, an
Executive Director. Mr. Leung joined the Group in August 2008.
He is also a director of Yee Hop Engineering.

Mr. Leung has been the Technical Director of Yee Hop Engineering
for its registration as a Registered General Building Contractor and
Registered Specialist Contractor in the foundation works category
with the Buildings Department since 2008 and 2011 respectively.
He has over 25 years of experience in the engineering and
construction industry. Mr. Leung is responsible for formulating
the corporate business strategies. Mr. Leung graduated from the
National Taiwan University with a Bachelor’s Degree of Science in
Engineering. He holds a Master's Degree of Philosophy in Civil &
Structural Engineering from the Hong Kong University of Science
& Technology. He is currently a Registered Professional Engineer
(Geotechnical, Structural). He is a member of the Institution of
Structural Engineers and the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers.

Mr. Derrick Leung is an Independent Non-executive Director of
Chi Ho Development Holdings Ltd (Stock Code: 8423), the shares
of which are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. The
principal business of Chi Ho Development Holdings Ltd is the
provision of renovation, maintenance and fitting-out works.

Mr. Xu JunMin (R ER), aged 50, an Executive Director. Mr.
Xu joined the Group in 2019 and was appointed as an Executive
Director on 25 October 2019. He is also a director and legal
representative of the BGI Marine, an indirect subsidiary of the
Group. Mr. Xu joined the BGI Marine Group since February 2015.

Mr. Xu JunMin has over 20 years of experience in omics research
of aquatic animals, conservation of aquatic germplasm resources,
ecological and industrial aquaculture, import and export trade
of aquatic products. Mr. Xu JunMin holds a Master's Degree
in Animal Nutrition from the Shanghai Ocean University (_E
G FRKE) . He is currently the Vice Chairman of the China
Nutrition and Health Food Association (FEIZERERRHE),
Member of National Technical Committee 64 on Food Industry of
Standardization Administration of China (2 & f T 212 %1k
HilTZ B®), Member of the Yangtze Rare Fish Standardization
Commission of the Fishery Industry in Jiangsu (T #% & 8 % &
EFRIZHRABRERMZE ) and recognised as High-level
Professional in Shenzhen.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Wang Jian (ZX%), aged 68, a Non-Executive Director. Mr.
Wang joined the Group in 2021 and was appointed as a Non-
Executive Director on 12 April 2021.

Mr. Wang is a famous scientist specializing in human genomics
and has over 30 years of experience in genomics research
which covers human genomics, animal and plant genomics and
microbiology. Mr. Wang graduated from the Hunan Medical
College (GG EE £ FE) (currently known as “Central South
University Xiangya School of Medicine* (F7 &3 A 224 H 58 £ )")
in 1979 and earned a Master degree in Integrated Medicines from
the Beijing College of Traditional Chinese Medicine* (1t EE2
BT) (currently known as “Beijing University of Chinese Medicine*
(dt R B 5L K E)") in 1986. From 1988 to 1994, Mr. Wang
continued his studies at overseas focusing on cell proliferation
and differentiation as a research fellowship at the University of
Texas, the University of lowa and the University of Washington.

Mr. Wang currently served as the chairman of BGI Genomics Co.,
Ltd. ORIIZEXREEKRHER2AR]) (“BGI Genomics”) (a company
listed in the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 300676), the
chairman and general manager of BGI Shenzhen (&Il ZE K&
& B R 2 7F]) (@ company incorporated in the PRC and the
holding company of BGI Genomics); and the chairman of MGI
Tech Co., Ltd OFRYIERSERFERMHBRAE) (@ company
incorporated in the People’s Republic of China).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Lee Luk Shiu (alias: Vincent) (Z#JK), aged 63, an
Independent Non-executive Director, the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Mr. Lee has about 30 years of experience in commercial
accounting and corporate finance. Mr. Lee is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a
member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
He graduated from the Hong Kong Shue Yan College (now known
as Hong Kong Shue Yan University) with a Diploma in Business
Administration. Mr. Lee has worked in the Stock Exchange
for around 15 years where his duties included regulating and
monitoring Hong Kong listed companies in relation to their
compliance with the Listing Rules and processing new listing
applications. His last position with the Stock Exchange was an
Assistant Vice President of the Listing Division. Mr. Lee was also
a senior consultant of an investment bank for 5 years. He is
an Independent Non-executive Director of Huabao International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 336) and Hin Sang Group
(International) Holding Co. Ltd (stock code: 6893), the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Yu Hon Kwan (alias: Randy) (R7E#), aged 58, an
Independent Non-executive Director, Chairman of both the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee of the Company.

Mr. Yu has over 30 years of experience in the construction
industry. Mr. Yu graduated from the University of Reading with
a Bachelor’'s Degree of Science in Quantity Surveying. He is a
Member of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. Mr. Yu
is the General Manager (Community Relations) of Henderson
Land Development Company Limited. Mr. Yu was a lecturer (non-
clinical) in the Department of Real Estate and Construction of the
University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Yu is a Justice of the Peace of Hong Kong and New
Territories Justices of the Peace. He has dedicated a significant
proportion of his time in community service. Mr. Yu is currently
the Chairman of the Islands District Council, the Chairperson of
the Civil Engineering and Development Department — District
Participation Group for the Greening Master Plan for Islands
District, and a member of Independent Police Complaints Council.
He was awarded a Medal of Honour in July 2015 in recognition
of his long and dedicated public and community service.

Mr. Yu is a Director of the Business Environment Council from
April 2016 (formerly also a Director of the same Board from June
2011 to February 2015). He was also a Director of the Hong Kong
Green Building Council from January 2014 to February 2015.

Mr. Wong Chi Keung Johnny (E&3&), aged 62, an Independent
Non-executive Director, a member of the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company.

Mr. Wong graduated from the University of London with a
Bachelor’s Degree of Laws with Honours and holds a Master’s
Degree of Laws from the University of London. He is a solicitor of
the High Court of Hong Kong, a solicitor of the Supreme Court
of England & Wales and a barrister and solicitor of the Supreme
Court of the Australia Capital Territory, Australia. He is currently
a partner of Messrs. Lo, Wong & Tsui, Solicitors, handling general
and commercial litigations, conveyancing works, land acquisition
and land exchange, real estate development and financing.
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Mr. Wong has served as a member of the Provisional Regional
Council from 1997 to 1999, a member of the Tai Po District
Council from 1999 to 2003, a member of the Liquor Licensing
Board from January 2000 to January 2004, and a member of
the Appeal Tribunal Panel under the Buildings Ordinance from
December 2000 to December 2004. He obtained the HKSAR
Medal of Honour in October 2002. Mr. Wong was also an
appointed member of the Yuen Long District Council from
January 2008 to December 2011. He was an Independent Non-
executive Director of SkyOcean International Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Allied Overseas Limited), a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 593) for the period from June
1993 to August 1997.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan King Yip (alias: Kelvin) (R4 %), aged 47, Project
Director of the Group. Mr. Chan joined the Group in April 2006.
Mr. Chan has over 17 years of experience in handling engineering
and construction projects. Mr. Chan is responsible for the overall
project management. Mr. Chan graduated from the University of
Hong Kong with a Bachelor's Degree of Science.

Ms. Wang Xinwen (E#732), aged 40, the Chief Operating
Officer of BGI Marine, an indirect subsidiary of the Company. Ms.
Wang joined the BGI Marine Group since December 2018.

Ms. Wang has over 15 years of experience in marketing, branding
and project operation mainly engaged in aquaculture, production
processing and marketing industries. Ms. Wang holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Business Administration. She is currently the Vice
President of Shenzhen Global Ocean Center City Construction
Promotion Association GR I 23K F RO T ERIRE )
and the Vice Chairman of Shenzhen Science Education Base
Association CRYITT BRI EHBEE B EE).

Mr. Chong Man Hung Jeffrey (X ), aged 43, Chief
Financial Officer and Company Secretary of the Company. Mr.
Chong joined the Group in November 2019.

Mr. Chong graduated from the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology with a Bachelor’'s Degree of Business
Administration in Accounting and holds a Master’s Degree of
Business Administration from the City University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Chong is currently a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Mr. Chong has over 18 years of experience in audit and finance
and is responsible for the financial management, internal control
and company secretarial matters of the Group. Mr. Chong is
currently also serving as the company secretary of China Partytime
Culture Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1532) since May 2015 and an
Independent Non-executive Director of Taung Gold International
Limited (stock code: 621) listed on the Stock Exchange.

Ms. Wong Lok Man Vicko (E#&#), aged 40, Environmental
and Safety Manager of the Group. Ms. Wong joined the Group
in November 2007.

Ms. Wong has over 17 years of experience in industrial safety
industry. Ms. Wong holds a Professional Diploma of Legal
Executive from the Hong Kong Institute of Vocational Education,
a Diploma in Occupational Health & Safety from the Open
University of Hong Kong and a Bachelor's Degree of Science
in Environmental and Occupational Safety & Health from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. She is a registered safety
officer under the Factories and Industrial Undertakings (Safety
Officers and Safety Supervisors) Regulations and a safety auditor.
She is currently a chartered building engineer of the Chartered
Association of Building Engineer and a full member of the
International Institute of Risk and Safety Management.

Ms. Wong has also obtained other relevant certificates such as
the Occupational Health and Safety Council Certificate for Safety
& Health Supervisor (Construction) in July 2002, the Certificate
of Occupational Safety and Health Trainer in February 2004, the
Occupational Health and Safety Council Combined Certificate for
Safety, Health & Environmental Supervisor (Construction) in June
2005, the Certificate of Site Audit Inspection Standards (Safety &
Roadwork Obligations) Course — Highways Department in 2010,
the Certificate of Occupational Health and Safety Council Fire
Prevention (Construction Industry) in March 2010, the Certificate
of Supervision of Tree Works Course in June 2011, the Certificate
of Continuing Professional Development for [1SO14001:2004
Environmental Management System Introduction and Internal
Auditing in October 2012, the Certificate for 1ISO45001:2016 Lead
Auditor.

Mr. Chui Heung Wing (@ %), aged 62, Project Director
of the Group. Mr. Chui Heung Wing served the Group from
September 1997 to August 2016 and re-joined the Group in April
2019.
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He is currently the Authorised Signatory of Yee Hop Engineering
under its registration as a Registered General Building Contractor
in the foundation works category with the Buildings Department.
He has over 40 years of experience in the construction industry.
Mr. Chui holds a Diploma in Structural Engineering and a
Higher Certificate in Structural Engineering from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University (formerly known as the Hong Kong
Polytechnic) and a Bachelor’s Degree of Civil Engineering from the
Washington InterContinental University and a Master of Science
Degree in Civil Engineering and Construction Management from
the Heriot-Watt University. He is a chartered building engineer
of the Chartered Association of Building Engineers. He has also
been one of the Authorised Signatories of the Registered General
Buildings Contractors and the Registered Specialist Contractors in
the foundation works category of the Buildings Department since
May 2008 and March 2013 respectively. He is a follow member
of the Chartered Association of Building Engineers, a member of
the Australian Institute of Building, a chartered environmentalist
of the Society for the Environment (The Society winded down on
2019). He has also obtained the ISO 14001:2004 Environmental
Management System Internal Auditor Training at the Hong Kong
Certification Services Ltd from September to December 2005. He
has completed the Lead Assessor course of Quality Assurance
from BSI Quality Assurance in June 1993 and a visiting lecturer
of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Institute for Enterprise
in July 2003.

Mr. Wu Tai Cheung (alias: Douglas) (# X %), aged 64 ' the
Senior Vice President of the Company. Mr. Wu joined the Group
in October 2014 as Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary
and re-designated as Senior Vice President in November 2019. Mr.
Wu has over 20 years of experience in accounting and corporate
finance.

Mr. Wu graduated from the University of Bolton (formerly known
as the Bolton Institute of Higher Education) with a Bachelor’s
Degree of Arts in Accountancy and holds a Master's Degree
of Business Administration from the University of Newcastle,
Australia. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, an associate of the Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong, a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, an associate of the Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and an associate of the Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chong Man Hung lJeffrey (33X 8), the Company
Secretary of the Company. Details of his biography are set out in
the paragraph headed “Senior management” in this section. Mr.
Chong was appointed as the Company Secretary in November
2019.
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Report of Directors

ESEHG

The Board is pleased to present their report together with the
audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries comprise (i) provision of foundation
and other civil works and tunneling works in Hong Kong and
overseas; and (ii) research and development and breeding and
sales and trading of aquatic products in the PRC. The principal
activities of subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 46
to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND RESERVES

The results of the Group for the 2021 Financial Year are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 70 in this annual report.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company during the 2021 Financial Year are set out in
consolidated statement of changes in equity and note 45(b) to
the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segment information are set out in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDENDS
No interim dividends was paid by the Group during the 2021
Financial Year (2020 Corresponding Year: nil).

The Board does not recommend a payment of final dividend to
the shareholders of the Company for the 2021 Financial Year
(2020 Corresponding Year: nil).

RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief of taxation available to
the shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group for the 2021 Financial
Year is set out in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 7 to 15 of this annual report.

MAJOR RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s operation, financial conditions, business and
prospectus are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties.
The following principal risks and uncertainties are identified by
the Group. In addition, there may be other risks and uncertainties
which are not known to the Group or may not be material now
but could be turned out to be material in the future.

Business Risk

1. The provision of foundation and other civil works and
tunnelling works are on project basis and non-recurring
basis. The future growth in revenue and financial results
depend on, among others, the success to secure new
tenders and contracts awarded.

2. The operations of the Group are mainly focus in Hong
Kong, which are affected by various factors, inter alia,
the general economic conditions in Hong Kong, general
property market in Hong Kong and government policies on
the infrastructure and property development and planning.

3. The demand of tunnelling services in Hong Kong is
dominated by a relatively small number of customers, mainly
Hong Kong SAR Government, public utilities companies
and MTR Corporation Limited. Though the Group has
established long and stable business relationships with the
two electricity supplies in Hong Kong, it is uncertain that
our existing customers will continue to provide us new
contracts and the Group will be able to secure contracts
from new customers.

4. The financial performance of each project is subject to
the risk of underestimation of the project cost and the
complexity as well as the length of the projects.

5. The Group is required to obtain or maintain certain
registration and/or certificates under the laws in jurisdictions
in which it operates in order to carry on the business. It is
uncertain that all the required registrations, certificates or
licences can be maintained or renewed in a timely manner.
Any changes to the existing policies by the government
authorities may have significant impact on the ability of the
Group to carry on the existing business.
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The tenders which were awarded to the Group is based on
the estimated project costs (which include mainly wages
and construction material cost). The financial results of the
Group is subject to the risk of price fluctuation of material
price and the availability of the quality of construction
materials will always meet the required standards.

The construction business by nature is subject to the claims
and disputes with customers, subcontractors, workers
in relation to the substandard of works, completion of
works in time, labour compensations or personal injuries.
The sale of the Group’s aquatic products may be subject
to product liability claims, even though the Group is not
directly responsible for the product safety. Claims, recalls
or actions could be based on allegations that, among
other things, the products sold by the retail operations
are misbranded, contain contaminants or impermissible
ingredients. Regardless of the merits of the claims, the
disputes and litigation will affect the reputation of the
Group in the industry it operates and in turn, adversely
affect the business operations and financial results of the
Group.

The inherent risk of the foundation and tunnelling business
is subject to the unforeseen ground conditions. The actual
ground condition may be different from the information
provided by the customers. The Group may be exposed
to the risk of cost overrun if the customers disagree to
compensate the Group for the additional cost incurred as
a result of the unforeseen ground conditions.

The Group is subject to the environmental regulations and
guidelines in the jurisdictions in which it operates, such as
Hong Kong, the PRC and the Philippines. Any changes in the
such regulations and guidelines may have adverse impact
on the operations and the financial results.

The results of the Group are affected by the trends in the
industries in which it operates, including the construction
(including the foundation and other civil works and
tunnelling works) and the sales and trading of aquatic
products. The change in the government budgets and
spending in infrastructures as well as the changes in
customer tastes and preference for aquatic products may
have adverse impact on the revenue and operation results
of the Group.
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The success and the growth of the Group is, to a large
extent, attributable to the continued commitment of the
Directors and senior management team. Profile of Directors
and senior management is set out on pages 32 to 38 of
this Annual Report. Any unanticipated departure of the
Directors and senior management team without appropriate
replacement may have a material adverse impact on our
business operations and profitability.

The intangible assets of the Group consist of trademarks,
patents and goodwill. The failure to generate financial
results commensurate with the Group’s intangible assets
could adversely affect the valuation of such intangible
assets and in turn result in impairment loss. Any significant
impairment loss charged against our intangible assets
could have an adverse effect on our business and financial
condition and operating results of the Group.

The biological assets of the Group are live aquatic products
at various stages of development, including fish seedlings,
fishes, crab seedlings, crabs, shrimp seedlings and shrimps
as well as those breeding stock used to produce future
live fishes, crabs and shrimps. The biological assets of the
Group are exposed to risks arising from environmental and
climatic changes, commaodity prices and financing risks. The
fair value of the biological assets of the Group at the end
of reporting period was determined by an independent
professional valuer based on the valuation techniques, key
assumptions and inputs adopted in the valuation process
by the independent professional valuer. Any decrease in
fair value of the biological assets of the Group could have
a material adverse effect on the business and financial
condition and operating results of the Group.

The subsidiaries of the Group operating in the PRC are
exposed to the following risks conducting business in the
PRC:

. Changes in economic, political, and social conditions
in the PRC, as well as government policies, laws and
regulations could have a material and adverse effect
our business and financial condition, operating results
and business prospects of the Group;
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. Under the PRC laws and regulations, the Group's
subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to various dividend
policies. Limitations on the ability of the operating
subsidiaries in the PRC to pay dividends to the Group
and/or subject to higher withholding tax rate could
have a material adverse effect on the ability of the
Group to conduct business;

o The PRC government control over foreign currency
conversion and fluctuations in exchange rates may
have restriction on the PRC subsidiaries of the
Group to access foreign currency to pay dividends in
foreign currencies to the Shareholders and to obtain
foreign exchange for capital expenditure for the PRC
subsidiaries.

15.  The outbreak of the COVID-19 or any other natural disasters
or infectious diseases may severely affect and restrict the
level of economic activity in Hong Kong and the PRC
which may in turn have a material and adverse effect
on the Group's business, financial position and results of
operations.

Financial Risk

The Group is exposed to various financial risks, including interest
rate, liquidity and credit risks. Details of financial risks are set
out in the notes to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.

Joint Venture Partner Risk

The Group conducts some of its business through an associated
company in which it shares control with the joint venture partner.
There are uncertainties that the joint venture partner will continue
the relationship with the Group in the future or their goals or
strategies are in line with the Group. Furthermore, the joint
venture partner in the associated company may undergo a change
of control or financial difficulties which may have adverse impact
on the Group’s financial conditions and operation results of the
Group.

Likely development in the Group’s business

The likely development of the Group is disclosed in the paragraph
headed “Business Outlook” in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report.

An analysis using financial key performance indicators
The relevant financial key performance indicators relating to the
business of the Group are set out in the “Business Review” and
“Financial Review"” section in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” and the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.
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Important events affecting the Group that have
occurred since the end of the 2021 Financial Year
Saved as disclosed in this annual report, the Board is not aware
of any significant event requiring disclosure that has taken place
subsequent to 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this annual
report.

Environmental policies and performance

Environment protection is critical to the long term development
of the Group. The Group places importance in the management
practice so as to prevent pollution, reduce waste and enhance
waste recycling. The Group has adopted environmental
management practices in accordance to 1S014001:2004
(Environmental management system) and ISO50001:2011 (Energy
management system). The Group promotes environment-friendly
construction worksites and implements appropriate facilities to
improve the environments of the construction worksites.

Relationships with employees, customers, suppliers
and others

The Group maintained a good relationship with its employees and
had not experienced any significant disruptions to the operation
due to labour dispute. The Group is committed to providing a
safe and healthy workplace for the staff and have arranged an
annual safety conference for staff of all levels to enhance their
knowledge on site safety.

The Group maintains a good relationship with its customers and
suppliers. The Group maintains close contact with the customers
and has conducted regular reviews of the requirements of the
customers and complaints. The Group will conduct appraisal of
the performance of suppliers on regular basis.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and risks of non-compliance with such
requirements. The Group has on-going review of new enacted
laws and regulations which may affect the operations of the
Group. During the 2021 Financial Year, there is no incidence of
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have
significant impact on the business of the Group.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 201.
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DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the 2021
Financial Year amounted to approximately HK$25,600 (2020
Corresponding Year: approximately HK$28,700).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the 2021 Financial Year are set out in note 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movement in investment properties of the Group during
the 2021 Financial Year are set out in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of in share capital of the Company during the 2021
Financial Year are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements. There were no movements in share capital during the
2021 Financial Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the 2021 Financial Year, neither the Company nor its
subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the listed
securities of the Company.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2021, the Company’'s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Law amounted to approximately HK$122.0 million.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the 2021 Financial Year, the Group’s five largest customers
in aggregate accounted for approximately 70.3% (2020
Corresponding Year: approximately 61.8%) of the total revenue
of the Group and the largest customer included therein
accounted for approximately 20.2% (2020 Corresponding Year:
approximately 21.3%).
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For the 2021 Financial Year, the Group’s five largest suppliers
in aggregate accounted for approximately 24.8% (2020
Corresponding Year: approximately 24.3%) of the total costs of
revenue of the Group and the largest supplier included therein
accounted for approximately 9.8% (2020 Corresponding Year:
approximately 5.8%).

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors,
their associates or any shareholders of the Company (which to
the knowledge of the Directors of the Company own more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in
the five largest suppliers or customers.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the 2021 Financial Year and
up to the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin

Mr. CHUI Mo Ming

Mr. YAN Chi Tat

Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick
Mr. XU JunMin

Non-executive Director
Mr. WANG Jian (appointed on 19 April 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu

Mr. YU Hon Kwan

Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny

Pursuant to the Articles of the Company, Mr. WANG Jian who was
appointed as Director after the 2020 AGM, should retire in the
forthcoming AGM but eligible, offers themselves for re-election.

Pursuant to the Articles of the Company, Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin,
Mr. YAN Chi Tat and Mr. LEE Luk Shiu will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

BIOGRAPHIES DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group are set out on pages 32 to 38 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors (except for Mr. XU JunMin) has
entered into a service agreement with the Company for an initial
fixed term of three years commencing from the date of Listing
and has renewed for a further three years.

Mr. XU JunMin has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 25 October
2019, which may be terminated in accordance with the terms of
the letter of appointment.

Mr. WANG lJian has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 19 April
2021, which may be terminated in accordance with the terms of
the letter of appointment.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has entered
into a service agreement with the Company under which each
of them is appointed for a period of one year commencing from
the date of the Listing and has renewed for a further three years
and shall be automatically renewed for such further period after
expiry of the renewal term.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’/CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for those disclosed in this annual report, there is no
transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company’'s
subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent companies was a
party and in which a Director or Controlling Shareholders of
the Company and the Director’s connected party had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the 2021 Financial Year.

REMUNERATION FOR DIRECTORS

In compliance with the CG Code, the Company has established
the Remuneration Committee to formulate remuneration policies.
Directors’ remuneration are subject to shareholders’ approval
at general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Board with reference to Directors’ duties and responsibilities,
the recommendations of the Remuneration Committee and the
performance and results of the Group. Details of the remuneration
of the Company’s Directors are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Each of the Controlling Shareholders (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company has executed a Deed of Non-competition
dated 25 November 2015 in favour of the Company, which
contains certain non-competition undertakings given in favour
of the Group. Particulars of the Deed of Non-competition are
set out in the section headed “Relationship with the Controlling
Shareholders” in the Prospectus.

The controlling shareholders have provided a confirmation to the
Company confirming of their compliance with the Deed of Non-
competition during the 2021 Financial Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into
by the Group under the applicable accounting standards during
the 2021 Financial Year are set out in note 43 to the consolidated
financial statements.

None of the related party transactions disclosed in note 43 to
the consolidated financial statements constituted disclosable non-
exempted connected transactions or non-exempted continuing
connected transactions of the Group under the Listing Rules. To
the extent of the related party transactions constituted connected
transactions as defined in the Listing Rules, the Company had
complied with relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
The connected transactions of the Group during the year are as
follows:

Provision of financial assistance to BGI Marine

On 6 May 2020, BGI Marine and a licenced bank under the China
Banking Regulatory Commission (the “First Bank"”) entered into
a facility letter in relation to a credit facility up to an aggregate
amount of not exceeding USD1,500,000 or its equivalent amount
in RMB make available by the First Bank to BGI Marine, and on 6
May 2020, the Company, as guarantor, entered into a guarantee
agreement in favour of the First Bank, pursuant to which the
Company has agreed to guarantee the liabilities of BGI Marine
owed to the First Bank in a sum up to USD1,650,000 plus any
interest accrued thereon and other expenses of the First Bank
in enforcing the guarantee agreement (the “First Guarantee
Agreement”).
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Since one or more of the relevant percentage ratios (as defined
under 14.07 of the Listing Rules) in respect of the transaction
contemplated under the First Guarantee Agreement exceed 0.1%
but less than 5%, the transactions contemplated under the First
Guarantee Agreement do not constitute a notifiable transaction
under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. However, as at the date
of the First Guarantee Agreement, BGI Marine was owned as
to 70% indirectly by the Company and 30% directly by Mr. Xu
Junmin, an Executive Director and a connected person of the
Company, thus BGI Marine (being an associate of Mr. Xu) is a
connected subsidiary of the Company. Therefore, the entering into
of the First Guarantee Agreement constitutes financial assistance
and connected transaction of the Company and are subject to the
reporting and announcement but are exempt from independent
shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 6 May 2020.

On 24 August 2020, BGI Marine and a licenced bank under the
China Banking Regulatory Commission (the “Second Bank”)
entered into a facility agreement in relation to a credit facility up
to an aggregate amount of not exceeding RMB22 million which
was made available by the Second Bank to BGI Marine, and
on 24 August 2020, the Company, as guarantor, entered into a
guarantee agreement in favour of the Second Bank, pursuant to
which the Company has agreed to guarantee the liabilities of BGI
Marine owed to the Second Bank in a sum up to RMB22 million
plus any interest accrued thereon and other expenses of the
Second Bank in enforcing the guarantee agreement (the “Second
Guarantee Agreement”).

During the 12-month period preceding the date of the Second
Guarantee Agreement, the Company entered into the First
Guarantee Agreement. The Directors consider that since the First
Guarantee Agreement was also entered into in favour of BGI
Marine, the First Guarantee Agreement and the Second Guarantee
Agreement shall be aggregated as a series of transactions under
the Rule 14.22 of the Listing Rules. Since one or more of the
relevant percentage ratios (as defined under 14.07 of the Listing
Rules) in respect of the transactions contemplated under the First
Guarantee Agreement and the Second Guarantee Agreement on
aggregate basis exceed 0.1% but less than 5%, the transactions
contemplated under the Second Guarantee Agreement do not
constitute a notifiable transaction under Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules. However, as at the date of the Second Guarantee
Agreement, BGI Marine was owned as to 70% indirectly by the
Company and 30% directly by Mr. Xu, an Executive Director and
a connected person of the Company, thus BGI Marine (being an

Annual Report 2020/21 4 3R

HRERERBDZBETRETZRSZ
— AR ZEERE LR (EERETR
BI514.0718) & R 01% B 1K R5% » BEH
ERHBEETHRETZRSEIENX L
THRAUFUVEBEBTZBATFTRARS - A
e RERERBEESH AREXS
FESBIBRAREIMEEE70% K AARAT]
HITEERMEBEATGRERLEEER
B30%  AMEXEFE(AREEZHE
AD)BEERRRZHENRB AR - B -
FINERERDEBERAQATTEEY
LEEERS  WHEEBSFEMRFEILAE
BIZHBERAEETE  EAIRREST
BRI ERTE -

BHAFEE  B2HARRHEA2020%5
HeHHB A% o

N\

20208 A24H X G FH—fEFE
RITEEETEZES MORBBRIT(E
“HRATDRBEBDRITEERGFIELH
BRETBAARBREETHEERE
R B E WAk R A2020F8H248 ¢ A
NAIMEBERAIUNEZRITATHEA
FUERBE BUEARRERAEER
ERGFERE_RITHAE 28 x&
ZRANRE22BETIN EEREREE
FBEBRFEZRITHEMAS - LLARITE
Rpz(E-ERHR] -

RE—MHEFRB AT @AM
ARBIEIMERERGR - £FRA - H
REDERBEMUAEREEAESZTZA
I AR IR AR BISE14.2216 - & D
ERBELEFE_MNERBEEGHR—
RIS BHRBHEENERBENRS
TOHRERBEEITRET IR 2
FZEEEES L ER(ERR EMHAAE
14.0716) 2R E S R0.1%EER5% -
F_HERBEBETITBRETZIRSUED
B EMBAEUEETZATAMR
SR RE_GERBEAE @
REREFDAAARREEZEREBT0%
FHBARGHNITESERBEEALREE
BEEHEB30%  EREREGF(BREE

49



50

Report of Directors

EEEHRS

associate of Mr. Xu) is a connected subsidiary of the Company.
Therefore, the entering into of the Second Guarantee Agreement
constitutes financial assistance and connected transaction of the
Company and are subject to the reporting and announcement but
are exempt from independent shareholders’ approval requirement
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 24 August 2020.

Provision of financial assistance to Hong Kong Qing
Chuang Limited

On 28 October 2020, YH Investments Limited (“YH
Investments”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, as lender, entered into a loan agreement with Hong
Kong Qing Chuang Limited (“HKQC"), as borrower, pursuant to
which, YH Investments agreed to provide HKQC a loan facility of
HK$18.0 million for a term of three years at an interest rate of
6.0% per annum (the “Loan Agreement”).

As of the date of the Loan Agreement, HKQC is owned
as to 70% by Hong Kong Qing Chuang Holdings Limited
("HKQCH"), whereas HKQCH is owned as to 80% by Mr.
Jim, an Executive Director, the Chairman of the Board and
a Controlling Shareholder and 5% by Mr. Yan, an Executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
Further, Mr. Jim is a director of each of HKQC and HKQCH,
and Mr. Yan is a director of HKQCH. Therefore, HKQC is a
connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transaction contemplated under
the Loan Agreement constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As one or
more of the relevant percentage ratios (as defined under 14.07
of the Listing Rules) in respect of the transaction contemplated
under the Loan Agreement exceed 0.1% but all are less than
5%, the transaction contemplated under the Loan Agreement is
subject to reporting and announcement requirements but exempt
from the circular (including independent financial advice) and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to
Rule 14A.76(2)(a) of the Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 28 October 2020.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has the following transactions with connected persons
during the year and the Company has fully complied with the

announcement,

reporting and/or independent shareholders’

approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
(where applicable):

(i)

The Group through its subsidiary (as tenant) entered
into a lease agreement dated 25 July 2018 (the “Lease
Agreement”) with Pioneer National Development Limited
(as landlord) (“Pioneer National”) to lease the premises
at Units 1104-1107, Nan Fung Commercial Centre, 19 Lam
Lok Street, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong for office
use for a term of three years commencing from 25 July
2018 at a monthly rental of HK$90,000 (exclusive of rates,
Government rent and management fee payable by the
tenant).

Pioneer National is owned as to 50% by Mr. Jim and 50%
by Mr. Chui, both are Executive Directors and Controlling
Shareholders of the Company. Pursuant to the Listing Rules,
Pioneer National is a connected person and transactions
contemplated under the Lease Agreement constituted
continuing connected transactions since the Listing.

As the relevant applicable percentage ratios with respect
to the transactions contemplated under the Lease
Agreement on an annual basis are less than 5% and the
annual consideration is less than HK$3 million, the Lease
Agreement constitutes an exempt continuing connected
transactions under the Listing Rule 14A.76(1) and is exempt
from the reporting, annual review, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Group through its subsidiary (as tenant) entered into
three lease agreements (the “Land Lease Agreements”)
with Asia Time Development Limited (“Asia Time"), Hilton
Development Limited (“Hilton Development”) and Land
Treasure Development Limited (“Land Treasure”) (as
landlords) respectively to lease various pieces of land in
the New Territories, Hong Kong for a term of one year
commencing from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 at an
aggregated monthly rental of HK$188,000 (exclusive of
rates, Government rent and management fee payable by
the tenant).

Each of Asia Time, Hilton Development and Land Treasure
is owned as to 50% by Mr. Jim and 50% by Mr. Chui,
both are Executive Directors and Controlling Shareholders
of the Company. Pursuant to the Listing Rules, each of Asia
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(iii)

Time, Hilton Development and Land Treasure is a connected
person and transactions contemplated under the Land Lease
Agreements constituted continuing connected transactions.

As the relevant applicable percentage ratios with respect
to the transactions contemplated under the Land Lease
Agreements on an annual basis are less than 5% and the
annual consideration is less than HK$3 million, the Land
Lease Agreements constituted exempt continuing connected
transactions under the Listing Rule 14A.76(1) and are
exempt from the reporting, annual review, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

On 31 December 2019, the Group through YH Global, an
indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into a Master Supply Agreement with BGI Marine, an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
pursuant to which YH Global Group agreed to sell and/
or supply and BGI Marine Group agreed to purchase
aquatic products for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31
March 2022. Please refer to the announcement dated 31
December 2019 published by the Company for details.

BGI Marine was owned as to 70% indirectly by the
Company and 30% directly by Mr. Xu JunMin, an Executive
Director, and pursuant to the Listing Rules, BGI Marine is a
connected subsidiary of the Company and the transactions
contemplated under the Master Supply Agreement
constituted continuing connection transaction.

As the relevant applicable percentage ratios with respect
to the transactions contemplated under the Master Supply
Agreement on an annual basis are more than 0.1% but less
than 5% and the annual consideration is expected to be
more than HK$10 million for the three months ended 31
March 2020 and the two financial years ending 31 March
2021 and 31 March 2022, the transactions contemplated
under the Master Supply Agreement are subject to the
reporting and announcement but are exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The sales to BGI Marine
Group under the Master Supply Agreement are subject to
the annual cap of HK$15 million, HK$25 million and HK$29
million for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 March
2020, the financial year ending 31 March 2021 and 2022
respectively.

The aggregate sales to BGI Marine Group for the period
from 1 January 2021 to 31 March 2021 under the Master
Supply Agreement was approximately HK$8.0 million.

(iii)
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ANNUAL REVIEW ON CONTINUING

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In accordance with Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the
continuing connected transactions set out above have been
reviewed by the Independent Non-executive Directors who
confirmed that the aforesaid continuing connected transactions
were entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(2)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

For the purpose of Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
external auditor, SHINEWING CPA (HK) Limited (“SHINEWING"),
has been engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions disclosed in item (iii) above in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
"Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. SHINEWING has issued an
unqualified letter containing findings and conclusions in respect of
the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group in
item (iii) above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company
to the Stock Exchange.

DISCLOSURE UNDER LISTING RULE 13.21

On 8 January 2019, Yee Hop Engineering, as a borrower,
confirmed the acceptance of a facility letter issued by a bank
offering a revolving credit facility up to an aggregate amount of
HK$20 million and later revised to HK$25 million on 13 January
2020. Pursuant to the terms of the facility, the bank reserves
the overriding right to modify and/or cancel the facility and the
terms/conditions thereof at anytime at its discretion. The facility
is repayable upon demand made by the bank. Details of the
transaction are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 8 January 2019 and 13 January 2020.

On 18 February 2019, Yee Hop Engineering and Yee Hop
Construction, as the borrowers, confirmed the acceptance of a
facility letter issued by a bank making available a facility of HK$20
million to both Yee Hop Engineering and Yee Hop Construction
and an aggregate of HK$250.61 million to Yee Hop Engineering
only and later revised to HK$15 million to the borrowers and an
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aggregate of HK$35 million to Yee Hop Engineering only on 6
November 2020. Pursuant to the terms of the facility, the bank
reserves the overriding right to modify and/or cancel the facility
and the terms/conditions thereof at anytime at its discretion. The
facility is repayable upon demand made by the bank. Details of
the transaction are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 18 February 2019 and 6 November 2020.

On 27 March 2019, Yee Hop Engineering, as the borrower,
confirmed the acceptance of a facility letter issued by a bank
making available a credit facility up to an aggregate amount
not exceeding HK$20.88 million and later revised to HK$37.63
million on 10 February 2020. Pursuant to the terms of the facility,
which has no tenor, the bank reserves the overriding right to
immediately modify, terminate, cancel or suspend the facility and
the terms/conditions thereof at anytime at its discretion. The
facility is repayable upon demand made by the bank. Details of
the transaction are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 27 March 2019 and 10 February 2020.

On 5 December 2019, Yee Hop Engineering and Yee Hop
Construction, as the borrowers, confirmed the acceptance of a
facility letter issued by a bank making available credit facilities
up to an aggregate amount not exceeding HK$149.0 million
and later revised to HK$128.4 million on 13 November 2020.
Pursuant to the terms of the facility, which has no tenor, the
bank shall have an unrestricted discretion to reduce, cancel or
suspend, or determine whether or not to permit drawings in
relation to, the facilities. The facilities are subject to review at
anytime and in any event by 15 January 2021, and also subject
to the bank’s overriding right of repayment on demand including
the right to call for cash cover on demand for prospective and
contingent liabilities. Details of the transaction are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 5 December 2019 and 13
November 2020.

On 7 July 2020, Yee Hop Engineering, as a borrower, confirmed
the acceptance of a facility letter issued by a bank offering a term
loan facility in an amount up to HK$15 million. Pursuant to the
terms of the facility, the bank shall have the overriding right at
any time and at its sole discretion to terminate all or any part of,
or reduce or decrease, the facility by prior notice to the borrower.
The facility shall be repaid in full within 36 months from the
relevant date of facility drawdown. Details of the transaction are
set out in the announcement of the Company dated 7 July 2020.
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As one of the conditions of the facilities set out above, the
Company has undertaken to the banks, among others that Mr.
Jim and Mr. Chui should, directly or indirectly, own no less than
51% shareholdings in the Company or the Company shall maintain
ultimately controlled by Mr. Jim and Mr. Chui.

At the date of this annual report, JJ1318 and Mr. Chui holds
38.25% and 27.75% in the Shares of the Company respectively.
JJ1318 is 100% beneficiary owned by Mr. Jim.

Save as disclosed above, the Company does not have other
disclosure obligations under Rules 13.21 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and Chief Executive Officer in the shares or underlying
shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code, were as follows:

(@) Long position in Shares

Number of Shares
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HEROREZTHNREER
KA

MR2021F3H31H EERFTETHAE
RARRREMABEZE(EEREFHFLE
BIEMIEXY Z) RO EERMHKE
S0 EEARRELGFERBERESR
HEROIEISEEGFEN ST LZMA - %
BRIBEZETRSITAEARF KB
MEZRABWNT:

(@ RROHFE

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
interests of our

Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest Interested Company
BEEERZN i NG|

EEHE Bip, fEEME BHEE BEMAOED

Mr. Jim Interest in a controlled 191,250,000 Shares 38.25%

EAE corporation (Notes 1) 191,250,000 1%

SRR EE RS (M)

Mr. Chui Beneficial owner 138,750,000 Shares 27.75%

wEAE EmEAA 138,750,000 %

Mr. Xu JunMin Beneficial owner (Note 2) 45,000,000 Shares 9%

BRERELEE BEmmaANHZ2) 45,000,0000%
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(b) Long position in JJ1318, an associated

corporation of our Company

Name of Director

Capacity/nature of interest

(b) MAQTHERATNIBISHNEFE

Percentage of
the issued share
capital of JJ1318

FT {11318
EEHE B fEEME ERTRABESL
Mr. Jim Beneficial owner (Notes 1) 100%
EXE ExnBEBANMNZT
Notes: B it -
1. 1J1318 is beneficially owned as to 100% by Mr. Jim. 1. IBISHELAEERHERE D HEE -

Accordingly, Mr. Jim is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by JJ1318 under the SFO.

2. On 1 April 2021, Mr. Xu Junmin disposed 18,000,000 Shares
to Mr. Wang Jian. At the date of this annual report, Mr. Xu
Junmin has approximately 5.40% of shareholding interest of
the Company.

Mr. Wang Jian was appointed as the Non-executive Director of
the Company on 19 April 2021, and at the date of this annual
report, Mr. Wang Jian has approximately 4% of shareholding
interest of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, Chief Executives
of the Company and/or any of their respective associates had any
interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of part XV of the SFO) as at 31 March 2021
as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2021, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than the Directors and Chief Executives
of the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares
and underlying Shares of the Company which were required to
be notified to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO.

it BEEHFRAEED  &X
AR ARSI ENRGPHEE

W -

2. MR2021F4718 - REREERITEZE
% 4 18,000,000 8% A% 17 o WA G
WMEH REREEFRBAQFTR
1 495.40% ©

TR EN2021F4R 198 EZ T
BARRNBIERNITESE  RRAFR
HE - FRAEFBEARATRERN
44% o

B b a3 #E & S - 72021434318 ¢
BEARBES FBTHRABR &K
FESEMNEABEALRARTHE
FRAEEEE (EERBHFRBEKAE
XVED) B E R - RO RESHF -
BEBLERBIEESF M EEHESS2
BB TEBEFENSTMAIBIEIEZET
Bl ST e AR E) KB R AR

YT R

FERRRAQRTRHEEEE
Eikf - HEAROREZFH
BERAXRE

M2021563H31H - BEEMA - TIA
T(EERARREEZITHRAEBRINK
AARKBHOREERDS  BEHAR
BEEAENBEEGIEXVIIE2 K35 564
EAQA)  HARTFRBEZSFLBAE
16 2533615 17 B &9 & &0 fif &9 4 25 50K

A
E‘ o
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Long positions in the Shares and underlying shares of the
Company:

RARB D RBERDOTE

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Number of Shares interests of the

Name Capacity/nature of interest Interested Company
BHEEEN RANETD R
wEEB B EEME BRHHE FAEHLEI T
JJ1318 Beneficial owner 191,250,000 38.25%
11318 EHEARAA
Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any bR EXHIBETEEN  EEHMTMBENR

other persons who have interests or short positions in the Shares
and underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the registered
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed, at no time during the 2021 Financial Year was
the Company, its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is
established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions
that Eligible Participants (as defined below) have made or may
make to the Group so as to motivate the Eligible Participants to
optimise their performance and efficiency for the benefit of the
Group, and attract, retain or otherwise maintain ongoing business
relationship with the Eligible Participants whose contributions are,
will or expected to be beneficial to the Group.
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The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of ten years commencing on 25 November 2015, after which no
further options will be issued. The total number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes shall not in
aggregate exceed 50,000,000 Shares (10% of the Shares in issue
as at the date of Listing), unless approved by the shareholders in
general meeting (the maximum number of Shares of the Company
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company must not
exceed 30% of the total number of shares of the Company
in issue from time to time). No option may be granted to any
Eligible Participant which, if exercised in full, would result in the
total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options already granted or to be granted to such Eligible
Participant under the Share Option Scheme (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding share options) in any 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant exceeding 1% in
aggregate of the Shares in issue as at the date of such grant.
The offer of a grant of share options shall be accepted when the
offer letter has been duly signed and a consideration of HK$1 in
total has been paid by the grantee. The exercise period of the
share options granted is determinable by the Directors and ends
on a date which is not later than ten years from the date of the
offer of share options.

Eligible Participants include: (i) any Eligible Employees. “Eligible
Employees” means any employee (whether full time or part
time, including any Executive Director but excluding any Non-
executive Director) of the Company, any subsidiary or any entity
in which the Group holds at least 20% of its issued share capital
("Invested Entity”); (i) any Non-executive Director (including
Independent Non-executive Directors) of the Company, any
subsidiary or any Invested Entity; (iii) any supplier of goods or
services of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (iv)
any customer of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;
(v) any person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support to any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; (vi) any shareholder of any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued
by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (vii) any
advisor (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of
business or business development of any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity; and (viii) any other group or classes of
participants who have contributed or may contribute by way of
joint venture, business alliance or other business arrangement to
the development and growth of the Group, and, for the purposes
of the Share Option Scheme, options may be granted to any
company wholly owned by one or more Eligible Participants.

BE R R B B2015F 1M A2SH B A + &
NERRED  EERTgE—FBITE
fe i o BRIEMMEA R B R HE - T A
BT 78 1R 15 B8 A% HE A1 B M A ] B At 51 )
BERBREETERTFEITHRD
#5348 1B50,000,0008% B (A £
HEEEBEITRM10%)(R BT A 18 1 iE IR
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FEEEITRMDBEN30%) - H2ETT
FHREkEeERNEZAERTEAS (R
FEER) L1218 A EA R R & B A i =T &8l )
AERSEZERHIABELOERE
(BIEEITHE « B R ARITHEMNER
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The exercise price of options shares shall not be less than the
highest of: (i) the closing price of the Share as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of
the relevant option, which must be a day on which the Stock
Exchange is open for the business of dealing in securities (a
“Trading Day"); (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
Trading Days immediately preceding the offer date of the relevant
option; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the offer date.

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out in
the Prospectus.

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Company may grant
options to Directors and employees of the Group and other
eligible participants to subscribe for Shares not exceeding 10%
of the Shares in issue, 50,000,000 Shares.

No option has been granted under the Share Option Scheme and
no option was exercised during 2021 Financial Year. There was
no option under the Share Option Scheme outstanding as of 31
March 2021.

SUFFICIENT OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules since the Listing.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out in the “Corporate Governance Report” section in this annual
report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the 2021 Financial Year.

EQUITY LINK AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report relating to share option
scheme, there is no equity-linked agreement that would or
might result in the Company issuing Shares, or that required the
Company to enter into an agreement that would or might result
in the Company issuing Shares has been entered into by the
Company during or subsisted at end of the 2021 Financial Year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
has been entered into or existed during the 2021 Financial Year.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
The employees and remuneration policies of the Group during
the 2021 Financial Year is set out in the subsection headed
"Employees and Remuneration Policies” on page 15 of this annual
report. The content is part of the report of the Directors.

AUDITORS

A resolution will be proposed in the forthcoming AGM to
re-appoint SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited as Auditors of the
Company.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The annual general meeting of the Company is scheduled to be
held in September 2021. The closure of the register of members
of the Company for determining the entitlement to attend and
vote at the AGM will be set out in the Notice of AGM which will
be despatched to shareholders of the Company in due course.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2021
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ferkPFa
Shme‘zozné;

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF YEE HOP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

43/F., Lee Garden One
33 Hysan Avenue

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yee
Hop Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 70
to 200, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
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e AR GBS T
A
A3

I —JiH43 1

BEAERERQAINMEKRRE
(REEHSZMA LA EFRLA)

=R
BMEEZSNEIOE200E AR FE AL
BERAR(ELARADRENBE AT (5
HeEEEDNEEMBRE  LEH
MK BIENR2021F3 31BN G A BT
MAREBEZALEFENGEGETR
Hih2mEREER  SEEZEHRREE
EHRERER  URKEVHHREW T
BRETESHBERME -

BFRE  ZEHREUERRERES
Ao (BEEETMAR)EM
MEBTHHREEN(EBMBEREE
ADEEBE AT R & 5B 2021
FIANBMGEETBERAREZZA L
FENGAWBREREEGRERE
WEEBREBARGOOBERREZA
mE o

REREXE
BZMERBEZEEGHAMASRMNER
EEA(EBEAERDETERT
e MR ZFENTHREERMD
& Pz BAD LB A% AR A B R AR R
EWEEFTHEE-—FSHL -REFLES
e Ag MBI RS EEET A ([
D BMBLR B8 YCDEE
SRETEMBRELT - RAHAE - &
PESHERZERLERARNEELR
BB REHER -

61



62

Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Accounting for construction contracts
Refer to notes 7 and 29(a) to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies on pages 89 to 93.

BARELZER
REBMOEXHE  BREZEFER
BARANHENGEVBRRTRER
MEBEZER BRMAEEZERSEETH
BEREAHERELSEBENHEFRIA
MIEeEREEFEREFERER -

BESHANETER
BLMEAMBREAM E7M29@ MU K E
89F O3B M & RTIEK -

The key audit matter
HREREER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMWETOMNERZSE

For construction contracts, there is considerable
judgment in assessing the appropriate contract
revenue and margin which in turn affect the
recognition of contract assets (liabilities). Revenue is
recognised over time. The progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured
based on input method, which is to recognise revenue
on the basis of the Group's efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to
the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that
performance obligation by reference to the proportion
of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated
total costs, that best depict the Group’s performance
in transferring control of goods or services, which
involves the assessment of the completeness and
accuracy of contract costs incurred and forecast costs

to complete.
REESOME R HESSONE LA B

BEREHE  HREMPEENEE (BB NBER -
Wes HHEREER - TRBETENEENERIE
ABRBRAEFE  BEBE EEBEATKE
MBEMELENHIRAEH R B S TKE
WMEENAKRA) Y2EMEENERKARY
RIEETRCA R L DI R W e - BT A RBE
R EEENERERIMEEG T EELD
Bo - HRPRAMELESHMANRBIHT AR
BT MNERENMGE -

Our audit procedures were designed to test
revenue recognised during the year to ensure
the Group’s accounting policy on construction
contracts is in accordance with the standard.

HAIER AT B AR 7 OB B A i R B9 R & A
ﬁg EEENEEAN SR RERFHER

We assessed whether the construction costs
recognised were in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy and supported by the audit
evidence available through critically challenged
the forecast costs to complete, contract costs,
and the completeness and validity of provisions
arising from customer disputes. We assessed
reliability of management’s assessment in budget
costs by considering the historical actual costs and
estimation of budget costs of completed projects.
BMERABFEERBEHRT IR SHKER
REPUNELNBEN TERE LA RMIN
AR EZENARRERE EEENS
AR KBHAGHEZRE X - BHMEARE
ERAEEERENANRE T THEAENEEK AN G
AU EREHBER AN EEAASE -

We have assessed progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation under
input method by recalculating the revised estimate
of the progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation of the construction works
based on the latest budgeted costs and the total
actual costs incurred.
BPRBESROPEER AL MELENEBREKAR
HE O BBENAEERTIRTE2ERENE
EHEERENKLERT A RERALFET
PEXNBHNETHENEE -
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Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets
Refer to notes 27 and 29(a) to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies on pages 104 to 109.

ESERRERAGNEERE
BLHEREMBRERWE27R29@) U &
F10421098 M TR ©

The key audit matter
HREXKEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit
EPMBFNMNEEZSEHE

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had trade receivables
and contract assets of approximately HK$142,658,000
and HK$115,373,000 respectively.
M2021F3A318 - EEXENESHRUFIEREH
& E o Bl #) 7% 142,658,000 K& 78 115,373,000
I e

The expected credit losses (“ECL") on trade receivables
and contract assets are estimated by the management
based on individually significant customer or the
ageing of customers collectively using a provision
matrix by reference to the Group’s past default
experience of the debtor, an analysis of the debtor’s
current financial position, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
of the industry in which the debtors operate and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date.
BHORBFIBREHNEENTEREEBR(EBE
EFBEDBHEEERBEENEATFPAHAETSE
REAREBEERET2ZEZ EXEEHBANABLEHE
R LEBANBRMBAR RS FTmIEL &G
UTHEBANBEERE  BEHEAKLEMETENE
BEBBEARENBREBRNEANBRLRERRK
BRBR R EELFHE -

We have identified the impairment of the trade
receivables and contract assets as a key audit matter
in view of the significance of the carrying amount
of trade receivables and contract assets and the ECL
estimation performed by the management involved
significant judgements and estimates.
ENEFRUWRBRANEERAENEZNEIAR
EREMETHNEREEERMGLF IR ERHE
it BRFEBREEIRUREBERANEENR
BERAAREXRER-

Our audit procedures were designed to assess
the management estimation on ECL of trade
receivables and contract assets and challenge
the reasonableness of the significant judgements
and estimates, including use of significant
unobservable inputs adopted in the ECL
estimation by the management.

BN EAREFEETEHEEBHESRER
EREHNEENTEHEEBERMA  LHEKX
HETREFHEEEREER  BREERAER
EEEMEEERGLFATRANEETTHE
AR -

We have also assessed the appropriateness of
the methodology and reviewed the input data
used by the management with reference to the
latest available general economic data and the
cash collection performance against the Group's
historical trends and credit loss experience.
BMTEFETERNEEL YEREEEE
EANBAZRE Y2EEMASHNBELE
BEALHYE BEEEELBINEEBEL
BEIREWIKRR -
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EYEEEE
FLBGA NS BAM T2 R E8ER
B B -

Valuation of biological assets
Refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies on page 88.

64

The key audit matter
HREXKEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit
EPMBFNMNEEZSEHE

We identified valuation of biological assets as a
key audit matter due to the significant estimation
uncertainty resulting in determining the fair value.
BABEMEENGERT REAREREE  RA
REBERAFERFEERGATHEEE -

As disclosed in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements, management estimated the fair value
of the Group's biological assets at approximately
HK$11,406,000 at 31 March 2021. Independent
external valuations were obtained for all biological
assets to assist management’s estimates of the fair
value of biological assets at 31 March 2021. Key
assumptions adopted include estimated market prices
and breeding costs.

MANAR S B S R MY ST 22PR R BE - B IR B 702021
FI3A3MBME BESEEEMEENRTFER/LNE
#11,406,0007T ° FIAE LY & E GBS B LN DA
B BB EEEMN2021F3A3NBMEMEER
NFE - FIERANTERRBEMAONTHERR
BEMKA -

Our audit procedures were designed to assess
the management estimation on the valuation of
biological assets and challenge the reasonableness
of the key assumptions and inputs adopted in the
valuation.
BPNEZEFEENGERBEHRNEYMEE
HMENGARERGEMKBEAREBR @A
BN S -

We evaluated the independent external valuer’s
competence, objectivity and qualifications.

B GBI EEMOE D  ZTEERE
# o

We evaluated the appropriateness of the
methodologies used in valuing the biological
assets; and
BAFERRAREMEEN T A2 EE L
K

We evaluated the appropriateness of the key
assumptions and inputs including estimated
market prices and breeding costs, based on
available market data and historical performance
of the Group.

BPBRBEAANTSHEENR SEEENELRK
BHAEEIERILBABBENEE L BHEMA
FARTSERIEBEMAK -
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Impairment assessment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, other intangible
assets and goodwill in respect of the cash-generating
unit relating to breeding, sales and trading of aquatic

products and related services

Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on pages 84, 85, 111 and 112.

Y% - HBERRE EHAEEE - H
thEFEEUAREKERE #HE
REZURERBRBEAFENRSESE
BEfucEEZREMNM

FE2MEAY B HRERW 19K F84
85 MM RINEMNZFHEUR »

The key audit matter
HREXRER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMWETNMEREZEE

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets, other intangible
assets and goodwill amounting to approximately
HK$112,304,000, HK$2,198,000 HK$2,050,000
and HK$8,242,000 respectively allocated to cash-
generating unit relating to breeding, sales and
trading of aquatic products and related services. The
management performed impairment testing on the
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
other intangible assets and goodwill based on the
value-in-use calculation of the cash-generating unit.
M2021%3A31H B & B 5 5l A H LB &
112,304,0007T ~ % #2,198,0007T * /# #2,050,000
TR B #8,242,000T 2 M - HEREHE - £
BEE HEMBIEEEMBAESETHRKESRE -
HEREGURBERGHBZREELAEL - B
BEEARNBESELBUEREEFEYYE - #
BmhEE ERREE HMWEBERVEELRBEE
TTRE R -

We have identified the impairment assessment of
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
other intangible assets and goodwill relating to BGI
Marine Group as a key audit matter because of the
involvement of a significant degree of judgements
and estimates made by the management when
performing impairment testing.

BAEmE  HENKRE EREEE  HiET
BENMBERNEBFEEAE 2EHENREN R
ERBAREZER DRAPREEEETRENS
B BT 1 ) B8 K 1 B M ik 5T e

Our audit procedures were designed to review
the management’s assessment, estimation and
judgement applied in the impairment assessment
of goodwill, other intangible assets, right-of-use
assets and property, plant and equipment relating
to the related cash-generating unit.

BN EZEFEEESEREHHRERE S
EXBEURBErEE HtBEVEE F/HE
BENAERME #HISRREOBENEMEKRA
BTl il 5T R I o

We have discussed with management on the
impairment assessment of the property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, other intangible
assets and goodwill.
RMOHEEEENRYE KRB £8
BEE HEMETEERBENRENMG -

We have assessed the impairment testing
performed by the management. We also
challenged the appropriateness of the key
management judgements and estimates used in
the profit forecasts and cash flow projections,
including the forecasted sales and gross profit
margins, against latest available information. We
also challenged the discount rate adopted in the
value-in-use calculation by reviewing its basis
of calculation and comparing the input data to
market sources.

BHPEHEREETHRENRETTME - &
P EAAIGER S GMNBRARREERETR
AR ERNBREEEAHEB MG ZEE MR
LB BEBEAHEEREMNX - ZMREKSE
MEDSTENRE R GR A SR AT ISR IREST
e BREAEBEAETARAMNBIRE -

*

Translation of Chinese name for identification purpose only
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the

information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and for such internal control as the directors of the Company
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Hitt &
EARABEEAHEMANAE - HivE
HEFEERNOAEEN BT RER
AHMBRERRMOZRARE -

BAHEAVBERENELLNRER
ER  BATTSHEMERERT
AN ZES®

RRMPAEZEAMBEHREMS  RAW
AEERMEEMEN tMEEREMLE
HMRECEGAMBRRARMEETZSB
BREZNENTFEERTF - HUF
FHBA#EREML - ERHMAZHTH
T WEMBSZEMLEHBEKE
mER - HPIAREZEE - st -
MEBAFELRS -

BERAEERELZEERA
EUBBRRARENER

BERAEZREARBEEEGTMAEMN
BBV ERELENRBB ARG
MRBER GHEHEBEATHNEEY
BRE LEEERBREGAMBR
RFFVEOARBEE  NEHEEMBER
RIGFEARKFRERMEFINERXN
$HARMR A -

REEEAVBERERE - BERRES
BEMNE EXESELENRESN X
EERABATHREESELLEHBENSE
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s
directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

e B BERFEERAFELEEE
EENRBEEELER  XREM
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ABREAT  BREEEEN
AREEMBHREEE R T2
MXZHNEE -

e 3 EEBEANERAXBIDN
MBERERE MEENEZ
BE NBEHEEMBRERERE
R-BMaasEEZNTR &
BEHT RARBRERAER
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BZMEEZZEER (AT RE)EZW
FHEIEE REZHMREREXRERE
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The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Chui Yiu Cheong.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chui Yiu Cheong

Practising Certificate Number: P07219

Hong Kong
30 June 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meBEBERkHEMEEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & E202143A318 L FE

2021 2020
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
it BT T & T T
Revenue W 2= 7 1,056,453 980,053
Cost of revenue W 2% B AR (935,804) (870,409)
Gross profit ESp 120,649 109,644
Gain from changes in fair value of EMEEQFESE
biological assets less costs to sell 2 M R 8 B A AR 8,623 13,196
Other income and gain RN & 8 46,088 45,803
Administrative and other expenses TTER B E b S (105,007) (110,389)
Selling and distribution expenses HEMDHEAY (25,523) (21,177)
Impairment loss of goodwill EENRESE 19 (7,346) -
Impairment losses of financial assets 4 Eh & 2 8l {6 &5 18 11 (1,481) (1,996)
Share of result of an associate DME—fEEE RNREE 19,024 1,175
Finance costs & AR 9 (10,158) (7,576)
Profit before taxation Fx %4 B A 44,869 28,680
Income tax expense Fris®im X 10 (6,599) (6,174)
Profit for the year F W 11 38,270 22,506
Other comprehensive income His2EWK A (B %)
(expense)
Items that may be reclassified HEnjgtE 7 E 18
subsequently to profit or loss: mZ HE -
Share of exchange reserve of AME—EBER T2
an associate IE & B 6,882 (3,870)
Exchange difference arising on REGINEEEER
translation of foreign operations fE R =% 10,933 (8,146)
17,815 (12,016)
Total comprehensive income FATEKEBRE
for the year 56,085 10,490
Profit (loss) for the year PATR & I8 FB 4 X % F
attributable to: (EB#E)
- Owners of the Company . VNGIEZ F=WN 49,317 24,580
— Non-controlling interests - FEE AR A (11,047) (2,074)
38,270 22,506
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meEskAEMEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & E202143A318 L FE

2021 2020
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Ht &t B¥TR BT T
Total comprehensive income NT&EBEERGEFAZE
(expense) for the year Was (FxX) e :
attributable to:
- Owners of the Company - AREHEAA 64,702 14,639
- Non-controlling interests - JEPE R (8,617) (4,149)
56,085 10,490
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Earnings per share FR AR
Basic and diluted ERREE 15 0.10 0.05
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B ISR R

At 31 March 2021 #202143831H

2021 2020
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
N3 BT T ok eI
Non-current assets IERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- HEREE 6 206,674 197,927
Right-of-use assets EREEE 7 3,910 8,126
Investment properties wEME 8 134,857 -
Goodwill EES 19 8,242 14,810
Other intangible assets HEtELEE 20 2,050 2,616
Interest in an associate R—EBEERARNER 21 89,685 61,476
Biological assets Y EE 22 6,111 12,301
Financial assets at fair value EAFEFABGZHNS
through profit or loss B & E 23 993 1,012
Other non-current assets HEM3EReEE 24 460 460
Prepayment for acquisition of WHEIERHEERRH
non-current assets and long Ee M BN RKIE
term deposit 30 40,631 -
Loan and interest receivable JEUWE KRB 28 10,753 -
Deferred tax assets EER IR E E 25 806 910
505,172 299,638
Current assets MEEE
Inventories FE 26 30,258 19,835
Biological assets Y EE 22 5,295 8,421
Trade receivables B 5 W kI8 27 142,658 150,693
Contract assets BHEE 29 115,373 156,525
Deposits, prepayments and Be  BRRIEREM
other receivables & Uk 3k 18 30 50,831 73,713
Tax recoverable a] Y [B] 75 18 1,313 6,585
Other current assets HiRE & = 24 43,927 48,245
Bank balances and cash WITHEB LIRS 31 71,138 31,079
460,793 495,096
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade and retention payables B 5T RIE R ERHRE
& 32 137,827 99,134
Contract liabilities AHEaE 29 5,722 21,206
Accruals and other payables EEtERAREMBENRIA 33 36,237 44,652
Lease liabilities HEBE 7 8,319 5,508
Bank and other borrowings RITRHMES 34 126,224 196,018
Amount due to a related &~ — R A B A B FR0E
company 35 9,847 -
Tax payable JE 1~ %4 18 4,781 5,793
328,957 372,311
Net current assets mEEEFE 131,836 122,785
Total assets less current liabilittes BEZLBEM B EE 637,008 422,423
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A B AR OR &

At 31 March 2021 #202143831H

2021 2020
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
N3 BT T BT T
Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Bank and other borrowings RITREAMEE 34 27,607 -
Deferred income IR EUg A 36 24,846 25,248
Long service payment REARR 75 © A 12
obligations 37 583 516
Lease liabilities HEBRE 17 130,416 2,890
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHMBAE 25 9,747 8,719
193,199 37,373
Net assets BEEFE 443,809 385,050
Capital and reserves BARR B
Share capital g A 38 5,000 5,000
Reserves f# 392,099 327,397
Equity attributable to owners of ZAN/NEIE RSN R
the Company 397,099 332,397
Non-controlling interests FE 1 AR 2= 46,710 52,653
Total equity R 443,809 385,050

The consolidated financial statements on pages 70 to 200 were FIOE200EM R E N BERKRITHESS
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 202156 30 R #E /& R IX#E T8 - WA

30 June 2021 and are signed on its behalf by: TIHALTREKEE:
Jim Yin Kwan, Jackin Chui Mo Ming
BAE #EH
Director Director
EF )

Annual Report 2020/21 4 3R



74

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & E202143A318 [t FE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARRAEFAES
Non-
Share Share  Merger Exchange Other Retained controlling
capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits Total interests Total
BRA ROEE A0EE EXNFRRE HeHKE REER B FERER @t
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT B¥Tr B¥Tn B%Tr EBE¥%Tr B¥%TR BT B%Trn E¥%Tn
(Note a) (Note b)
(i zta) (Htb)
At 1 April 2019 #201954A718 5.000 112,583 14,808 (287) 1,124 184,530 317,758 40,734 358,492
Profit (loss) for the year FREF (FR) - - - - - 24580 24,580 (2,074) 22,506
Share of exchange reserve of  S{E—HBE QA2
an associate I E - - - (3,870) - - (3,870) - (3,870)
Exchange difference arising REBNEBEL
on translation of foreign MERESE
operations - - - (6,071) - - (6,071) (2,075) (8,146)
Profit (loss) and total FRRF (BB R
comprehensive income 2HEMNE(RX)
(expense) for the year ok - - - (9,941) - 24,580 14,639 (4149) 10,490
Capital contribution by FrERERLE
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - 16,068 16,068
At 31 March 2020 #2020%£3A317 5000 112583 14,808  (10,228) 1124 209,110 332,397 52,653 385050
Profit (loss) for the year FREF(FR) - - - - - 49317 49,317 (11,047) 38,270
Share of exchange reserve of Sk —HBHE A2
an associate ER - - - 6,882 - - 6,882 - 6,882
Exchange difference arising REBNEBELN
on translation of foreign EXZRE
operations - - - 8,503 - - 8,503 2,430 10,933
Profit (loss) and total FRRF (BB R
comprehensive income 2HEKR(RX)
(expense) for the year BE - - - 15,385 - 49317 64,702 (8,617) 56,085
Capital contribution by FERERNE
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - 2,674 2,674
At 31 March 2021 2021437317 5000 112583 14,808 5,157 1124 258427 397,099 46710 443,809
Note a: Merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal Bidta: B OIEEEIRIEEEEAAHFWENE

value of the issued capital of subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a
group reorganisation over the consideration paid for acquiring these
subsidiaries.
Note b: Other reserve represents the difference between the carrying value
of the additional equity interests of the subsidiary acquired and
the consideration paid of HK$116 during the year ended 31 March
2016.

Bz -

NS S o N e
HERRIBENAES EF -

ErEEE 22016 F3H31H I F/Z
T4 fE 19 /BB 23 7] KB 91 iR 18 1 AR T 18 £
EfNfREEEII6TZ Z5 -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HMEHETRER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & E202143A318 L FE

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BEFT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES L EE)
Profit before taxation bR 5% i i 44,869 28,680
Adjustments for: BUATEBELRE:
Bank interest income RATHE WA (429) (386)
Loan interest income BEFFMBE KA (208) -
Provision for long service payment AR EE 67 46
Finance costs B & X AR 10,158 7,576
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 5,797 7,166
Net unrealised exchange (gain) loss RERER (W) EE (8,762) 45
Gain from changes in fair value less cost EVMEENTFEZE W
to sell of biological assets VEi=R=AD AN (8,623) (13,196)
Fair value loss (gain) on financial assets BAFEAABERNSRE
at fair value through profit or loss EMAFEREWE) 102 (182)
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment HEWERFEO W (126) (296)
Government subsidies BT 48 B (27,162) (9,622)
Share of result of an associate DE—EBERTEE (19,024) (1,175)
Interest income on bonds BREHFEWA (7,274) (2,302)
Loss on write-off of property, plant and MiEmE - WBERREBE
equipment 9 32
Amortisation of intangible assets VA E S 913 896
Impairment losses of financial assets CHEEREER 1,481 1,996
Impairment loss of goodwill BEREBR 7,346 -
Gain on disposal of technical know-how BT A W as = (22,448)
Fair value gain on property, plant and BERERETR 2 ME - K
equipment in exchange for loan RREAFERZ
receivable = (4,966)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BBERERENTE
equipment 39,817 31,376
Operating cash flows before movements in EERCEPIMNLERENR
working capital = 38,951 23,240
Increase in inventories FEEM (8,787) (4,759)
Decrease in biological assets EWMEERD 19,318 22,742
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables B SR FRIE R (38 ) 12,082 (28,761)
Decrease in deposits, prepayments and Be  BNRERAMER
other receivables FIE R D 5,385 4,262
Increase in trade and retention payables BHREMNFIE R EMNRE S
12 fn 34,596 41,684
(Decrease) increase in accruals and other FERT B A & B 4 e R
payables CRLA) 5 (11,451) 10,213
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities EHEECED)EMN (16,684) 3,273
Decrease (increase) in contract assets BHEER D GEM) 41,152 (67,743)
Cash generated from operations KETHMERS 114,562 4,151
Income tax paid ENMER (1,502) (14,513)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING  # & EBFTS (FTA) R &
ACTIVITIES ekt 113,060 (10,362)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERTMER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & E202143A318 [t FE

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BEFT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REESY
Purchase of plant and equipment EERBREE (39,694) (59,525)
Prepayment for acquisition of non-current WHEIERHEENHANTE
assets (33,513) -
Purchase of zero coupon bonds BETEES (25,086) (34,777)
Advance of loan receivable e BB R (11,104) -
Settlement of construction payable for HEEEFENERSIREE
prior year's acquisition of plant and JEREREE R
equipment (2,287) (8,337)
Interest received BEF B 429 386
Proceeds from disposal of plant and HEMRRREEMERE
equipment 1,550 802
Proceeds from sales of technical EERMEXNHAMEHIE
know-how 21,856 -
Redemption of zero coupon bonds BEZEES 43,137 -
Settlement of consideration payable of FELFERENRB QR EN
prior year's acquisition of subsidiaries WRE - (82,251)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES KREZGMARE FE (44,712) (183,702)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES EX-8rF)
New bank and other borrowings raised EEEMRTRAMBEER 87,597 182,263
Government subsidies received B U BT 8 BA 24,690 2,247
Advance from a related company RE— TR AR R BT 2,729 -
Capital contribution by non-controlling FERERZLE
interests 2,674 16,068
Advance from a director of a subsidiary RE—ENBARIN—EESE
#) 2 3K 2,106 1,014
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BEBIREMEE (133,886) (34,459)
Interest paid on bank and other BIRITREM BRI
borrowings ME (8,666) (5,920)
Repayment to lease liabilities EEREaRE (6,115) (6,537)
Interest paid for lease liabilities REEEBEINMAE (342) (524)
Repayment to a director a subsidiary EBET-HMNBARAIN—%
EEMHE = (1,209)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING MELZH(AR)MERSFE
ACTIVITIES (29,213) 152,943
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND BekB2ZEMEMORD)
CASH EQUIVALENTS e 39,135 (41,121)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FUNRELESEFED
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 31,079 73,175
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INEEERBEHNTE 924 (975)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FRORE LB SEEY
END OF THE YEAR, represented by bank ABTTEBEBASER)
balances and cash 71,138 31,079
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GENERAL

Yee Hop Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability
incorporated in the Cayman lIslands under the Companies
Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands on 12 February 2015 and
its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited on 18 December 2015. Its ultimate controlling
parties are Mr. Jim Yin Kwan, Jackin and Mr. Chui Mo Ming
(the “Controlling Shareholders”). The address of the
registered office of the Company is Windward 3, Regatta
Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman, KY1-1108, the
Cayman Islands, and its principal place of business is located
at Room 1104-06, 11/F., Nan Fung Commercial Centre, 19
Lam Lok Street, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company while the
principal subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision
of foundation and other civil works and tunneling works
in Hong Kong and Philippines, sub-leasing of premises and
research and development and breeding, sales and trading
of aquatic products and related services in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"). The principal activities of
the subsidiaries are set out in note 46.

Other than those subsidiaries established in the PRC and
the Philippines whose functional currency is Renminbi
(“"RMB"”) and Philippine Peso (“PHP"”) respectively, the
functional currency of the Company and other subsidiaries is
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"). For the purpose of presenting
the consolidated financial statements, the Company and
its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the
"Group”) adopted HK$ as its presentation currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M HRHE

—RER
ZE6ERERAFATERAADR
20155F2 A 12B IR B FH S 8 2% 0
FNEQFE(961F FE3 - & 47
ek )rRHERSIMKT -
mE AR 9 2015612 H18H £ & &
BAERIMBR AR LT - A&
ERARBEFRBEERBRAL
E(EBRBRR]D - ARQFH D
& M4k AWindward 3, Regatta
Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1108, the Cayman
Islands * MA T E2LEMBUNE
BNEEREFTI9ORmERNEPL
11%£1104-06% o

ARBB/—HEREZERAR - ME
EMBAREZRELEETERIFRE
BERMHMEREM AR TIZANE
BIRE 72HVEARRPEAR
AAMBE(PEDEEKERELE
B HEREZHARBERE - M
BARMEERBH N M E46 -

BRI R Bl SE R K S A P BB A )
(EEEB R AARBEITAR
WOEFRELR(FERELR])
S - AR AR E A A R Y T BE
ERRER(AR]) -R2IKEA
MBHRERME - ARB R ENB A
AIATHREAREE])5KABEE
REZWEE -

77



78

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(S)")

In the current year, the Group has applied, for its first
time, the Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRSs and the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") which are effective for the
Group's financial year beginning 1 April 2020:
Amendments to Definition of a Business
HKFRS 3
Amendments to
HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8
Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39
and HKFRS 7

Definition of Material

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

The application of the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRSs and the amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material effect on
the Group’s financial performance and positions for the
current and prior periods and/or on the disclosures set out
in these consolidated financial statements.

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related
Amendments®
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to Conceptual Framework®

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
and HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture?

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(S)") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not
yet effective (continued)

ERAHITIRERUKERE
R (BB BEHRELER )
EHENE

BEGEESKRERZHFITIRE
8 B R 45 B 2 S 5T A& (4)

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37
Amendments to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendment to HKFRSs
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Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and the related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5(2020)
Presentation of Financial Statements -
Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause®

Definition of Accounting Policies®

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction®

Property, plant and Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use®

Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a

Contract?
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2'

Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

COVID-19 - Related Rent Concessions*
COVID-19 - Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020
cycle?
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(S)") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not

yet effective (continued)
! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2021,

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.

> Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023.

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the results and the financial position of
the Group.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants in the principal (or most
advantageous) market at the measurement date under
current market conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless
of whether that price is directly observable or estimated
using another valuation technique. Details of fair value
measurement are explained in the accounting policies set
out below.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company (i.e. its subsidiaries). If a subsidiary prepares
its financial statements using accounting policies other than
those adopted in the consolidated financial statements
for like transactions and events in similar circumstances,
appropriate adjustments are made to that subsidiary’s
financial statements in preparing the consolidated
financial statements to ensure conformity with the group’s
accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use
its power over the investee to affect the amount of the
Group’s returns. When the Group has less than a majority
of the voting rights of an investee, power over the investee
may be obtained through (i) a contractual arrangement with
other vote holders; (ii) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; (iii) the Group’s voting rights and potential
voting rights; or (iv) a combination of the above, based on
all relevant facts and circumstances.

The Company reassesses whether it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control of the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

Business combinations

Businesses combinations are accounted for by applying
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by
the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs incurred to effect
a business combination are recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Business combinations (continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,

except that:

BEAXETHE®)

EBabtE
Tzl Bl EERFIAEZR
BERKERRRATERR T
5 & R4

deferred tax assets or liabilities arising from the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the business
combination are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes;,

assets or liabilities related to the acquiree’s employee
benefit arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 19 Employee Benefits;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment transactions of the acquiree or
the replacement of the acquiree’s share-based
payment transactions with the share-based payment
transactions of the Group are measured in accordance
with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition
date (see the accounting policy below);

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are
measured in accordance with that standard; and

lease liabilities are measured at the present value of
the remaining lease payments as if the acquired lease
was a new lease at the acquisition date, except for
leases for which (a) the lease term ends within 12
months of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying
asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are measured
at an amount equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted to
reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease
when compared with market terms.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of
the Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree
(if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If,
after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in
the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

Non-controlling interests, unless as required by another
standards, are measured at acquisition-date fair value except
for non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation are
measured either at fair value or at the present ownership
instruments’ proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets on a transaction-
by-transaction basis.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising from a business combination is carried at
cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or
groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the cash-generating unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than
its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the unit and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit (or group of cash-generating units). Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Goodwiill (continued)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Interest in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of
the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The Group's interest in an associate is accounted for in
the consolidated financial statements using the equity
method. Under the equity method, interest in an associate
is initially recognised at cost. The Group’s share of the
profit or loss and changes in the other comprehensive
income of the associate is recognised in profit or loss
and other comprehensive income respectively after the
date of acquisition. If the Group’s share of losses of an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
which determined using the equity method together
with any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group’'s net investment in the associate,
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are provided for, and a liability is
recognised, only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.

If an associate uses accounting policies other than those
of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances, adjustments are made to make the
associate’s accounting policies conform to those of the
Group when the associate’s financial statements are used
by the Group in applying the equity method.

An interest in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the interest, any excess of the
cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate
is recognised as goodwill and is included in the carrying
amount of the interest.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Interest in an associate (continued)

After application of the equity method, including
recognising the associate’s losses (if any), the Group
determines whether it is necessary to recognise any
additional impairment loss with respect to its interest in an
associate. The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be impaired.
When an objective evidence exists, the entire carrying
amount of the interest (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset
by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the
carrying amount of the interest in an associate. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

When the interest ceases to be an associate upon the Group
losing significant influence over the associate, the Group
discontinues to apply equity method.

Gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associate are recognised in consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of unrelated
investors’ interests in the associate. The Group’s share in the
associate’s gains or losses resulting from these transactions
is eliminated.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of
financial position of the Company at cost less accumulated
impairment loss.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Intangible assets

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and
development expenditure

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase of
an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

the technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

- the intention to complete the intangible asset and use
or sell it;

- the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

- how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

- the availability of adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the development and to
use or sell the intangible asset; and

- the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred.

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which
is regarded as their cost).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Intangible assets (continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
(continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are
reported at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Biological assets

Biological assets are living animals including fishes, crabs
and shrimps involved in the agricultural activities of the
transformation of biological assets into agricultural produce
for sale or into additional biological assets. Biological
assets are measured at fair value less costs to sell at initial
recognition and at the end of each reporting period while
agricultural produce harvested from the biological assets
are measured at fair value less costs to sell at the point of
harvest, which is deemed as the cost at that date when
the agricultural produce becomes inventory or additional
biological assets.

A gain or loss arising on the initial recognition of a
biological asset at fair value less costs to sell and from a
change in fair value less costs to sell of a biological asset is
included in profit or loss for the period in which it arises. A
gain or loss arising on the initial recognition of agricultural
produce at fair value less costs to sell is included in profit
or loss for the period in which it arises.

Subsequent expenditure relating to producing and
harvesting biological assets are charged to expense when
incurred and costs that increase the number of units of
biological assets owned or controlled by the Group are
capitalised in the carrying amount of the biological assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are calculated using the first-
in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs
of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the
Group uses a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1. Identify the contract(s) with a customer

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the

contract
° Step 3: Determine the transaction price
o Step 4. Allocate the transaction price to the

performance obligations in the contract

. Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially same.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

o The customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

o The Group’s performance creates and enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is created
and enhanced; or

o The Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct goods or
service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified
in a contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected
on behalf of third parties, discounts, sales rebate and sales
related taxes.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration from the customer.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of
unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (continued)

The Group recognised revenue from the following major
sources:

o Construction contracts
o Sales of aquatic products
J Rendering of research and development services

Construction contracts

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group as a
construction contract when the contract relates to work on
an asset under the control of the customer and therefore
the Group’s construction activities create or enhance an
asset under the customer’s control.

Revenue from the contract is recognised over time. The
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation
relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of
that performance obligation by reference to the proportion
of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated
total costs that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services. When the outcome
of the contract cannot be reasonably measured, revenue
is recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred
that are expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised in accordance with an onerous contract. An
onerous contract exists when the Group has a contract
under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the
obligations under the contract exceed the economic
benefits expected to be received from the contract.
Provisions for onerous contracts are measured at the present
value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the
contract and the net cost of continuing with the contract.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Construction contracts (continued)

The Group’s construction contracts normally include
payment schedules which require stage payments over the
construction period once milestones are reached. These
payment schedules prevent the build-up of significant
contract assets. The Group also typically agrees to a one to
two years retention period for 5% to 10% of the contract
value. This amount is included in contract assets until the
end of the retention period as the Group’s entitlement to
this final payment is conditional on the satisfaction of the
service quality by the customers over a certain period as
stipulated in the contracts.

Sales of aquatic products

Revenue from sale of aquatic products is recognised at the
point when the control of the goods is transferred to the
customers (generally on delivery of aquatic products and
acceptance by the customer). The Group requires certain
customers to provide upfront deposits ranging from 10%
to 100% of total contract sum as part of its credit risk
management policies and this has resulted in a contract
liability at early stages.

Rendering of research and development services
Revenue from rendering of research and development
services is recognised at a point in time when the
research and development project is completed upon
acknowledgement by the customer. During the year, the
Group rendered gene sequencing services in accordance
with the customer’s specification on certain marine
creatures.

Variable consideration

For the consideration promised in a contract includes sales
rebates, the Group estimates the amount of consideration
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the promised goods to a customer.

The Group estimates an amount of variable consideration by
using either the expected value method or the most likely
amount method, depending on which method the Group
expects to better predict the amount of consideration to
which it will be entitled.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Variable consideration (continued)

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included
in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly
probable that such an inclusion will not result in a significant
revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating its
assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration
is constrained) to represent faithfully the circumstances
present at the end of the reporting period and the changes
in circumstances during the reporting period.

Leasing

Definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease, at inception of the contract or modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. The Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with
respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee,
except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option) and leases of low
value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the
lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic
basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leasing (continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments that are
not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted by
using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

o fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

o the amount expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of purchase options if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing
the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
(using the effective interest method) and by reducing the
carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leasing (continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

J the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using revised discount
rate.

o the lease payments change due to changes in an
index or rate or a change in expected payment under
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless
the lease payments change is due to a change in a
floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount
rate is used).

o a lease contract is modified and the lease modification
is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount
rate.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of
the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or
before the commencement date and any initial direct costs,
less lease incentives received. Whenever the Group incurs
an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased
asset, restore the site on which it is located or restore the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, provision is recognised and
measured under HKAS 37. The costs are included in the
related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred
to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. They
are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and
useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts
at the commencement date of the lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leasing (continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying
leased assets at the end of the lease term upon exercise
of purchase option, the cost of the relevant right-of-use
assets and the related depreciation and impairment loss are
transferred to property, plant and equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The right-of-
use assets that meet the definition of investment property
are presented within “investment property”.

The Group applies HKAS 36 I/mpairment of Assets to
determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and
accounts for any identified impairment loss.

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor
with respect to some of its machineries. Leases for
which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition or
construction of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or
loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives
of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Payments to the state-managed retirement benefit schemes
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered services entitling them to the contributions.

The Group’s net obligations in respect of long service
payment to its employees on cessation of employment in
certain circumstances under the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance is the amount of future benefits that the
employees have earned in return for their services in the
current and prior periods. The obligation is calculated using
the projected unit credit method, discounted to its present
value and reduced by entitlements accrued under the
Group's retirement plans that are attributed to contributions
made by the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
in respect of salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the
period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange
for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related
service.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation”
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
and interest in an associate, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of each reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of each
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either (i) the
same taxable entity; or (ii) different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences relating to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised
at initial recognition and over the lease terms due to
application of the initial recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes (other than construction in
progress as described below), are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings
When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.
When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided interest
in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment (other than construction
in progress) less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such
properties are classified to the appropriate categories of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation (including properties under
development for such purposes). Investment properties
include leased properties recognised by the Group as right-
of-use asset and leased out under operating lease.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
development are capitalised as part of the carrying amount
of the investment properties under development.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised
so as to write off the cost of investment properties over
their estimated useful lives and after taking into account
of their estimated residual value, using the straight-line
method. An investment property held by the Group as a
right-of-use asset is measured initially at cost in accordance
with HKFRS 16.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and
short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of bank balances
and cash, as defined above, net of outstanding bank
overdrafts.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the cost of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured
in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. The Group’s financial assets are classified
as financial assets at amortised cost and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL").

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

J the contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
(continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment.

(i)

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument
and of allocating interest income over the relevant
period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated
credit impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are
credit impaired on initial recognition), the effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) excluding expected
credit losses, through the expected life of the debt
instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument
on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount
at which the financial asset is measured at initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between that initial amount
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before
adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for debt instruments measured
subsequently at amortised cost. For financial assets
other than purchased or originated credit impaired
financial assets, interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit
impaired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial asset at FVTPL

Financial asset that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") is measured at FVTPL.
Specifically, investment in equity instrument is classified
as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity
investment that is neither held for trading nor a contingent
consideration arising from a business combination as at
FVTOCI on initial recognition.

Financial asset at FVTPL is measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss to the extent it is not part
of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in the other
gains and losses line item. Fair value is determined in the
manner described in note 6.

Impairment of financial assets, contract assets and financial
guarantee contracts

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
investments in debt instruments that are measured
at amortised cost, contract assets as well as financial
guarantee contracts. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. The expected credit
losses on these financial assets are estimated using a
provision matrix based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date, including time value of
money where appropriate.

For all other financial assets measured at amortised cost,
the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECL, unless when there has a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increase in the likelihood
or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets, contract assets and financial
guarantee contracts (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at
the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

J existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

J an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets, contract assets and financial
guarantee contracts (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i)
the financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term, and iii) adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer term may,
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk when
the asset has external credit rating of ‘investment grade’
in accordance with the globally understood definition or if
an external rating is not available, the asset has an internal
rating of ‘performing’.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for
the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a
significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition
of a financial guarantee contract, the Group considers the
changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on
the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets, contract assets and financial
guarantee contracts (continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet
either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
debtor; or
o information developed internally or obtained from

external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that
a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

J significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

J it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets, contract assets and financial
guarantee contracts (continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
The measurement of expected credit losses is a function
of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure
at default. The assessment of the probability of default
and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information. As for the exposure at
default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’
gross carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial
guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount
drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any
additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the
future by default date determined based on historical trend,
the Group's understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated
as the difference between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed, the expected loss allowance is the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it
incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to receive
from the holder, the debtor or any other party.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets, contract assets and financial
guarantee contracts (continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
(continued)

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the
previous reporting period, but determines at the current
reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no
longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting
date, except for assets for which simplified approach was
used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another

party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable
is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost
Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent consideration
of an acquirer in a business combination, 2) held-for-
trading, or 3) designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a
financial liability.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payments when due in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by a group entity are
initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated
as at FVTPL and do not arise from a transfer of a financial
asset, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

J the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in
accordance with the revenue recognition policies.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred
or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to
settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material). When some or all
of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are
expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable
is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, intangible
assets and right-of-use assets (other than
goodwill)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
investment properties, intangible assets and right-of-
use assets to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (“CGU") to which the asset belongs. When reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGU, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation can be
identified.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, intangible
assets and right-of-use assets (other than
goodwill) (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the CGU) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of CGUs, including the carrying
amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of CGUs, with the recoverable
amount of the group of CGUs. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to
the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the CGU) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or the CGU)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
as income immediately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for the Group’s share-
based payment transactions and leasing transactions,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the
asset or liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or
by selling it to another market participant that would use
the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs. Specifically, the Group categorised the fair value
measurements into three levels, based on the characteristics
of inputs, as follow:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in
active markets for identical assets or

liabilities.

Level 2 —  Valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is directly

or indirectly observable.

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is

unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value
hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at
fair value on recurring basis by reviewing their respective
fair value measurement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses
reported and disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

Accounting for construction contracts

The Group recognises revenue according to the
management’s estimation of the total outcome of the
project as well as the percentage of completion of
construction works under the input method. When
determining the total budgeted costs, management
makes reference to information such as current or recent
offers from subcontractors and suppliers and estimation
on material costs, labour costs and other costs for the
completion of the projects provided by its internal quantity
surveyors. Notwithstanding that the management reviews
and revises the estimates of both contract revenue and costs
for the construction contract as the contract progresses, the
actual outcome of the contract in terms of its total revenue
and costs may be higher or lower than the estimates and
this will affect the revenue, cost and profit recognised.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Impairment loss on trade receivables, contract
assets, deposits and other receivables, loan to
an associate and loan and interest receivable

The impairment provisions for trade receivables, contract
assets, deposits and other receivables, loan to an associate
and loan and interest receivable are based on assumptions
about ECL. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the number of days that an individual
receivable is outstanding as well as the Group’s historical
experience and forward-looking information at the end
of the reporting period. Changes in these assumptions
and estimates could materially affect the result of the
assessment and it may be necessary to make additional
impairment charge to the profit or loss. At 31 March
2021, the carrying amounts of trade receivables, contract
assets, deposits and other receivables, loan to an associate
and loan and interest receivable are approximately
HK$142,658,000 (2020: HK$150,693,000), HK$115,373,000
(2020: HK$156,525,000), HK$31,536,000 (2020:
HK$53,089,000), HK$21,527,000 (2020: HK$19,224,000)
and HK$10,753,000 (2020: nil) respectively.

Impairment loss on interest in an associate

In determining whether the Group’s interest in an associate
is impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable
amount. Impairment assessment had been carried out
at the end of the reporting period on the interest in an
associate with reference to the investee company’s financial
performance, financial position and cash flows of the
underlying investment and comparable industry information.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, no
impairment is considered necessary. As at 31 March 2021,
the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in an associate
is approximately HK$68,158,000 (2020: HK$42,252,000).
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Impairment loss on financial guarantee contracts
The directors of the Company use their judgement in
selecting an appropriate valuation technique for the
guarantee contracts, and assumptions included the
probability of default by the specified counterparty and an
analysis of the counterparty’s current and future financial
position.

As at 31 March 2021, the contingent liabilities from
the guarantees in respect of zero coupon bond in
favor of holder of the bond issued by the Group's
associate and guarantees in respect of performance
bonds in favor of its clients amounted to nil (2020:
approximately HK$59,582,000) and HK$47,795,000 (2020:
HK$97,871,000) respectively. Further details about the
guarantee contracts are set out in note 40.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, investment properties and right-of-
use assets

Property, plant and equipment, investment properties and
right-of-use assets are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining whether
an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement
and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether
an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the case
of value in use, the net present value of future cash flows
which are estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the assets belongs.

The future cash flow is estimated based on past
performance and expectation for market development,
including but not limited to the impacts of COVID-19
pandemic. As the current environment is uncertain, the
estimated cash flows and discount rate are subject to higher
degree of estimation uncertainty. Changing the assumptions
and estimates, including the discount rates or the growth
rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amounts.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, investment properties and right-of-
use assets (continued)

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment, investment properties and right-
of-use assets were approximately HK$206,674,000,
HK$134,857,000 and HK$3,910,000 (2020:
HK$197,927,000, nil and HK$8,126,000) respectively. No
impairment loss has been recognised in respect of the
property, plant and equipment, investment properties right-
of-use assets for both years.

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

The Group depreciates the property, plant and equipment
over their estimated useful life and after taking into account
of their estimated residual values, using the straight line
method. The estimated useful life reflects the directors’
estimate of the periods that the Group intends to derive
future economic benefits from the use of the Group's
property, plant and equipment. The residual values reflect
the directors’ estimated amount that the Group would
currently obtain from disposal of the assets, after deducting
the estimated costs of disposal, if the assets were already
of the age and in the condition expected at the end of
its useful life. As at 31 March 2021, the carrying values
of property, plant and equipment are approximately
HK$206,674,000 (2020: HK$197,927,000).

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible
assets

Determining whether goodwill and other intangible assets
are impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable
amount which is the higher of fair value less cost to sell
and value in use of the cash-generating units to which
goodwill and other intangible assets have been allocated.
The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash
flows are less than expected, a material impairment loss
may arise. As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amounts
of goodwill and other intangible assets are approximately
HK$8,242,000 (2020: HK$14,810,000) and HK$2,050,000
(2020: HK$2,616,000) respectively, net of accumulated
impairment loss of HK$7,346,000 (2020: nil) and nil. Details
of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note
19.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Fair value of biological assets

As described in note 22, the directors of the Company use
their judgements and estimates in determining the fair value
of biological assets. The fair values are determined with
reference to the market-determined prices of items with
similar age, breed and genetic merit. The carrying amount
of biological assets as at 31 March 2021 was approximately
HK$11,406,000 (2020: HK$20,722,000). Details of the
assumptions used are disclosed in note 22. The directors of
the Company believe that the chosen valuation techniques
and assumptions are appropriate in determining the fair
value of biological assets.

Allowance for inventories

The management reviews the inventory ageing analysis on
a periodical basis in order to determine whether allowance
need to be made in respect of any obsolete and defective
inventories identified, and estimate the net realisable
value based primarily on the latest sales unit prices, sales
contracts and current market conditions. As at 31 March
2021, the carrying amount of inventories was approximately
HK$30,258,000 (2020: HK$19,835,000). No allowance for
inventories was recognised for both years.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank and
other borrowings disclosed in note 34, amount due to
a related company disclosed in note 35, lease liabilities
disclosed in note 17, bank balances and cash disclosed in
note 31, and equity attributable to the owners of Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. Based on the
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-
backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption
of existing debt.
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. €@ ITH
Categories of financial instruments SRMIANSHE
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Financial assets ScRMEE
At amortised cost (including bank LA 8 B AR 51 7R
balances and cash) (BERITEH R
BE) 407,778 374,690
At fair value through profit or loss ERAFEFAER 993 1,012
Financial liabilities EA- =N
Financial liabilities stated at AR AT R &
amortised cost AR 337,742 339,804

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include
unlisted debt security, loan to an associate included
in interest in an associate, trade receivables, retention
receivables included in contract assets, deposits and other
receivables, loan and interest receivable, bank balances
and cash, trade and retention payables, accruals and other
payables, amount due to a related company and bank and
other borrowings. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments included credit risk, market risk
(currency risk and interest rate risk) and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Market risk

(1)

Currency risk

Each individual group entity has its own functional
currency. Foreign exchange risk to each individual
group entity arises when future commercial
transactions or recognised assets or liabilities are
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s
functional currency. The Group operates mainly in
Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC").

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities
at the reporting date are as follows:

6. @I EHE®m
BHREMEEEERBRE(H)

% B

(1)

B

BEEENEEEEHAA
CHEER - ERRNE
ERHACERNWEELA
EUGFERIEERNEE
AHER EREERBSEL
SNERER  AEEEBREF
BRhEARLME(THE]

Mk
=1
K& o

RIREHE  REEBEUIE
ATEMEBEEREEARE
MEEEENT :

Assets Liabilities
EE =R

2021 2020 2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETIT BETT BETT
us$ ETT 279 294 - -
GBP HEE 65,504 67,519 - -
RMB AR 244 181 - -
JPY S| - - - 6,952

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

7N £ B B Al 3 £ S 8 R I
KoM  EEESEREI
ERR TEERERFER
HHEKRIINERR
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(1)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to US$, GBP and RMB
and JPY.

The following table details the Group's sensitivity
to a 5% (2020: 5%) increase and decrease in HK$
against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2020:
5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items, and
adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting
period for a 5% (2020: 5%) change in foreign
currency rates.

A positive (negative) number below indicates an
increase (a decrease) in post-tax profit where HK$
strengthen 5% against the relevant currency. For a
5% weakening of HK$ against the relevant currency,
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the
profit or loss.

ERIAm
BEEREEEERBE (A
FEERB ()
() EEE R ()
B ST
AEBFEEEEET - B

ARBEERERRE

TR A S E BB R E
8 H) & 32 0 Om 5% (2020
F:5%)MBURE © 5% (2020
F:5R)INBRAEEEE A
B IR & INE R R B AT E B Y
BRERELR  IEEEREBYHI
EE%W%ET@EZ&Z%
He MREDNEBRELRE
BROINETESEEER I
B R 45 B R gt 1 T R (L
5% (20204 : 5%) ¥ & H #

B o
Ea

THMIE(R)BFRTERR
HEEBAESS KRR
FIE 0 OBk ) - 2078 %5 34 408
ERRESY MeHBEE
ERSHHEARTE -

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Effect on post-tax profit HHBRBBEINHEE
uss$ 7T (12) (12)
GBP S (2,735) (2,819)
RMB AR (10) (8)
JPY H & = 290
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate lease liabilities and
bank borrowings (see notes 17 and 34 for details).
The Group currently does not have an interest
rate hedging policy. However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
other necessary action when significant interest rate
exposure is anticipated.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to bank balances and variable-rate
bank borrowing (see notes 31 and 34 respectively). It
is the Group’s policy to keep its borrowing at floating
rate of interests so as to minimise the fair value
interest rate risk.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group’s cash flow interest
rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR").

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the end of the reporting
period. The analysis is prepared assuming the
financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year. A 10 basis points (2020: 10 basis points)
increase or decrease is used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 10 basis points (2020: 10
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year
ended 31 March 2021 would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$66,000 (2020: HK$98,000). This is
mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest
rates on its pledged bank deposits, bank balances and
variable-rate bank borrowing.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties
and guarantees provided by the Group is arising from the
carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the amount of contingent liabilities in relation
to guarantees issued by the Group is disclosed in note 40.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the end
of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the Group's
credit risk is significantly reduced.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the
loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the
ECL on an individual basis for customer with significant
balances and/or collectively by using a provision matrix,
estimated based on historical credit loss experience, as well
as the general economic conditions of the industry in which
the debtors operate.

For loan to an associate, loan and interest receivable, the
Group determines the ECL on an individual basis, estimated
based on historical credit loss experience, as well as the
general economic conditions of the industry in which
the debtor operates. In addition, the Group reviews the
collectability of zero coupon bonds at the end of each
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts.

The credit risk of other financial assets is managed through
an internal process. The Group closely monitors the
outstanding amounts of other financial assets at amortised
costs and identifies any credit risk in a timely manner in
order to reduce the risk of a credit related loss. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned

by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

The Group's current credit risk grading framework comprises

the following categories:

Category

Performing

Doubtful

Default

Write-off

The credit quality of the Group’s financial assets, contract
assets and financial guarantee contracts, as well as the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk

Description

For financial assets where there

has low risk of default or
has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since
initial recognition and that are
not credit impaired (refer to
as Stage 1)

For financial assets where

there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since
initial recognition but that are
not credit impaired (refer to
as Stage 2)

Financial assets are assessed

as credit impaired when one
or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows
of that asset have occurred
(refer to as Stage 3)

There is evidence indicating

that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and

the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery

grades are disclosed in respective notes.

Basis for
recognising
ECL

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL
- not credit
impaired

Lifetime ECL —
credit impaired

Amount is
written off
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk (continued)

The carrying amount of the Group’'s financial asset at
FVTPL as disclosed in note 23 best represents its respective
maximum exposure to credit risk. The Group holds no
collateral over the balance.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 30% (2020:
15%) and 68% (2020: 50%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group's largest debtor and the five largest
debtors respectively.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is in Hong Kong, which accounted for 57% (2020:
65%) of the total trade receivables as at 31 March 2021.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowing and obligations under finance leases and ensures
compliance with loan covenants.

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group had not
breached any of the covenant clauses of its borrowings
(note 34).

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities
based on the agreed repayment terms. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of the
banks choosing to exercise their rights within one year
after the reporting date. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows
are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derive from
interest rate at the end of the reporting period.
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@I A%
BHREMEEEERBRE(H)

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.
Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued) TEBELEE(E)

Within 1 Total
yearor 1t02 2to5 Morethan undiscounted  Carrying
on demand years years 5 years cash flows amount

1ERE AEBRSE
Liquidity table RBESR BER 1228 2%5F BiBSE REAE BHEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETr BETn B%Tn BETrn BE®TT BETn

At 31 March 2021 ®2021%3A31A
Trade and retention payables BHRMFERENRES 137,827 - - - 137,827 137,827
Accruals and other payables EEERREMENTRE 36,237 - - - 36,237 36,237
Amount due to a related company & — BB B 4 Al 3R 9,847 = = = 9,847 9,847
Bank and other borrowings (note ) SR 1T R E & (42 129,067 4,630 25,653 = 159,350 153,831
Financial quarantee contract BBEREND 47,795 = = = 47,795 -
360,773 4,630 25,653 = 391,056 337,742
Lease liabilities MEAE 15,548 16,328 45,133 105,287 182,296 138,735
At 31 March 2020 R2020%3H31H
Trade and retention payables ZHRATBERERRES 99,134 - - - 99,134 99,134
Accruals and other payables EHERRAMENRE 44,652 - - - 44,652 44,652
Bank and other borrowings (note ) $RAT R E it & (42 197,871 - - - 197,871 196,018
Financial guarantee contract BHBEREN 157,453 - - - 157,453 -
499,110 - - - 499,110 339,804
Lease liabilities BERE 585 1,000 1,569 39 8,923 8,398
Notes: Hit

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are

BB W B B IR RARITRE

included in the “within one year or on demand” time BEREXRBHESMEAFAI—
band in the above maturity analysis. At 31 March 2021, FAHIR BRI R & o 72021

the aggregate undiscounted principal amount of the bank
borrowings amounted to approximately HK$77,066,000 (2020:
HK$146,558,000). Taking into account the Group’s financial
position, the directors of the Company do not believe that
it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary
rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors of the
Company believe that the bank borrowings will be repaid by
monthly installments after the end of the reporting period in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements. At that time, the aggregate principal and
interest cash outflows will amount to HK$79,053,000 (2020:
HK$150,067,000).

F3A318 - RITIEBEZARBBE AL
& # 4 7 77,066,0007T (2020
£ 1 78 #146,558,0007T) ° & & 2
AEENTERR  ARREST
TRBBITAREITEERNBREEX
BB EE - AARESFHERITE
BB ERIGHEAEEEE
HERmEAREEGAYHEE -
B AL BBEEAERSHREE
& 7 #79,053,0007T (20204 : /&
#150,067,0007T) °
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Notes: (continued)

ii. The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.

The amounts included above for guarantee contracts
are the maximum amounts the Group could be required
to settle under the arrangement for the full guaranteed
amount if that amount is claimed by the counterparty
to the guarantee. Based on expectations at the end of
the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more
likely than not that no amount will be payable under the
arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to change
depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming
under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood
that the financial receivables held by the counterparty which
are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

Fair value measurement objective and policies
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis using
prices or rates from observable current market transactions
as input. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the
management establishes the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs for fair value measurement.
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@I A%
BHREMEEEERBRE(H)

REBELEE(E)
Wit (%)

i EBRIER B RN R T
BRI AR - BB R A
FEEMAENIDAETASS
THEHE -

NEREREBOFTANETELSR
HFTHRRERTBERAEERE
RHABNZ2BERNEREER
RERBEHRNEY  AKER
REAIEHARBLIEINERNE
B oo M WEGEFRIHEHF IR
BRERREHBAROTEUETNE M
SERTRE M RIAR TR E F AT
BERNERBUAEGORIEER
BimE e

RTPEFEEREREE
TREELEREBENAFEIR
BARTEEEN  REERERX
ABERBEMERZNELSBAH
BOMARSRENNTMETE °
BAESE-QBAZRE  AIERE
&% M@ 2 e E R Mt A BUE
AEATHE-
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mEMBRRMHE

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurement objective and policies
(continued)

Fair value of financial assets that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period for recurring measurement, grouped
into Level 1 to 3 based on degree to which the fair value is
observable in accordance to the Group’s accounting policy.

£RT A
ATEHEEERKE(E)

BEBERELUNFEIABZEHE
EZRFE

TREH‘REMIAZDW - HiEH
REHEAERSBEHRRZAFE
AFEURBASESHERRER
RFEABEREIBEENBERE R
EE=f o

31 March
3A31H
2021 2020
Level 3 Level 2
E=4& =Rl
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T 7T T
Financial asset at FVTPL RAFEITFABERZN
EHMEE
Unlisted equity investment in REIIE ETRERE
the PRC 993 1,012

As at 31 March 2021, the directors of the Company
determine that, for the unlisted equity investment in the
PRC, valuation under market approach to determine the fair
value is considered as more appropriate method to reflect
the latest financial performance of the unlisted equity
investment in the PRC. Hence, there has been a change in
level of fair value hierarchy from level 2 to level 3 in the
current year.

R20219F3A318 » KRARIEERTE
MPBEELTREREMS @ RIB
M ERETHENE TR FERR
BREPEIEETRERE &S
PHERBENESGERE - Bt A
FEEARTFERE_QRERE
= -
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mEMBRRMHE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. €I Ew
Fair value measurement objective and policies AFEFEEEREKX(E)
(continued)
Fair value of financial assets that are measured at fair BEEEEUAFHEHITEZZHE
value on a recurring basis (continued) EZRFE(E)
The valuation techniques and inputs used in the fair value TRINAEEMEEEANESRE
measurement of the financial assets on a recurring basis EZRAFEMERACHERERE
are set out below: A B -
Relationship
of key inputs
Valuation Significant and significant
Fair value technique and unobservable unobservable
Financial instrument Fair value as at hierarchy key inputs inputs inputs to fair value
IEHAUBREX
HEEHREE EAFABE TABRERAHER
$RIA RTIASH2ATE ATPEER WAHE WAHE ATEZENEE
31/3/2021 31/3/2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
Unlisted equity investment in 993 1,012 Level 3 (2020: Market approach (i) Enterprise value (i) The higher the
the PRC Level 2) - by applying ("EV")-to-earnings EV-to-EBIT ratio,
REFEETRERE E=1(2020F market before interest and the higher the fair
E-4) multiples from taxation (“EBIT") value.
comparable ratio of 39.5; and () EEEHREH
companies and () (REEE(LEE MaMNAS 2
adjusted by B HB e A TEAS-
marketability B ((RERAR
discount M) EA395: (ii) The higher of
W57 & marketability
-BBERT discount, the
BHEDFES (i) Marketability lower the fair
mHEERE discount of value.
BEHEE 15.8% (i) FHRBERRE
fELAE (i) TR B R E A& ATER
515.8% f&-
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurement objective and policies
(continued)

Fair value of financial assets that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based
on the exposure to unobservable inputs at the end of
the reporting period. For sensitivity analysis purpose, the
sensitivity rate is increased to 10% in current year as a result
of the volatile financial market.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, if the EV-to-EBIT ratio
of the unlisted equity investment in the PRC had been 10%
higher/lower, profit for the year would increase/decrease
by approximately HK$94,000 while total equity would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$94,000 as a result
of the changes in fair value of financial asset at FVTPL.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, if the marketability
discount of the unlisted equity investment in the PRC had
been 10% higher/lower, profit for the year would decrease/
increase by approximately HK$18,000 while total equity
would decrease/increase by approximately HK$18,000 as
a result of the changes in fair value of financial asset at
FVTPL.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of
financial assets and financial liabilities on recurring basis are
as follows:

€@ T AW
ATEHEEERKE (8

BEBERELUNFEIABZEHE
EZRFHEE)

TXHEREIMIERREHR
MR BRGARBRERMEE -

RERELNME AR ERTH S
KB BMBERELERAEE LT+
£10% °

HE2021F38318IEFE - PR
FEMBEREEANTEBEYRE
RATEF LR EFT10%  H
PR FEFABSEZEREEY
NEEES  WERERBEEMN,
D #9785 94,0007 + T AERE S S
#hn A 49 7 #94,0007T ©

HE2021F3831BILEE - £FEH
JE_ETH AR IR B Y B 8E I T R 0
m/ R A10% r BRBEAFERA
BavemEELATEES
HUE AN i R AR D1 0 4
18,0007T + T 42 f% 78 15 8k 48 A0
%) 75 #18,0007T °

NEEHEEERE=ZRATES
EVeRmEEESRBAEZHEN
T

Unlisted equity
investment in

the PRC

FEIELET

RERE

HK$'000

7T T

At 1 April 2020 1202054818 -
Transfer into of level 3 EEE-L 1,012
Changes in fair value through profit or loss FFABEZ s AFESE (102)
Exchange realignment E H 3 & 83
At 31 March 2021 20214638318 993

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of other financial assets, and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate to their fair values.

ARBEERR  NEEMBHRRK
NRBHERAARNEM SR EE
kemaEnREEREATFER

“++

E o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.

Revenue

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:

sk o EHER
W &=

AEBNFRARDEINET

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T 7T T
Revenue from contracts with BERMKHREEREISH
customers within the scope of HEANEEEH KR
HKFRS 15
Disaggregated by major products or EXTEZEERIBRBED
services lines o
- Construction revenue under -EREMEARTE
foundation and other civil works BTIzEERR 769,396 699,299
- Construction revenue under -BREITRIE T ZEE
tunneling works I 2= 94,469 83,453
- Sales of fishes -HER 80,242 125,968
— Sales of crabs - HE®E 11,385 10,101
— Sales of shrimps - HE R 50,668 61,232
- Rendering of research and - R ERSE
development services 50,293 -
1,056,453 980,053
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WERkRoHER @

(continued)

Revenue (continued) Uz (48)
Set out below is the reconciliation of revenue from contracts TREINREEEFRFT LA Z
with customers with the amounts disclosed in the segment KRB HERRBE B 2H
information. AR o
For the year ended 31 March 2021 HZE2021F3831ALLFE
Segments
2
Breeding,
sales and
trading of
aquatic
Foundation products
and other  Tunneling and related
civil works works services Total
KEEE
CHER
hER H EZUR
tAIE BEIR A B8 IR 7% @it

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BTz BETR BETx

Types of goods or service Emak R ER
Construction revenue under WEREMEATRET

foundation and other civil works ZEE W 769,396 - - 769,396
Construction revenue under BRETITBRBET EEkKE

tunneling works - 94,469 - 94,469
Sales of fishes HER = - 80,242 80,242
Sales of crabs HEE = = 11,385 11,385
Sales of shrimps HER - - 50,668 50,668
Rendering of research and 1R LA 2 R 75

development services = = 50,293 50,293

Total revenue from contracts with HRBPHMAIVANZEA
customers g 769,396 94,469 192,588 1,056,453
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.

(continued)

Wz koHER @

Revenue (continued) Uz (48)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 E £2020F3A31HILFE
Segments
o
Breeding,
sales and
trading of
aquatic
Foundation products
and other Tunneling  and related
civil works works services Total
KEERE
CIHEN
i 5 T H Al kBSk
TARIRE MBI 18 8 AR 75 et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
Types of goods or service Emak R ER
Construction revenue under WEREMEIARTRET
foundation and other civil works ZEE W 699,299 - - 699,299
Construction revenue under BRETITBRBET EEkKE
tunneling works - 83,453 - 83,453
Sales of fishes HER - - 125,968 125,968
Sales of crabs HER - - 10,101 10,101
Sales of shrimps & 1R - - 61,232 61,232
Total revenue from contracts with BEPHIIVEHN 28
customers I 2% 699,299 83,453 197,301 980,053
Disaggregation of revenue by timing of recognition 12 5 B 8 58 B WK 25 7 #F
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
A point in time KB 192,588 197,301
Over time W B R 863,865 782,752
Total revenue from contracts with HEPMEILEHZ
customers B 1,056,453 980,053
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations

As at 31 March 2021, the aggregate amount of transaction
price allocated to the performance obligations that are
unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) is approximately HK$586
million (2020: HK$919 million). The amount represents
revenue expected to be recognised in the future from
construction contracts. The Group will recognise this
revenue as the relevant performance obligation on the
construction contract is satisfied, which is expected to occur
over the next 12-22 months.

Segment information

Information reported to the chief executive officer
("CEOQ"), being the chief operating decision maker, for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods sold and services
provided. The directors of the Company have chosen
to organise the Group around differences in goods and
services. No operating segments identified by the chief
operating decision maker have been aggregated in arriving
at the reportable segments of the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
commenced to engage in the business of sub-leasing of
premises segment, with the objective to generate rental
income from sub-leasing of its premises in the PRC and it is
considered a new operating and reportable segment by the
chief operating decision maker. No sub-leasing agreement
was signed during the year ended 31 March 2021.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments are as follows:

1. Foundation and other civil works
2. Tunneling works;

3. Breeding, sales and trading of aquatic products and
related services; and

4. Sub-leasing of premises

7.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

Wz koHER @

TEHRERTEANEEZRSZE
%

R2021F3A318B DB EXREIT
(KEDPRBITZBHEEZRS
ER 4% A4 B E586H & (2020
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.

(Continued)

Segment revenues and results
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and
results by reportable and operating segments.

Wz koHER @

DK EREE
UNTREA2REEEDF B D
AEB W= R EEDT

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B E2021F3A31ALFE

Breeding,

sales and

trading of

aquatic

Foundation products

and other  Tunneling and related
civil works works services Total

KEERE

CHER

B H At BEZUR
tAIR BEIR 16 B8 IR % @st
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BETT BETT

REVENUE U 22

External segment revenue HNEB Mt 25 769,396 94,469 192,588 1,056,453
Segment profit 2 8 A 90,481 8,918 29,873 129,272
Unallocated income KA BEKA 46,088
Unallocated expenses RABEHZ (139,357)
Unallocated finance costs RO BRE KA (10,158)
Share of profit of an associate DME—HEEE AR 19,024
Profit before taxation BB A& A 44,869
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.

(Continued)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

Wz koHER @

ol E R EEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 E £2020F3A31HILFE
Breeding,
sales and
trading of
aquatic
Foundation products
and other Tunneling  and related
civil works works services Total
KEETE
CHER
& R EHAM B K
TARITRE BEIRE RS st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BEFT BETT BT
REVENUE Iy %

External segment revenue HNER IR 7 699,299 83,453 197,301 980,053
Segment profit 5 BB % 7 76,498 28,694 17,648 122,840
Unallocated income KABEA 45,803
Unallocated expenses ROBHAX (133,562)
Unallocated finance costs RO BRVE B AR (7,576)
Share of profit of an associate DME—HEEE AR 1,175
Profit before taxation B B A& A 28,680

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in
note 3. Segment profit represents the profit earned by
each segment without allocation of administrative and
other expenses, selling and distribution expenses, directors’
salaries, finance costs and other income and gain. This is the
measure reported to the CEO for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

e BH IR BN E3m
AEBEFTBRMAR - 2 8@
B0 B I B 0 BT B e B At B
XCHERDEAX EFEHT
B E AR R E A WA R M as B B
TRTEREREDEN o W IEEETE
RO RKZRFEMEITRER 2
W TTE
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.

(Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

Wz koHER @

THMEERER

T RAEBRATZ2HELED B

liabilities by reportable and operating segments: S EBEERBES:
Segment assets S EEE
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Foundation and other civil works HE K E M AR TR 209,843 276,782
Tunneling works BriE TH2 36,712 32,856
Breeding, sales and trading of KEERHE  HELKES
aquatic products and related A K2 48 8 AR 5
services 285,970 255,705
Sub-leasing of premises S E 134,857 ~
Total segment assets D ERE E 4R 667,382 565,343
Corporate and other unallocated NRAIREMAKDBELEE
assets 298,583 229,391
Total assets BEME 965,965 794,734
Segment liabilities D EEE
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Foundation and other civil works R K HE 4 R T2 81,409 86,730
Tunneling works B iE T 72 5,417 4,438
Breeding, sales and trading of KEEHE  HELKES
aquatic products and related A K2 48 88 AR 75
services 112,373 90,144
Sub-leasing of premises oY 134,857 -
Total segment liabilities DECEE B 334,056 181,312
Corporate and other unallocated NRAIRAEMARD AR
liabilities 188,100 228,372
Total liabilities BiEHER 522,156 409,684
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WERkRoHER @

(Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) PTHEEREME(E)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and RERSHEXRBARRSEREOREE
allocating resources between segments: RERME:

138

1.

All assets are allocated to operating segments, other
than interest in an associate, loan to an associate,
financial asset at FVTPL, certain plant and equipment,
other non-current assets, loan and interest
receivables, bank balance and cash, tax recoverable,
certain deposits, prepayments and other receivables,
other current assets, right-of-use assets and deferred
tax assets. Assets used jointly by reportable segments
are allocated on the basis of the revenues earned by
individual reportable segments; and

All liabilities are allocated to operating segments,
other than certain trade payables, certain accrual
and other payables, bank and other borrowings, tax
payable, long service payment obligations, amount
due to a related company, certain lease liabilities and
deferred tax liabilities. Liabilities for which reportable
segments are jointly liable are allocated in proportion
to segment assets.

BREZ QAR e
REREMER BAFE
FFABREMEREE AT
WEEERRB EMMFERPE
E-REEREME - RIT
@ kRe  AJHEFRE -
ETRE AENREREAM
JEWRIE - HtbREEE -
ERAREERECHBAEE
S FTBEEASETHEE
D Eb o A2 D AR E B
MEERBMENATZHRD H
A W DB K

BRETESENFRE ET
FEET B B K H b FE A FRR
RITREMEE - BIHRE
REIRS € &I - EFTRRE
REIFE - EHETHEAER
EXEHRBRAEN  MBERAE
BOETEEDH - KAI2
BoMARAENABIRR
DEVEER LI D B
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7.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. Wz K 5 ZBE R (@)
(Continued)
Other segment information Hit 5 HEF
Breeding,
sales and
trading of
aquatic
Foundation products
and other  Tunneling and related Sub-leasing
civil works works services of premises Unallocated Total
XEEE
CHER
BEREM E5UR
TAIR RBEBEIR 18R 2EME AAE @i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETR BETT BETT BETR BETT
Year ended 31 March 2021 H 22021534318
LFE
Amounts included in the measure BEEFHEIPEAR
of segment profit or segment AHEENSE:
assets:
Gain from changes in fair value of ENBEEATEE
biological assets less costs to BrWaEREE
sell KA = = (8,623) = - (8,623)
Depreciation and amortisation nEREH 12,527 2,873 14,990 - 16,137 46,527
Additions to non-current assets REXRDEE 18,394 5,984 48,590 134,857 1,550 209,375
Amounts regularly provided to the EHEIELLR%E
chief operating decision maker REBTEEETE
but not included in the measure AHENRIBE
of segment profit or segment EWEH:
assets:
Bank interest income BATRBWA = = = = (429) (429)
Loan interest income ERFERA - - - - (208) (208)
Imputed interest income on bonds FBEFLHE
FE WA - - - - (6,272) (6,272)
Interest income on bonds BEHALSHA = = = = (1,002) (1,002)
Government subsidies B8 = = - - (27,162) (27,162)
Gain on disposal of plant and HEBBRERE
equipment, net Wi 38 - - - - (126) (126)
Share of profit of an associate AE—HBERF
it Al - - = = (19,024) (19,024)
Impairment of goodwill BERE = = = = 7,346 7,346
Impairment of financial assets SREERE = = = = 1,481 1,481
Finance costs BEKAK = = = = 10,158 10,158
Income tax expense EHRX = = - - 6,599 6,599
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.
(Continued)

Wz koHER @

140

Other segment information (Continued) Hith o ME R (E)
Breeding,
sales and
trading of
aquatic
Foundation products
and other Tunneling  and related
civil works works services  Unallocated Total
KEERE
CHER
EREM BH5UR
TARIRE BRETR EERS AR @ir
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT  E%Tn  A¥Tr  A¥Tr BETx
Year ended 31 March 2020 BZ2020838318LEE
Amounts included in the measure of BREEHEIHRARS B
segment profit or segment assets: EENSE:
Gain from changes in fair value of biological EMEEATFEREL
assets less costs to sell o 5 R SR B AR - - (13,196) - (13,196)
Depreciation and amortisation MEREH 10,619 2,435 12,706 13,678 39,438
Additions to non-current assets REFRDEE 36,308 11,811 29,759 5,033 82,91
Amounts regularly provided to the chief EHRTEREARERM
operating decision maker but not BREFEFES BER
included in the measure of segment ROBEENSE:
profit or segment assets:
Bank interest income FATH BHA - - - (386) (386)
Interest income on bonds &5 FEBA - - - (2,302) (2,302)
Government subsidies R 46 B - - - (9,622) (9,622)
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment, net HERBRERE 2 WA
Fi - - - (296) (296)
Share of profit of an associate SE—BEEAR 2T - - - (1,175) (1,175)
Impairment of financial assets SREERE - - - 1,996 1,996
Finance costs BEKAR - - - 7,576 7,576
Income tax expense FEREx - - - 6,174 6,174

Yee Hop Holdings Limited & &2 AR A7



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WERkRoHER @
(Continued)

Other segment information (Continued) Hit 5 8 & H (&)
Geographical information 1 I 5 Y
The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong, the PRC AEEBRES TBERFFEARAFE
and the Philippines. & o
Information about the Group’s revenue from external ERAEEREINBEFHRZEH
customers is presented based on the location of the BERREEMTEMER - HBER
operations. Information about the Group’s non-current SEERDEENERNEEEN
assets is presented based on the geographical location of I E 2 -
the assets.
Year ended Year ended
31/3/2021 31/3/2020
BZ2021%F B 220204
3AMBLEE 3A31HILEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Revenue from external customers REINEBEF B =
Hong Kong B 853,502 755,821
The PRC s 192,588 197,301
The Philippines JFEE 10,363 26,931
Total Bt 1,056,453 980,053

Non-current assets*

REBEE*
31/3/2021 31/3/2020
202143 AH31H 20204 3A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Hong Kong B 158,998 114,498
The PRC H 297,077 149,070
The Philippines JEEE 29,281 33,688
485,356 297,256
* Non-current assets exclude financial instruments and deferred * IRDEETRESRIARE
tax assets. EBIBEE -
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. W& K 5 ZE R @)
(Continued)
Other segment information (Continued) Hit 5 8 & H (&)
Information about major customers FTEEFHEH
Revenue from customers of the corresponding year RAEEFE RSB B = ERE
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group BI0% M E Pz T
are as follows:
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BEF T
Company A' ~AE]A 213,599 N/AZ >3 A2
Company B NSILEY 161,324 N/AZ A~ 35 2
Company C' ~Ed 154,977 208,292
Company D’ NS 142,088 N/A? > i F32
Company F' NGIIE N/A? 7 i F? 155,249
! Revenue from both foundation and other civil works and T REMEREMERTERBEET
tunneling works segments. BoME U E -
2 The revenue from that customer was less than 10% during the ? R EHEREZE,PAKE DR
reporting period. 10% -
OTHER INCOME AND GAIN 8. HMtWARWE
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BETT
Government subsidies (note i) BRI 18 Bh (B &) 27,162 9,622
Rental income from equipment JEHEERA
- Lease payments that are fixed - EEHENK 413 516
Fair value (loss) gain on financial asset & AEBZE & @& E M
through profit or loss NFEE(EE) W= (102) 182
Exchange gain, net P& 5 Uk 25 05 38 8,027 3,986
Insurance claim RBe B E 576 461
Bank interest income RITH B A 429 386
Gain on disposal of property, plant ~ HE¥E - 2L &E
and equipment Uz 126 296
Imputed interest income on bonds ERESHZHEENE
WA 6,272 -
Interest income on bonds EE A ISNL PN 1,002 2,302
Gain on disposal of technical B & R T 2 A R
know-how (note i) (K1 aii) - 22,448
Gain on fair value on property, plant #EREWE R 2 -
and equipment in exchange for HWRERFERTFE
loan receivables (note iii) W 2= (47 &t i) - 4,966
Loan interest income BN B A 208 -
Sundry income MIEBA 1,975 638
46,088 45,803
Yee Hop Holdings Limited & &% %A R A7)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

8.

OTHER INCOME AND GAIN (Continued)

Notes:

()

(iii)

Government grant was received in prior year from the
PRC government authorities for the Group’s construction
on laboratories of which an amount of approximately
HK$4,575,000 (2020: HK$7,838,000) was transferred from
deferred income to profit or loss for the year ended 31 March
2021. For the year ended 31 March 2021, government subsidies
amounting to HK$21,074,000 (2020: nil) was received under
the Employment Support Scheme and HK$814,000 (2020:
HK$74,000) was received from Construction Industry Council
as the Anti-epidemic Fund to support eligible construction
company to overcome the challenge from outbreak of
COVID-19. Other government subsidies of approximately
HK$699,000 (2020: HK$1,327,000) were received from the PRC
government authorities for development of agriculture business
without unfulfilled conditions during the year ended 31 March
2021,

For the year ended 31 March 2020, government subsidy
amounting to HK$383,000 (2021: nil) was received under the
"Ex-gratia Payment Scheme for Phasing Out Pre-Euro IV Diesel
Commercial Vehicles” (A ABUEEMEALARTSE A EE RS R
& BT &) upon retirement of certain motor vehicles

For the year ended 31 March 2020, in the course of research
and development activities relating to breeding and cultivation
of aquatic species, the Group incidentally discovered certain
technical know-how of FIR& £ /755 3E and 75 & % BH
BIR## E F A 5. Upon obtaining improved trials and further
development in the current financial year, such technical know-
how was disposed to an independent third party for a cash
consideration of approximately HK$22,448,000 (equivalent to
RMB20,000,000) (2021: nil).

During the year ended 31 March 2020, a number of items
of property, plant and equipment were exchanged for the
loan receivable of approximately HK$18,180,000 (equivalent
to RMB15,576,000) (2021: nil). The cost of such items was
measured at fair value which is based on valuation using
replacement cost model. The key assumptions of the valuation
included residual ratio which reflect the actual remaining useful
lives of such items. Difference between the fair value of such
items and the amount of the loan receivable of approximately
HK$4,966,000 (equivalent to RMB4,424,000) (2021: nil) was
recognised as other income.
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8.

Hm AR =@

Hrét

@)

(i)

(iii)

BB/ AEE—FaREBRMIHM
iR A SEEEREER  H
REZE2021F3A31HILFECAIE
TEW AT A B KB 14,575,0007T
(20204 : # #7,838,0007T) ° &
Z2021F3A31MBIEFE > BT #
B 78 %21,074,0007T (20204F : &)
B 1R gt 2 5T 8 Y B K % 814,000
7T (20204 : 78 #74,00070) B & &
X¥ZCEIEAMEES LAY
A BERESE AR RRCOVID-19/E %
AR PRE - MR OBE
699,0007T (20204 : 781,327,000
TL)EFEBRFHBEAERURE R
2021F3A3 AL FERE R ¥
% o 18 30 8 R EARIE M -

HE20209F3A31MBIEFE 0 BT
# B 78 %383,0007T (20214F : &)
TTREE THRBERRERIEDE
AER B PO HR LA RIS P E T R
EE)at &) YA -

H E2020F3A831HILFE - KA
BKELEYRNIEEREENHIEE
BEREF  REEBEARAFERETREZ
SRR RBERER R RR
REMEFNE TRMEENH -
ARG BFEREETER5H M E
—JSERE ZERMEENH
ThiAIR & REH B 122,448,0007T
(FAZ M A K %20,000,0007T)(2021
FR)VEFT—RBBIALFE=F

#H 202038318 ILEE - # T
M WERRBEEDAREN
75 18,180,000 (18 & M A R ¥&
15,576,0007T) (20214 : &) & & UL
BEX - 2S5 BEENKANIE A FER
2 MAFEMREEAEENKAR
BAREESE - FENEZEZRR
BERGLE WM ERIER
HEBRFGAEAFTH - 258E
MAFEEERKERSEZ BHNE
B 4978 14,966,000t HEERAR
#4,424,00070) (20214 : ) E #
REBEAMA -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

10.

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BMIEMRAK
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T 7T T
Interests on: B
- bank overdraft and bank - RITBEZIRIRITIEE
borrowings 8,496 5,650
— other borrowings - HiEE 1,320 1,402
— lease liabilities -HEAaE 342 524
10,158 7,576
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FIBHAX
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Current year taxation REEBIE
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEEMEFN 5,525 2,929
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") 1 PTI
(EZEmBHl)) = 980
(Over)/under-provision in prior years: {E4 (BB R &),/
BETR:
Hong Kong Profits Tax EENEH (67) 95
Deferred taxation (note 25) IR JE B I8 (7 27 25) 1,141 2,170
6,599 6,174

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of qualifying corporation will be taxed
at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed
at 16.5%. For the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020,
Hong Kong profits tax of the qualified entity of the Group
is calculated in accordance with the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime. The profits of other Group entities in Hong
Kong not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at the flat rate of 16.5%.

ER_AFNEHRMESE - 68K
TENHBE2E B THE M8 FIE
W EE8.25%  HBEEE2BE T
7Y 5 F B A 15 5 R A R816.5% © &
E2021F K 2020F3A31HIEFE -
AEESERERBNDENBHE
B_RFEHEERMNEE - TF
AEANMEMBERSNENRNEET
EBNEMEENEFEEEIRR
16.5% Ky &) — L B BHL o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 10. FTEHBAXZ @)

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25%. Accordingly, provision for PRC EIT for
the PRC subsidiaries is calculated at 25% on the estimated
assessable profit for the year. No PRC EIT has been provided
for the years ended 31 March 2021 as the assessable profits
are absorbed by unrecognised tax losses.

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, a
subsidiary of the Group, RINIFEXBFEREBERAF
(Shenzhen BGI Fisheries Sci & Tech Co., Limited*) (“BGI
Marine”), was recognised as an approved high technology
enterprise and therefore is entitled to a tax concession
period of reduction in EIT rate of 15% from 2019 to 2022.

Subsidiaries of the Group, &/ % K& F R AR AR
and BEESYIBEEEMR AR, were confirmed to be
recognised as an agricultural enterprise and therefore is
entitled to a tax concession of half reduction in EIT rate of
12.5% during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Under the Philippines National Tax Law, the tax rate of the
Philippines subsidiary is 30%. Accordingly, provision for the
Philippines Corporate Tax for the Philippines subsidiary is
calculated at 30% on the estimated assessable profit for the
year. No Philippines Corporate Tax has been provided for the
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 as the Philippines
subsidiary did not have any assessable profits subject to
Philippines Corporate Tax.

* Translation of Chinese name for identification purpose only
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BIEPEAREFMBECEMERH L
(E#EmBREDRDEMSRE
EHEN  PRMNBARNHREA
25% ° H It - R REFE AR AP
B EMSRBEHEERFANGTIER
Bt A B925% 5T & o B £20214F3
A31BLFE BRERT&EANE
AR EEBERIKR - 8 &t
RPBECEMESHBE -

H E20214F K2020%3A31H IE £
B AEEH—HWBARFYIE
KEBFREERAR(GRINEKXRE
FDERERSIEMAZE - b
P2019FEE2022F AR EE

HEZECEMBHEREIS% °

AEBAMBARSMEXGER
RERARLSMESEHEBREESR
RAREREREFLARELE W
It HE A B 20214 K 20204 3R
BNNEEFEZAEREBEEZERRFMT
EATEHE12.5% °

BREFEEERE L FEEEW
BARIMHERAE30% Bt 5t IE
BRENBRAAMIEFERE L ERE
IR F N ET ER B E A #930%
FE - ARIEEEMB AR EE
MAHBNIEERECEROER
i A o A Uk & B 20214 202043
A3BIFEWETIRIFEE N
i o

* XX T O B R AR AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or

10. FRE BB (@)
AEEHERYREABRR
2 T UK 2% 2 F7 8L 0 B AT 3% ) 1 BB 4

Ht

Tax for the years of assessments 2020/2021 and 2019/2020 by
75%, subject to a ceiling of HK$20,000 (2020: HK$20,000).

loss and other comprehensive income as follows: ™
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Profit before taxation Fr Bt A & A 44,869 28,680
Tax calculated at the domestic Hz P15 7% %£16.5%
income tax rate of 16.5% STEMRIE 7,403 4,732
Tax effect on share of result of an Dh—EBE AR EE
associate 2GR (3,139) (194)
Tax effect of income not taxable for i 7 7 E B 7B R i
tax purposes WAZR BT & (5,775) (1,525)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible %% % 75 T “~ A] #0 8
for tax purposes STHZBBEE 1,929 886
(Over)/under-provision in prior years B E (HB5E B )
S BETR (67) 95
Utilisation of tax loss previously not ) f3 i 1E 7 #E 2 &Y
recognised BIAEE (1,069) (863)
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised K 32 i T8 &5 18 19
M E 10,282 4,141
Effect of two-tiers profits tax rates — — A F S5 5 R HIE 89
regime wa (165) (165)
Income tax on concessionary rates EEBRENAEN = (37)
Tax effect of deductible temporary R R 2 A R
difference not recognised ZEHMERE 92 257
Effect of different tax rates of REMBERREE 2
subsidiaries operating in other B ARSI ERE
jurisdictions or subsidiary subject R 2 B
to statutory tax rate TRMEZFE (2,832) (1,092)
Effect of tax exemption granted BEB KR sw 28
(note) (B 7t) (60) (61)
Income tax expense for the year REE 2 FEHRAX 6,599 6,174
Note: Tax exemption represents a reduction of Hong Kong Profits Wi - BIS # % B R20204F 20214 K

20194 /20205 :F Fi F € 1 BR75%
BEEMBH - LR AB20,0007T

(20204 :

Yee Hop Holdings Limited & & 1%}
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 1. FE=RF
Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging: FERMNDEHBRTISIEES:
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T 7T T
Staff costs BT KA
— Salaries and other benefits - EFHe NEMBERN 212,273 182,117
— Retirement benefit scheme - RRE R EH 2 3%
contributions 9,753 8,595
- Provision for long service payment - EHIR# & B 67 46
Total staff costs (excluding directors’ B T#K AR (ZE= 4
remuneration (note 12)) N (BTEE12)) 222,093 190,758
Impairment losses on financial CREERBERSE:
assets:
- trade receivables - B5rEKRIE 815 1,996
— other receivables — H b B Uk 3N IR 107 -
- loan and interest receivable - EWE T MF B 559 -
Total impairment losses on SREEREEIR
financial assets R 1,481 1,996
Amortisation of intangible assets | E#E
(included in cost of revenue) (EF AU 25 AR ZS) 913 896
Depreciation of property, plant and WE - WENEE
equipment e 39,817 31,376
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREESERE 5,797 7,166
Total depreciation and amortisation 37 & % # 44 42 58 46,527 39,438
Auditor’s remuneration % BED B & 1,100 1,030
Cost of inventories recognised as an R ARSI EFEE
expense DN 155,222 191,015
Research and development expenses 22 AR T HIIFEH Y
recognised as an expense (note (i) (B13E0)) 16,345 5,388
Loss on write-off of property, plant  #fis&¥n % - 2B
and equipment HEBE 9 32
Note: B it -
(i) The Group’s research and development costs are mainly (i) REBNHARFAEKAEIE R

H - R RMGESERKEMAEL
WX - BEREFGZSAFIEAL
BERATE RV ZFMERR A E

expenditures incurred for the formulation, design and evaluation
of various aquatic products. Management assessed that those
internal projects are in the research and initial development
stage, and did not capitalise any of those expenditure as an ERMbEMZEZLHAEE  HP
asset, of which approximately HK$13,484,000 was recognised 4975 %13,484,000 0 FE 3R B IR 35 X
in cost of revenue. K o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERITHAE M
EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eight Btk B AR AE NAAL(20204F )\
(2020: eight) directors and the CEO of the Company were M)EBERITRAZOFTEOT
as follows:
Year ended 31 March 2021 BZ2021F3A831B L EE
Executive directors CEO  Independent non-executive directors
HTES THEs Bisufgs
Mr. Leung
Mr. Jim Hung Mr. Wong

Yin Kwan,  Mr. Chui ~ Kwong, Mr.Xu Mr.Yan Mr.lee  Mr. Yu ChiKeung,
Jackin - Mo Ming  Derrick JunMin  ChiTat  Luk Shiu Hon Kwan  Johnny Total
ERBLLE REHLE REXEE REREL BRERE FIRAEE REHEE IFHA4L &t
HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000
B¥Tn RETn EMTn E¥Tn BMTR ENTn B%Tn B%TR ENTR

Emoluments paid or receivable in S BATAART

respect of a person’s services GERBAAMR

as a director, whether of the BESCHRIER

Company or its subsidiary HH

undertaking
Fees ne = = = = = 20 240 240 720
Other emoluments: EtEM:

Salaries e 2,400 1,716 1,230 673 1,356 = = = 1375

Discretionary bonus BERL 400 400 120 - 400 - - - 1,320

Retirement benefit scheme RIVEFIFEIE

contributions 105 65 49 85 n = = = 375

Total FeHy 2,905 2,181 1,399 758 1,827 240 240 240 9,790
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

12. EERTHEARFHFHN &)

Year ended 31 March 2020 H=2020F3A318 LG E
Executive directors CE0 Independent non-executive directors
ks THER BUFNTES
Mr. Leung
Hung Mr. Wong
Mr.Jim Yin - Mr. Chui Kwong, Mr.Xu  Mr. Yan Mr. Lee Mr. Yu  Chi Keung,
Kwan, Jackin -~ Mo Ming Derrick JunMin' ChiTat  Luk Shiu Hon Kwan Johnny Total
ERELE GRARE REXGE RERED BIBEE FHRAEE REEBLE IHRRE @t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BETT A¥Tn BT BT A%t A%Tn BETn B%Tn A%Tx
Emoluments paid or receivable in ~ HEBALRAAF
respect of a person’s services GERBAAMR
as a director, whether of the BEECHTEN
Company or its subsidiary EAl
undertaking
Fees ne - - - - - 240 240 240 720
Other emoluments: HEM:
Salaries e 2330 1,661 1,204 283 1312 - - - 6,790
Discretionary bonus BiEta 400 400 100 - 400 - - - 1,300
Retirement benefit scheme RIVEFIF B
contributions 105 65 49 34 7 - - - 324
Total b 2,835 2126 1353 317 1783 240 240 240 9,134
1 Appointed on 25 October 2019. ! 2019 10A25B EZ £ -
Notes: B2
(i) The discretionary bonus is based on the individual performance (i) MIBEATREBEEEF2EARER

of the directors and the Group’s performance and profitability
and the prevailing market conditions.

(i) Mr. Yan Chi Tat is also the CEO of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered
by him as the chief executive.

(iii) Neither the CEO nor any of the directors waived any
emoluments for both years.
(iv) No emoluments were paid by the Group to any directors and

CEO of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office for both years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

13. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, four (2020: four) of them were directors or the CEO
of the Company whose emoluments are included in note 12
above. The emoluments of the remaining one (2020: one)
individual were as follows:

13. REFMAL

TEBRERSHFMA LS Ef
MAQRO0F - MA)BEARAIES
RITHBH  BENHFHEEZER
SRt FE12 o FI#R— & A £ (2020
F—A)NEFHOT:

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T T T
Salaries, allowances and other Fe EKEM
benefits 1@ A 1,214 1,145
Contributions to retirement benefits R K48 Fll 5T 2l £ 7%
scheme 67 53
1,281 1,198

His emoluments were within the following band

15 2 35 B T3 Bz 70 DA T 86 [

2021 2020
No. of No. of
employees employees
EEHE EE %A
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 75 11,000,001t 2=
75 #1,500,0007T 1 1

14. DIVIDENDS

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no
interim and final dividend has been proposed or paid.

14. RE
#H 220214 K%20204F3A318 Ik 4
€ B HR okR R B KR R HA IR

=1
/Th
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE 15.

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

FR AR
AR E A FEAN ) S AR A
SRR TYRE T 5 Bkt

2021 2020
HK$000 HK$'000
B¥ETT BT T
Earnings B 7
Earnings for the purpose of basic AR ESREREF
earnings per share opshil 49,317 24,580
Number of shares BHOEE ‘000 ‘000
Weighted average number of AR ESREREF
ordinary shares for the purpose of B 00 4 1 E B R
basic earnings per share £ gE| 500,000 500,000

The diluted earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings
per share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares
outstanding during the years ended 31 March 2021 and
2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. ¥ - HERRE

Ownership
interests in
leasehold Machinery
land and Leasehold and Motor Construction
buildings improvement equipment  vehicles  in progress Total
HETHR
BFEH
EEER HEVERE BHARRS RE HEIR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BBTL BETT BBTL
cosT HA
At 1 April 2019 2019647818 24,502 17,302 263,064 20,467 2,961 328,296
Additions wNE 15,159 - 62,353 2,187 2,274 81,973
Transfer L F 156 - 762 - (918) -
Disposals & - - (288) (1,515) - (1,803)
Write-off g - (36) (121) (229) - (386)
Transfer from right-of-use assets ~ EAFREEE
(note 1) (Hiti) - - 1,702 5,924 - 7,626
Exchange realignment EHAE (2,029) (1,067) (3,434) 77 (223) (6,830)
At 31 March 2020 72020434318 37,788 16,199 324,038 26,757 4,094 408,876
Additions wNE - - 26,205 12,853 636 39,694
Disposals HE - - (300) (2,018) - (2,318)
Write-off g - - (138) - - (138)
Exchange realignment EHAR 1,340 3,318 7,886 127 372 13,043
At 31 March 2021 #202143A318 39,128 19,517 357,691 37,719 5,102 459,157
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 2iHE
At 1 April 2019 #201964 718 161 1,874 160,379 14,640 - 177,054
Charge for the year FRFA 1,596 2,722 23,989 3,069 - 31,376
Eliminated on disposals o R 8 - - (288) (1,009) - (1,297)
Eliminated on write-off 8 8 - (22) (115) (217) - (354)
Transfer from right-of-use assets ~ EEAFREEE
(note i) (Wt &) - - 1,305 3,940 - 5,245
Exchange realignment ERAE (250) (156) (634) (35) - (1,075)
At 31 March 2020 202037318 1,507 4,418 184,636 20,388 - 210,949
Charge for the year FRFA 2,994 2,786 29,347 4,690 - 39,817
Eliminated on disposals HE R - - (300) (594) - (894)
Eliminated on write-off W H - - (129) - - (129)
Exchange realignment ERSES 488 434 1,752 66 - 2,740
At 31 March 2021 2021434318 4,989 7,638 215,306 24,550 - 252,483
NET CARRYING VALUES REFE
At 31 March 2021 #202143A318 34,139 11,879 142,385 13,169 5,102 206,674
At 31 March 2020 2020637316 36,281 11,781 139,402 6,369 4,094 197,927
Note: Wit -
(i) Certain right-of-use assets were transferred to property, 0) HRAEBEREESHBHEHEAGE

plant and equipment as the Group obtained ownership of
the underlying leased assets upon settlement of entire lease

liabilities.

MEHEREEENMER 85
TEREAECHBEZME  #H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis, after taking into
account of their estimated residual values, over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Ownership interest in leasehold ~ 4.75% - 10% per annum
land and buildings

Leasehold improvement Over the shorter of the term of
lease or 3 years

Machinery and equipment 20% - 33.33% per annum

Motor vehicles 20% - 25% per annum

The leasehold land and buildings are located in the PRC
under medium-term lease.

16. W% - B RBRE®

LAty - HBERRERBIIRA
BERAEHEEGHRBEERRR
HT At ERFERAFTE:

HELHREFR FF475%Z10%

BEREER
HEMEEE RHEFHE=F2
BN SRS
R FHE20%%33.33%
RE FE20%ZE25%

THEOEBETHEE L BT
KRR -

17. LEASES 17. #HE
(i) Right-of-use assets (i) FEHREEE
31/3/2021 31/3/2020
2021%3H31H 202043 A31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARETF T
Motor vehicle "B 785 -
Buildings BF 3,125 8,126
3,910 8,126

The Group has lease arrangements for motor vehicle,
office properties, site offices and storage area. The
lease terms are generally ranged from two to eleven
years. The lease payments are fixed.

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year
ended 31 March 2021 amounted to approximately
HK$1,311,000 (2020: HK$938,000), due to new leases
of office properties and motor vehicle.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

17. LEASES (Continued) 17. &)

(ii) Lease liabilities (i) HEAE
31/3/2021 31/3/2020
202143 A31H 202043 A31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥E T ARET T
Non-current IE 7 B 130,416 2,890
Current Vi 8,319 5,508
138,735 8,398
Amounts payable under lease liabilities HEEEENNE
31/3/2021 31/3/2020
202138318  2020943A31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
Within one year —F A 8,319 5,508
After one year but within —FUAEMFUR
two years 9,678 2,890
After two years but within MFE ERFUR
five years 34,340 -
After five years AFUE 86,398 -
138,735 8,398
Less: Amount due for B 1218 B R B HR
settlement within 12 WAREFNE
months (shown under B(RRe &
current liabilities) BET5R) (8,319) (5,508)
Amount due for settlement 1218 A& BI85 28
after 12 months EEW R 130,416 2,890

As at 31 March 2021, included in lease liabilities
was an amount of approximately HK$357,000 (2020:
HK$1,362,000) due to a related company. During

MR2021%3A31B - FHHEAE
PRIEEMN—EBEEIFN
I 4 75 357,000t (2020

the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group entered
into a number of new lease agreements in respect
of renting office properties (for its own use and sub-
lease purposes) and motor vehicle and recognised
lease liabilities of HK$135,168,000 and HK$1,000,000
respectively.

The controlling shareholder of the Company, Mr.
Jim Yin Kwan, Jackin, has beneficial and controlling
interest in the related company.

4 #51,362,0000T) c L =
2021F3A3MHILEFE - A&
ERHAERAEDEERAR
ERRR)RAEFLZEN
HEWHRE UH3ERBEE
B (& 78 %135,168,0007T & 8
#1,000,0007T °

AR E 1 IR R AR
ERZHERNREERR
e PR35 o
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mEMBRRMHE

17. LEASES (Continued)

(iii) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

17. & @)

(i) REBREIANEH

Year ended Year ended
31/3/2021 31/3/2020
BZ HE
2021F3H31H  20204F3A31H
LFE IEFE
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥ T AREEF T
Depreciation expense on right- {FAEZEMNITE
of-use assets: il
- Machinery and equipment — A - 340
- Motor vehicles - #EE 215 1,185
— Buildings -g¥F 5,582 5,641
5,797 7,166
Interest expense on lease HEBBEZFEMAX
liabilities 342 524
Expense relating to short-term A HEEHHEENMAX
leases 6,595 8,424
(iv) Others (iv) HEfw
During the year ended 31 March 2021, the total B E2021F3A31B EFE -

cash outflow for leases amount to approximately
HK$13,052,000 (2020: HK$15,485,000).
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

18. REWE

Leased
properties
under
development
HMEPHEEYE
HK$'000
BT T
COST B
At 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 20199 4 A18 KX 20204
3A31H -
Additions =t 134,857
At 31 March 2021 R20219F3A31H 134,857
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND RETERRE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 and R2019F 418 LA &
2021 20204 2021493 H31H -
NET CARRYING VALUES REFE
At 31 March 2021 M202193A31H 134,857

At 31 March 2020

720204 3H31H -

As at 31 March 2021, the leased properties under
development of HK$134,857,000 (2020: nil) are subject
to renovation and not available for sub-leasing. Once the
renovation is completed, the Group plans to lease out the
leased properties to external tenants for lease terms ranging
from one to two years and generates sub-leasing income.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
the fair value of the Group’s leased properties under
development cannot be reliably measured as the market for
comparable leased properties under development is inactive
and alternative reliable measurement of fair value is not
available.

The above investment properties are depreciated on a
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Over the lease terms of
ranging from 10 to
12 years

Leased properties under
development

M2021493H318 + & 134,857,000
TLQRO0F - B)MMBEFHEME
TR T EME @ T
Bk AEBHEKHEEYSE
HAEFIEELS  HEANT =/
FoWEAEHEKA -

ARREER R AKERESHE
EMENRAFEEEVETE
RAIRLBFAEPHENENT S
AR BERAFEMZERERSER
EETAH -

LR Y T R B
SHRITE -

RERHEE RN FI0E124E
LIES ) 2 5B
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19. GOODWILL 19. &
HK$'000
7T T
COST A
At 1 April 2019 201964 A1H 15,875
Exchange realignment PE & FE 2 (1,065)
At 31 March 2020 720204 3H31H 14,810
Exchange realignment BE 5, 38 B 778
At 31 March 2021 M20219F3H31H 15,588
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT R RE
At 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 M2019F 4 F1H & 2020963 H31H -
Impairment loss recognised during the year A #E 52 K 5L (E 5 18 7,346
At 31 March 2021 M2021493H8318 7,346
NET CARRYING VALUES REFE
At 31 March 2021 M202193H31H 8,242
At 31 March 2020 M202043 318 14,810

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has
been allocated to an individual cash-generating unit and
representing the operating segment in breeding, sales
and trading of aquatic products and related services. The
carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 March 2021 and
2020 is allocated to this unit.

As at 31 March 2021, the directors of the Company
performed an impairment assessment of this cash
generating unit comprising goodwill, other intangible
assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets of approximately HK$8,242,000, HK$2,050,000,
HK$112,304,000 and HK$2,198,000 (2020: HK$14,810,000,
HK$2,616,000, HK$114,232,000 and HK$4,100,000)
respectively.
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RBENANE  IECHEZE
FIIREELEMN  WIEKERNE
B EHERESUARMBBEREKESE
SEf o 20214 K 20203318
ENREEIREZENMN

2021%F3A31H A QX A & H
HHEE HUEEEE Y
¥ BMERIXBARFEERAEEE
D B A E #8,242,0007T - B
2,050,0007T « & #112,304,0007T
K 7 #2,198,0007T (20204 : &
#14,810,0007T + % %2,616,000
JT © B 114,232,000 K B
4,100,000 AN IR S EE S
TR E R ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

19.

GOODWILL (Continued)

The recoverable amount of above CGU was determined
with reference to a value-in-use calculation of the related
CGU. That calculation used cash flow projections based on
financial budget approved by the directors of the Company
covering a five-year period, with discount rate at 11.03%
(2020: 10.95%) per annum respectively. Cash flows beyond
the 5-year period are extrapolated using a 0% growth rate.
Key assumptions include the expected growth in revenues
and operating margins, estimated compound growth rates,
selection of discount rates and the COVID-19 impact.
Management prepared the financial budgets reflecting
actual and prior year performance and market development
expectations.

Since the prolonged unprecedent COVID-19 pandemic
and the associated anti-epidemic measures extended
globally had further disrupted the supply chain of the
aquatic products, the budgeted growth rates have
been revised to 7-8% (2020: 10%) and are based on
management expectations taking into consideration the
COVID-19 impact, and where considered appropriate,
with adjustments made with reference to industry reports
which are more conservative for the purpose of goodwill
impairment test.

As a result, the recoverable amount of this cash generating
unit was less than its carrying value, therefore the
Group has recorded an impairment loss for goodwill of
approximately HK$7,346,000 (2020: nil) during the year
ended 31 March 2021.

19.

Yee Hop Holdings Limited & & 1%}

BE W)

TR EABMNAIRE ST
ﬂ%*aﬁaiﬁﬁﬁiﬁ{ﬁﬁﬁﬁfgﬁ
ATEET - ZiEERERAR
i%%ﬁt/ﬁmﬁﬂﬂkﬁ%WEéw
=R - BRIRESHF| A EFF11.03%
(2020 : 10.95%) ° #B @5 H Y
BERBIROVEEXREE - T 2
R BRI 8 M A & F R 1 78 8
BE - FHEAEEE  BHRER
TR AN COVID-19MF & - BB
ERERMEBERE E—FEEUR
MZERBHNMKES -

R & B & £ A A COoVID-19
BEAREBN R EE—
SEATKERNHEEE  FEiiE
B REEAE N AET-8% (20207 :
10%) WEREEEEBEZEZD
COVID-19MI&2E - RRAHEEME
M BETERE(EEHERE
AEMEERRT)ETHE

At ZIREELBEMOTRE S
HERAEREE AEAEERE
E21F3A3MHIEFEHEHE
AL B &5 18 #4978 %5 7,346,000t (2020
FE)o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

20. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. HhEEEEE

Customer
Patents relationships Total
=] EFB#Z wet
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT
COST X A<
At 1 April 2019 201964 A1H 2,372 1,522 3,894
Exchange realignment P& 53 & (240) (153) (393)
At 31 March 2020 720209 3A31H 2,132 1,369 3,501
Exchange realignment fE B 270 173 443
At 31 March 2021 M202193H31RH 2,402 1,542 3,944
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND & & 48 K A A
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2019 M20195F 4718 - - -
Charge for the year FARFA 167 729 896
Exchange realignment fE 5 o8 B ) ©) (11)
At 31 March 2020 2020534318 165 720 885
Charge for the year FAGFA 170 743 913
Exchange realignment fE 5B 17 79 9%
At 31 March 2021 R2021463H31H 352 1,542 1,894
NET CARRYING VALUES REFE
At 31 March 2021 202193 A31H 2,050 - 2,050
At 31 March 2020 2020434318 1,967 649 2,616

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such
intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over

biEREENERFHAR -
EEVEENUTHBRZERES

iz

the following periods: 8

Patents 5 — 15 years, shorter of the =7 SE15F (B2 T & %) B
remaining contractual life RAbETRIfE A -
and estimated useful life AR E R %)

Customer relationships 1 — 2 years BFEBE 122F

HivEmEEERBETIGHEFBEIHIR
B 5E19 ©

Details of impairment assessment of other intangible assets
are set out in note 19.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

21. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

2. R—BEBEQTR z2ERE

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T 7T T

Cost of investment in an associate R—HEBERARZ
- unlisted WEKA-FEL™ 44,462 44,462

Share of post-acquisition profit and %3165 W B8 18 & #| &2
other comprehensive income i 2mE W = 23,696 (2,210)
68,158 42,252

Loan to an associate (note) m—REEE AR ER

(K1 at) 21,527 19,224
89,685 61,476

Note: Loan to an associate is deemed capital which is unsecured, non-
interest bearing where settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur in the foreseeable future. Further details of impairment
is set out in note 24.

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group had interest in
the following material associate:

Hat: A—EBERARERAEERER
HEEE - Tete kA ST E s mn
AITERRNIEE - BEE-PFE
BRI 5E24 o

PA20214F ]2 20204F3A31H » A% H
AT EEHE AR EEEH:

Proportion of
ownership interests

Principal or participating Proportion of
Form of Country of place of Class of shares indirectly held  voting power
Name of entity entity registration operation  shares held by the Group indirectly held Principal activity
rEEREREER
FEEERNSH BERE
EREE EEp AMER ZEEELY FEROER R 43 bt Bl REELH TEXH
2021 2020 2021 2020
Perfect View Enterprises Incorporated  Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong  Ordinary 40% 40% 40% 40% Investment holding
Limited (“Perfect View") FEffif iz % &% 3ol and its subsidiary is

BECRXBRAATHEE]

involved in property
development in
United Kingdom
RERR  HMBRA
REBEREVERR
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mEMBRRMHE

21. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 21. R—RBEBERT 2EZE @)
The summarised financial information prepared using HKFRS BHEAEENEE RE IR ERE
in respect of the associate of the Group is accounted for AR ERBEMBRELERRR
using equity method is set out below: N BERBEHIOT :

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

B¥ETT BT T

Current assets MEEE 76,939 100,326

Non-current assets FRBEE 314,874 529,788

Current liabilities mEAE (24,374) (74,120)

Non-current liabilities FRBEE (197,043) (450,364)

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2021 31 March 2020

= Bz

202143 H31H 202093H31H

LEE EFE

HK$'000 HK$'000

B¥TT BT T

Revenue I 2= 482,073 -

Profit for the year F W& 47,561 2,938
Other comprehensive income AEFEEMPEKZE

(expense) for the year () 17,205 (9,675)
Total comprehensive income rEEEIEKE (FAX)

(expense) for the year 4% 64,766 (6,737)

Annual Report 2020/21 4 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

21.

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in
the associate is set out below:

R — R A T2 3 (e
T2 HMBERBME Eﬁiﬁ/\ﬂw
ARz S REENE RSN
T

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T ok e

Net assets of the associate Bea ez EEFE 170,396 105,630
Proportion of the Group’s ownership A%&ERELZNES

interest in Perfect View R #E 7 LI 40% 40%
Carrying amount of the Group'’s REBREZERD

interest in Perfect View BRME 68,158 42,252

As at 31 March 2021, the directors performed an M20214E3831H  EEHE T #

impairment assessment of the interest in Perfect View and
determined that it is not impaired based on the estimated
recoverable amount with reference to a value-in-use
calculation of Perfect View. That calculation used cash flow
projections based on estimated future cash flows expected
to be generated by the associate and applied a discount rate
at 9.71% (2020: 10.48%) per annum. The key assumptions
for the value-in-use calculation related to the estimation of
cash flow included gross margin and discount rate. Gross
margin represents budgeted gross margin, which is based
on past performance and the management’s expectation for
the market development. The discount rate used is a pre-
tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the risks
specific to the relevant industry. Management believes that
any reasonably possible change in any these assumptions
would not cause the carrying amount of the interest in
Perfect View to exceed its recoverable amount. During the
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no impairment loss
was recognised.

HETREN G WEEEITRE
EERGABAESERBEMFT T
Bl & EEITHE - ZTEFERAMNR
SRBARENRZHE AR EE
HEREEEARKIESR > WEBLIR
F H 2&9.71% (20204 : 16.48%) °
HBESREMAEENFTRERA
AENTFEREBFBEMNERAR
o ENEIBBEENE - KA
RETEEREEBYHM S EE
HIEREE o PR A RLIR R B HLATH)
o RMERMIZEHEBEITESTE
}—WAE’]E;TE © Efig uu/tEErE1—_|'u/<4r
BENEMEEAgEFH YT EE
BREZCESNEMEBRBEAK
[ 4 %8 - & 220214 K& 202043 A

NALEFE  HERIDRERR -
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mEMBRRMHE

22. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 22. EYEE

Nature of the Group’s agricultural activities

The biological assets of the Group are live aquatic products
at various stages of development, including fish seedlings,
fishes, crab seedlings, crabs, shrimp seedlings and shrimps,
which are classified as current assets. Biological assets also
include breeding stock, which are used to produce future
live fishes, crabs and shrimps and classified as non-current
assets of the Group. The quantity of live fishes, crabs,
shrimps and breeding stock owned by the Group at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

31 March 2021
M2021FE3H31H  7202043H31H

AEEEEETHHME
AEEGENEERSEARDE
EZRBERSBENERKE
ERHE R EH B BE
B EMAENOEREE  IE
RIEBERREBY S EAKER
BIERBAE - ARERBEEE
BANERABERABENYE
o

As at As at
31 March 2020

Kg Kg

T T

Live fishes A EEA 148,064 66,420
Breeding stock REHE 60,405 73,890
208,469 140,310

Live crabs A AR 1,041 52,713
Breeding stock REZE - 5,476
1,041 58,189

Live shrimps A IR 869 2,695
Breeding stock REE - 59,475
869 62,170

The Group is exposed to risks arising from environmental
and climatic changes, commodity prices and financing risks.
The Group diversified the geographical location of farms to
mitigate the adverse climatic conditions such as droughts
and floods. The Group established effective internal control
procedures and policies to comply with environmental
regulations and relevant laws.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

22. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued) 22. EYEE @)

Carrying value of the Group’s biological assets AEEEYEENREE
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEETT BT T
At the beginning of the financial R BB EE )
year 20,722 32,054
Increase due to purchase and BEREREKD
breeding 3 8,211 58,092
Changes in fair value nNFEE 8,623 13,196
Decrease due to death or defects k3% =% ¥ It & ¥ Ak 79
28 (9,170) (7,013)
Decrease due to sale 5 35 A A9 R (18,359) (73,821)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 8 B 1,379 (1,786)
At the end of the financial year R BFEER 11,406 20,722
Analysed for reporting purpose B E B ED
As at As at
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
M2021F3H318 72020F3H31H
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEETT BT T
Live fishes A B 11,236 12,353
Live crabs AR 148 3,524
Live shrimps A B IR 22 4,845
11,406 20,722
Less: current portion M e (5,295) (8,421)
Non-current portion FE R B EB 6,111 12,301

Yee Hop Holdings Limited & &2 AR A7
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mEMBRRMHE

22. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued) 22. EYEE @)

Fair value measurement

The Group’s biological assets were valued by Shenzhen
Zhongkehua Capital Rating Co., Limited (“Shenzhen
Zhongkehua”), independent qualified professional
valuers not connected with the Group. The address of
Shenzhen Zhongkehua is Tiangong Security Market 9CF029,
Niulangian Industrial Building, Longsheng West Road,
Longhua District, Shenzhen, China. The fair value less costs
to sell of biological assets are determined with reference
to the market-determined prices of items with similar age,
breed and genetic merit.

Changes in fair value less costs to sell of biological assets
include changes in the fair value of the aquatic products
at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Key assumptions and inputs

The major significant unobservable inputs to the valuation
of the biological assets include estimated market price and
breeding costs.

Set forth below are the valuation techniques, key
assumptions and inputs adopted in the valuation process to
determine the fair values of the Group’s biological assets

AFEFTE

R & H &£ E & E B Shenzhen
Zhongkehua Capital Rating Co., Limited
([Shenzhen Zhongkehua) & &
HAREREERREAENE IS ER
HZH{ERD  Shenzhen Zhongkehua
B P EDRIIBEEEER A
BEMAIEREXRESLZH MS
9CF029 - £ EEM N FERMEE
RATI2ZFH  mERESER
HENERHNTSEBET -

EYEENATFEBEEKEAES
B 18 720214 202093 A31H 7K
ENATEZE -

TEBRRRBABE
EYEELENTIZEATAER
BABBEERGMSERLER
RS

TXHEHHERBEFFEMOGER
fit TEBENBAZSE  UEBEE
202145 N2020%3A31H K £

as at 31 March 2021 and 2020. EMEENRFE:

As at As at
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
M2021F3H318 720209F3H31H
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Live fishes: A EE R
Per kg market price BTzm5E 21 to 178 14 to 197
212178 142197

Live crabs: A AR
Per kg market price FFrEl5E 142 52 to 71
52271

Live shrimps: A EER
Per kg market price BFrEl5E 26 43 to 87
43%£87

A significant increase/decrease in the estimated market price
and the estimated production volume in isolation would
result in a significant increase/decrease in the fair value of
the biological assets.

The fair values of the Group’s biological assets at 31 March
2021 and 2020 are grouped into Level 2 of fair value
measurement. There were no transfers between any levels
of fair value hierarchy during the year.
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22.

23.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair value
measurements of biological assets:

The fair values of fishes, crabs and shrimps are determined
using market comparison approach by reference to recent
sales price of comparable aquatic products using market
data which is publicly available.

There has been no change from the valuation technique
used during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. In
estimating the fair value of the biological assets, the highest
and best use of the biological assets is their current use.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

22. £EMEE &)
EYMBEE - RAFETEE R
1o 128 45 107 R 8 A RO

B BRENAFEDERMSL
BEAEE  ER2ERARAST
LEESHOTLBUKENINE

#H 220214 K20204F3A318 Ik &
EERAEERMBEEES o K5t
EMEENRFER  £WEEN
BEeakREREAEERAR -

23. RAFEFAEZNEH
BE

24,

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Unlisted equity investment in the RHEIR ETARERE
PRC 993 1,012

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the above unlisted equity
investment represents investment in 0.19% unlisted equity
interest in a private entity incorporated in the PRC. The
investment is measured at fair value using market approach
based on a valuation carried out by Graval Consulting
Limited (31 March 2020: Shenzhen Zhongkehua Capital
Rating Co., Limited), independent qualified professional
valuer not connected with the Group.

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS/OTHER

2021F 2020938318 + Ealt I
AR E B — R B R
X 2 B FL A B B80.19% 3F £ Ak &
HNRE - BREGLAMSEERER
FEFE BEREREE AR
BENBLEEREXMGEMEE G
¥BERABR QA (2020638318
Shenzhen Zhongkehua CapitalRating
Co., Limited) FT#E 1T (H(E

24. HitERBEE HMR

CURRENT ASSETS BEE
Other non-current assets HMERBEE
2021 2020
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T T T
Club debenture H& & 5 460 460
2021 2020
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T ok e eI
Zero coupon bonds TEBES 43,927 48,245

Yee Hop Holdings Limited & &2 AR A7



24. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS/OTHER

CURRENT ASSETS (Continued)

The zero coupon bonds represented two (2020: three)
bonds issued by Windmill Street Development Limited
("Windmill”), an indirectly held associate of the Company,
with carrying amounts of approximately HK$43,927,000
(2020: HK$48,245,000) (equivalent to principal amounts,
imputed interests and overdue interests of GBP3,673,000
(2020: GBP4,700,000), GBP345,000 (2020: GBP320,000)
and GBP 99,000 (2020: nil) respectively) for financing the
development costs for the property to be developed by the
associate. The zero coupon bonds carried effective interest
rates ranging from 7.66% to 11.55% (2020: from 9.89%
to 15.64%) per annum and is redeemable at specified
redemption price from 31 May 2020 until 31 December
2020 pursuant to the bond agreements. Pursuant to the
bond agreements, if Windmill had not repaid the bond on
the last redemption date (i.e. 31 December 2020), interests
shall accrue on the any sum due and payable but unpaid by
Windmill under the bond agreement from 1 January 2021
up to the date of actual payment at the rate of 10% per
annum compounded monthly. As at 31 March 2021, the
above two bonds were not redeemed by Windmill on the
last redemption date and was carried at 10% additional
interests per annum compounded monthly. Subsequent
to 31 March 2021, one of the zero coupon bonds
and the associated interest receivable of approximately
HK$21,032,000 in aggregate was redeemed and fully repaid
by Windmill.

The Group measures the loss allowance for zero coupon
bonds and loan to an associate in note 21 at an amount
equal to lifetime ECL-not credit impaired (2020: 12-month
ECL). No impairment loss was recognised during the years
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 as the impact of loss
allowance was insignificant.

The club debenture represents club membership in a
private club with indefinite useful life in Hong Kong and
is measured at cost less impairment. The directors of the
Company consider no impairment identified with reference
to the second hand market price of the club debenture as
at the end of the reporting period.
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Hit3FRBEE " HMR

EJJ BEEw@)
e ﬁ#%amzlv&iﬁﬂ*h
B B B Z A " Windmill Street
Development Limited ([Windmill])
BITHI M 5 (20206 - =19) & 5 -
BRTEE 49 A7 143,927,000t (2020
¢ D 548,245,000 T (HE R A
15*”% SRBEFEDR A
3,673,0005& £ (20204 : 4,700,000
H %) 345,000 £ (20204 :
320,000% £%) % 99,0005 £ (2020
Fom) BRABE QG 5
MENABRAREES -TE
BEFEEFN T766%=11.55%
(20204 : 9.89% £15.64%) H) B B
FIZRFHE - RIBEH B E20204F5
F318 #£ B £20205F12 A31H A1 %
STEEREERD - REEHF DS
i Windmill 72 £ & B8 [8] B 2§ (812020
FNRANAMAREEES - B
Windmill /A & 5 5 5 T~ 2 53 & FE -
BRI ZERKIEB2021F1 A1
HEEZERITABIEZI0%
FHEZABEREFE - 142021
F3A31H Ll MEEFNREE
@ B #3 2K % Windmill B @ B 3210%
ZRINFFERIZ AE B RETFE »
B2021F3A31HZ% - Eb—H =
ZSEFRMEBRKT EALLE
#21,032,0007T F Windmill & B 3¢

AEBUBEER 2 Hsﬁ%ﬁﬁm*f‘fﬁéﬁ
B — K H R E & 18 (20204 ¢
MAEHEESEB) NS +§7
= B (E 5 N M 521 B & 1A — B
REIERMEEEE - HlE20214F
F2020F3A31H I EE I £/ R
BEEE DNEBERGEYEE
e

BLEFEARERE—RLABLER
MERERFHNELTSEBALIRZ
AR REE - RABEERR
RBEHR  WESEZBEAE
FoFMIGERERRE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

25. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES) 25. EEBIEEE(RBE)
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax assets UNTRELHEEEEBE NS
(liabilities) for the financial reporting purposes: - EM B mERE:
2021 2020
HK$000 HK$'000
B¥ETT BT T
Deferred tax assets RIER TR B E 806 910
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIABE (9,747) (8,719)
(8,941) (7,809)
The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities) RAFERBEFE  BEBRBNHE
recognised and movements thereon during the current and BREREEE(BE) REZFH
prior years: i

Allowance for

Intangible impairment

Revaluation assets  loss of trade

Accelerated of property, arising from receivables

tax plant and acquisition of and other
depreciation Tax Losses equipment  subsidiaries receivables Others Total

ERRUHER

EffW% . WBHWELARE HitEWTE
MEHEHE HEER BERRE LNEVEE REERRRK Hit S
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BETT BETE ABTT ABTT ABTT ABTT AETT

At 1 April 2019 72019647818 (3,386) 50 (2,235) (584) 375 - (5,780)
(Charged) credit to profit or ~ (1&) T A B

loss (note 10) (H##10) (3,070) - 269 134 321 176 (2,170)
Exchange realignment ERAR - - 116 37 (9) 3) 141
At 31 March 2020 #2020%3A318 (6,456) 50 (1,850) (413) 687 173 (7,809)
(Charged) credit to profit or ~ (1&) T A B

loss (note 10) (B ##10) (1,436) - 243 133 (18) (63) (1,141)
Exchange realignment EHAR - - 28 4 (24) 1 9
At 31 March 2021 R2021F3A31H (7,892) 50 (1,579) (276) 645 m (8,941)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e EHmRMEE

25. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES) 25 EXEFEBEE(EBE)®
(Continued)
As at 31 March 2021, the Group has not recognised MR2021F3A318 KN & B I K

deferred tax assets for tax losses arising in the
PRC of approximately HK$93,187,000 (equivalent to
RMB78,553,000) (2020: HK$59,461,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB54,412,000)) due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams that will expire after five years
from the year of assessment to which they relate to. The
tax losses of approximately HK$93,187,000 will expire five
years from the year of origination. As at 31 March 2021,
tax losses of approximately HK$21,499,000, HK$2,586,000,
HK$22,083,000 and HK$47,019,000 (equivalent to
RMB18,123,000, RMB2,180,000, RMB18,615,000 and
RMB39,636,000) will expire in years ended 31 March
2022, 2023, 2024 and 2025 (2020: HK$10,751,000,
HK$24,750,000, HK$3,618,000 and HK$20,342,000 will
expire in years ended 31 March 2021, 2022, 2023 and
2024 (equivalent to RMB9,838,000, RMB22,648,000,
RMB3,311,000 and RMB18,615,000).

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has unused tax losses
of approximately HK$15,296,000 (2020: HK$5,716,000)
arising in other jurisdictions available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of approximately HK$15,296,000 (2020:
HK$5,716,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The tax losses of approximately HK$15,296,000
(2020: HK$5,716,000) may be carried forward indefinitely.
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BERFIBREEHBEBBEHNEE
93,187,000t (18 & M &9 A R ¥
78,553,0007T) (20204 = & ¥
59,461,000t (M8 & RN #1 A R &
54,412,0007C) E R IEE L 1A &
E FRAARAENMENTIREER
REET L 12 B H A9 R R R AR &
FATEAE REBEBHEE
93,187,000 B R R E £ F E 5T
FFEm o R20219F38318 ©
T8 B 18 4978 #21,499,0007T « B
2,586,0007T * 7#5#22,083,0007T &
Y& 547,019,000 (DRI ERAR
#18,123,0007T * A R #2,180,000
7T+ AR #18,615,000t X A R
39,636,0007T) # 720224 - 2023
- 20244 NM202543A31H Ik &F
& & (20204 : 7 %10,751,000
JT ~ 7 #24,750,0007T - B ¥
3,618,000t K& & ®20,342,000
(5 Bl A8 & W A R 09,838,000
JT - AR #22,648,000T - AR
3,311,000t & A R#18,615,0007T)
# 20214 - 20224 - 2023F K&
2024F3A31B L FEER) °

R20214F3A31H » RE B A H ity
REERELENASD AT EERE
%) & #15,296,0007T (20204 : &
#5,716,0007T) A A 7 3K 85 K 2K
pi | R =2 B N D O R NI =}
B - BE & B 49 8 15,296,000
70 (20204 : & #5,716,0007T) &
RELERIBEE - MIBEBENE
#15,296,0007T (2020F : A R ¥
5,716,000 T ) A] £E PR HR 45 82 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEHRRME
25. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES) 25. EEMBEEE(BE) @)
(Continued)
Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on RIFCEMSEHE - B2008F1H
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC 1H 5t 5 BB B A R AT B AL A
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred FIATE R IR BEILTE B » &
taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated F201F3A3BLEEE 65
financial statements in respect of temporary differences BHREWL RGP ENBERE R
attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries i A #9785 #4,906,0007T (M8 & R
amounting to approximately HK$4,906,000 (equivalent # AN R ¥4,136,0007T) (20204 :
to approximately RMB4,136,000) (2020: HK$8,035,000 78 8,035,000 (FHE R ARK
(equivalent to approximately RMB7,352,000)) as the Group 7,352,0007T)) 5| B 2 E s E FEAE D
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary EEF ARG AR EBEHIE
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences FIBOIEREEE o RE MERE
will not reverse in the foreseeable future during the year FEARE TN TE R REE -
ended 31 March 2021.
At 31 March 2021, the Group had deductible differences M2021%F3A318 - AEBE#E AN
of approximately HK$5,862,000 (2020: HK$4,004,000). T 78 2 28 408 5,862,000 7T (2020
Deferred tax asset of approximately HK$645,000 (2020: F : B 4,004,0000T) ° B IE B 1A
HK$687,000) had been recognised on temporary & E #) 7% ¥645,0007T (20204 ¢
difference of approximately HK$4,398,000 (2020: 75 687,000 B HE R E B £ @
HK$3,171,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised %) 75 #4,398,0007T (20204 : 75 #&
on the remaining deductible temporary difference of 3,171,0007T) © 4% Bt % &2 77 F0 08
approximately HK$1,392,000 (2020: HK$833,000) due to 755 22 48 498 #61,392,0007T (2020
the unpredictability of future profit streams will be available 4 ¢ 75 5833,000 T ) R IE 7 1B
against which the deductible temporary differences can be BE - DRATNREGREZEKAA
utilised. FA S HE T 1] T8R]3R i A 3R OR B
o
26. INVENTORIES 26. 7 &
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Raw materials and supplies R R it FE 913 416
Finished goods X 29,345 19,419
30,258 19,835
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27. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

7. EZEWRE

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Trade receivables B 5 W IR 147,849 154,697
Less: allowance for impairment loss  J& : J&l 1B /&5 18 # (5,191) (4,004)
142,658 150,693

At 1 April 2019, the carrying amount of trade receivable is
approximately HK$126,440,000.

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

At 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of the trade
receivables which has been pledged as security for a
borrowing was approximately HK$9,177,000 (2021 nil).

For construction services, the Group does not have a
standardised and universal credit period granted to its
customers, and the credit period of individual customer
is considered on a case-by-case basis and stipulated in
the project contract, as appropriate. For sales of aquatic
products, the Group allows an average credit period ranging
from 90 days to 180 days. The following is an aged analysis
of trade receivables, presented based on the certified report
or dates of delivery of goods which approximates revenue
recognition date at the end of each reporting period, and
net of impairment loss recognised:

MR2019F4 818 - E5EWNFHIEN
SR B 4 57 126,440,000 °

REE BB ZFERIT B EE
e

M20203A31H B 1B &
EHANESEWFENEEEN S
75 #9,177,0007T (20214F : 4E) ©

MEERBME  AEEMEZE
LERBMEEHRRTHER @ @5
EEMEE SR A ERIEZE &R
HEHANFRT(MBER) - BLEE
KERME  AEBATFNTTI0H
ZI80HMFEHEEH - REHEZ
WEARKZEERBHEENIZE
WEXREHEZ2HWE S EW K
EHRERR DT (R EERERE
EE) T

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BETT

0 to 30 days 0&30H 107,712 87,746
31 to 60 days 31&260H 28,506 32,580
61 to 90 days 61290H 3,648 8,423
91 to 180 days 91&180H 647 9,968
181 to 365 days 1812 365H 1,682 8,557
Over 365 days 3650 A £ 463 3,419
142,658 150,693

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The expected credit
losses on trade receivables are estimated by reference
to past default experience of the debtor and an analysis
of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and
an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date.
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AEERBASERE2HEAREES
ENEeRAEEZRRFIENERE
B - BHRBFIENTEREES
BH2EEBANBEROERK
HEBARRITI AR D7
T UMEBANFERSR
BEBALLMETENEREEN
LR i R B ER S E A N FEORIR R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

27. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 27. EZEWFE G
As the Group's historical credit loss experience does not HRAEEN BT EEBEELRIT
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different A ERHEM L ARTR] B
customer segments in the segments of “Foundation and BIRINIKERRE HENES
other civil works”, “Tunneling works” and “Breeding, sales IAREEREITRETE S H#E T
and trading of aquatic products and related services”, the BEATAEEERN - AR E KR
loss allowance based on past due status is not further NEEBREBEIGE PR AEEN
distinguished between the Group'’s different customer bases Mo MBOTREFPEZLHRSD -
in the corresponding segments.
The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables REER IR E R & KXE P IEE R
based on individually significant customer or the ageing of BEAEPZEAERRRAREER
customers collectively that are not individually significant by HRESEWHEN2HBEHREE
using a provision matrix. B o
As at 31 March 2021 74202163 H31H
Weighted
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
¥

FHERE KEAE BREF KEFE
%  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000
B¥ETR BTz BETxn

Current (not past due) BIER (K 80 A7) 0.03% 140,158 39 140,119
Less than 3 month past due B H D R3ME A 1.82% 379 7 372
More than 3 months but less than % Hi #8 i@ 318 A
6 months past due B RefEA 11.23% 316 35 281
More than 6 months but less than 7 538 1861 A
12 months past due 18 1218 A 50.05% 3,776 1,890 1,886
More than 12 months but less than & HI#2 1218 A
24 months past due BOR241E A 100% 1,759 1,759 -
More than 24 months but less than  # EBfA 82418 A
36 months past due 18 27 361E A 100% 1,419 1,419 -
More than 36 months but less than 1 BB 836 A2
48 months past due D ir481E A 100% 42 42 -
147,849 5,191 142,658
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mEMBRRMHE

27. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 27. ESEWRIE®E)
As at 31 March 2020 F2020%F3A31H
Weighted

average Gross Net

expected carrying Loss carrying

loss rate amount  allowance amount

N HE

EHEEE KHAE BERE KEHEE

% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BEFIT BETT

Current (not past due) BUER (k1 H8) 0.07% 147,679 106 147,573

Less than 3 month past due 7 Hi > 531@ A 2.42% 890 22 868
More than 3 months but less #8233 1E A8

than 6 months past due LH6lE A 28.68% 3,084 885 2,199
More than 6 months but less  # Hi#2:B61E A8

than 12 months past due D218 A 71.22% 186 133 53
More than 12 months but less % Hi %8 38121& A

than 24 months past due 18 D324 1E A 100% 2,816 2,816 -
More than 24 months but less  #0 Hi #2 382418 A

than 36 months past due B m361E A 100% 42 42 -

154,697 4,004 150,693

The movement in the allowance for impairment loss of trade

BHRU IR REBBEFHNE

receivables is set out below: R lNE

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T & T T

1 April 4H1H 4,004 2,201
Allowance for impairment loss B & B 815 1,996
Exchange realignment PE 5 & 372 (193)
31 March 3A31H 5,191 4,004

Annual Report 2020/21 £ 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

28. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLE 28. EIWER K EBEWH B

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ok e

Fixed-rate loan and interest FE U E EF R E R &
receivable JE U 1 B 11,312 -
Less: allowance for impairment loss  J&l : J&ll (B /&5 18 5 1 (559) -
10,753 -

As at 31 March 2021, included in the loan and interest
receivable was amount of approximately HK$10,753,000
from Hong Kong Qing Chuang Limited, a related company,
which was unsecured, carried fixed interest rate of 6.0%
per annum and repayable three years from the date of
drawdown of the loan.

The controlling shareholder of the Company, Mr. Jim Yin
Kwan, Jackin, has beneficial and controlling interest in the
related company.

The Group measured the loss allowance for loan and

interest receivable at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

The movement in the allowance for impairment loss of loan
and interest receivable is set out below:

MR20214F3A318 B E % K JE
WF B EER— A QR (F
BHABRABMRIBELHBE
10,753,0007C * %2 E R 1E A & K
- FREE6.0% - BEEZRIE
BHEIfEAH =FEE -

AN AR ISR R A AR B ST A X R B
REFEEEDEH R -

AEERBER12EAEREERS
BB ERKRER R EEF B
M IREE -

HE M K T R 9 18 98
EHRBHIIMT

2021

HK$'000

BETT

1 April 2020 20205 4A1R° =
Increase during the year F A3 BN 559
31 March 2021 20219 3H31H 559
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mEMBRRMHE

29. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

29. EHNEEREGNERE

LIABILITIES
(a) Contract assets (@) EHEE
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T & W T
Analysed as current: DHBRRE :
Retention receivables of EEALEBURE S
construction contracts (note a) (W ita) 86,239 72,360
Unbilled revenue of BEANZREZE
construction contracts (note b) Wz (it b) 29,134 84,165
115,373 156,525

At 1

April 2019, the carrying amounts of contract

assets and contract liabilities are approximately
HK$88,782,000 and HK$18,963,000 respectively.

At 31

March 2020, the carrying amount of the

retention receivables which have been pledged
as security for a borrowing was approximately
HK$16,624,000 (2021: nil).

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Retention receivables included in contract assets
represent the Group’s right to receive consideration for
work performed because the rights are conditional on
the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers
over a certain period as stipulated in the contracts. The
contract assets are transferred to the trade receivables
when the rights become unconditional, which is typically
at the expiry date of the period for the provision of
assurance by the Group on the service quality of the
construction work performed by the Group. The due
dates for retention receivables are usually one to two
years after the completion of construction work.

Unbilled revenue included in contract assets represents
the Group’s right to receive consideration for work
completed but not yet billed because the rights are
conditional upon the satisfaction by the customers on
the construction work completed by the Group and the
work is pending for the certification by the customers.
The contract assets are transferred to the trade
receivables when the rights become unconditional, which
is typically at the time the Group obtains the certification
of the completed construction work from the customers.
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R2019F4818H &4 & &E
FEHBEMNEBEAE? LD
/5 75 #88,782,0007T & B
18,963,0007T °

M20204E3H318 » B 1E
BRI ERRE S REE
#) & 7 116,624,000 (2021
FofE) o

Bt -

@@ FARKNEEZELRES
FEAREE G E 4 T2 YR
REZEN - REZEREE
NAFGEPRENMRE T
HEAHREEERTRE
BIAMEE i AEBER
PEZGEAFRBCGBERNAE
B ASEMERELETRE
Rk E 8RR ERZ B
ERmBHE) . ANEAESEY
EE SRR o BUIRE
SZHHAREREETE
TLE—ZME -

by FAGHEEZRERERZ
Yo zi 1 AN R B B 2 52 ARAE
RERBE2TIRWRKREZ
R - R AR R AR
EPHAKEMTERELRT
RETBERITAEERS
BIRAGTEPRAY - A
8BRS A R R (2
BAREERT DMK E
LTERBSEFPRABA) A
WEESHEBEEHRKK
I8 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

29. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

29. EHNEERENEGA®

Contract assets (Continued) () EHEEM®SE)
Contract assets are included in current assets as BREENREEENIIER
the Group expects to realise these within its normal ERAEANEEBHRERE
operating cycle. BRIANERZEEE -
The recovery or settlement for contract assets M20214F }K202043H318 -
pursuant to the terms of contracts as at 31 March BREERBAABRO K
2021 and 2020 is as follows: EsAEZEMAT:
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
B¥TT BT T
Within one year —FR 107,725 142,820
Over one year BB —F 7,648 13,705
115,373 156,525
The Group measures the loss allowance for contract AEBEZRBEENRTHELRE
assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. At 31 EEENESBIEANEE
March 2021 and 2020, the Group assessed the &5 18 B o 720214 522020
impact of loss allowance for impairment of contract F3A3MH  AEEEFELD
assets was insignificant. EERBEBzEERENZE
BTRERX -
Contract liabilities (b) EXHE®E
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
B¥TRT BT T
Sales of aquatic products HEKE (M ita)
(note a) 5,722 21,206
Note: et
(@)  Contract liabilities include advances received from (@ ANEEEERXMNKER

customers before delivery of aquatic products.

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 March
2021 that was included in the contract liabilities as
at 1 April 2020 is HK$21,206,000 (1 April 2019:
HK$18,963,000). There was no revenue recognised
in the current year that related to performance
obligations that were satisfied in a prior year.

WEE P TEM R -

R2020F4R81H A8 &
& W5 BR 2 8 22021634
BIHIEFEBRH K E BB
#21,206,0007T (2019F 4 A1
B : /& #18,963,0007T) » AN
FEVEERBERNL—FE
BEERNBELOEETNHNE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

30. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 30. e  FENREREME

RECEIVABLES

The following is an analysis of deposits, prepayments and
other receivables at the end of each reporting period:

I =X 5
RERERK - Be  BHRER
H it EURB AT

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Other receivables H fib & Ug 5118 11,438 28,888
Less: allowance for impairment loss & : J&l (B &5 18 B (112) -
11,326 28,888
Deposits B 13,092 24,201
Long term deposit REIES 7118 -
Prepayments TET R IB 26,413 20,624
Prepayment for acquisition of an WHEEEEENTER
intangible asset KIE 7,414 -
Prepayment for acquisition of a BEHM TR RIE
machinery 26,099 -
91,462 73,713
Amount shown under non-current ERBEEE T
assets k- (40,631) -
Amount shown under current assets i 8/ & ZE B i~
T 50,831 73,713

As at 31 March 2020, included in other receivables of
approximately HK$1,122,000 (2021: nil) are placed with
certain insurance companies for the guarantees in respect
of performance bonds in favor of the Group’s customers.
Details refer to note 40.

As at 31 March 2020, included in other receivables is a
receivable arising from disposal of technical know-how
amounting to approximately HK$21,856,000 (equivalent to
RMB20,000,000) (2021: nil). Details are set out in note 8.
During the year ended 31 March 2021, the amount was
fully settled.

The Group measures the loss allowance for deposits and
other receivables at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.
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M20209F3A31H » 1A H b & Uk 5Kk
T8 A 51| BR B9 30078 4978 #1,122,0000T
Q021F B HFERFERRBA
AERAUREBEFRAY T AN
BAVREKIRBAEIR - BB EM
5F40 °

M2020F3A318 » HibsEU FRIBH
BIRHEE R A E LN ERRE
#4785 421,856,0007T HEHE R AR
20,000,0007T)(20214F : &) - 3£ 1&
EAMIFES - EE202143A31H 1t
FE  ZHREEEIEE -

REBZRBERREAEREES
BN ERS M EMEKFIR
BREE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

30. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 30.

31.

32.

RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movement in the allowance for impairment loss of
deposits and other receivables is set out below:

Be  FANRERAEME
Y FRIE ()
12 o EL b UK TE O A 12 U5 9B
BEESHMT

2021

HK$’000

BETT

1 April 2020 2020 4 A1H =
Increase during the year F X3 N 107
Exchange realignment P& W #E 5
31 March 2021 20214 3H31H 112

At 31 March 2021, prepayments of approximately
HK$26,099,000 and HK$7,414,000 (equivalent to
RMB22,000,000 and RMB6,250,000) (2020: nil) was made
to suppliers for acquisition of a machinery and an intangible
asset respectively.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH 31.

Bank balances earned interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates which range from 0.01% to 1.2%
(2020: 0.01% to 1.2%) per annum.

TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES 32.

The following is an analysis of trade and retention payables

R2021E3A31B: » 5l ot B &
A - W Rl
TE 5 38 T8 49 78 #26,099,0007T &
7S 7,414,000 (HHE R A R
22,000,0007T & A R#6,250,0007T)
(20204 : ##%) o

RITESHRRES
RITHEBIBBESRABRITFERAE
BEEAENFERER0O% E
1.2% (20204 : 0.01% =1.2%) Bt B
FE o

BEZENREREMRES
RERERFK - B0 HARE

at the end of each reporting period: NRESHDHOT :
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
B¥TT BT T
Trade payables H SN RIE 110,215 80,311
Retention payables FERRE 2 27,612 18,823
137,827 99,134
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

32. TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES

(Continued)

The average credit period on purchases of goods is from
30 to 180 days (2020: 30 to 180 days). The Group has
financial risk management policies in place to ensure that
all payables are settled within the credit timeframe. The
following is the aged analysis of trade payables presented
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting

32. ESEMARERESRES
(%)
KEEMNTFHEEEA302180
H (20204 : 30E180H) - AEEE
BIETBREREEBRRAERE
ERRIERNEERRALS - Nl
EHK EHEMNRBREZAY
ETEMERRONT

period:
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
0 to 90 days 02 90H 92,157 69,373
91 to 180 days 91£180H 8,303 4,923
181 to 365 days 1812 365H 4,277 4,087
Over 365 days 3658 A £ 5,478 1,928
110,215 80,311

33. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

33. EEtERARHMENRE

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Accruals EETE A 24,224 25,580
Payables of litigation claim (Note (a)  #FFAEA R FE N FX B
(K7 7% (@) - 2,750
Construction fee payable EREER = 2,287
Other payables (Note (b)) H b fE A 5108
(K77 b)) 12,013 14,035
36,237 44,652
Notes: i -
a) A subsidiary has been named as a defendant in High Court a) AR —RAUD2014F H AR HH

actions in respect of a dispute of the outstanding legal fee for
amounts of approximately HK$1,914,000 in 2014. The case was
finalised in May 2020. According to the consent order by the
High Court dated 6 May 2020, the Group needs to pay a sum
of HK$2,750,000 to the plaintiff. Approximately HK$2,127,000
payables of litigation claim, represented the original outstanding
amount, had been made in the consolidated financial
statements in 2019. Additional provision of HK$623,000 is
provided during the year ended 31 March 2020. It was fully
settled in May 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

33. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

b) As at 31 March 2021, included in other payable of
approximately HK$7,591,000 (2020: HK$5,485,000) is payable
to a director of a subsidiary of the Company, which is
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

34. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

33. EErEARHEMENRKE
(&)
Wiz ()

b) M20214E3A318 - # B &
7,591,0007C (20204« # &
5,485,0007T) &) E b JE (S SRIBRIE
EER - THEREREREED
ERARR—HBHBRARIZ—ZE
EH I ©

3. RORHEMEE

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
B¥TT BT T
Bank borrowings, guaranteed wITEE  DER
(note (1)) Ci=20) 133,682 171,769
Bank borrowing, unsecured (note (i) $RITEE - KA
(k172 ) 1,186 1,093
Total bank borrowings RITIEEBRE 134,868 172,862
Other borrowings, guaranteed HiEE  2ER
(note (ii)) (K & (i) 12,335 11,500
Other borrowings, unsecured HihigE - miE
(note (i) (Bt &2 (iii)) 6,628 11,656
Total other borrowings HEtfegER%E 18,963 23,156
153,831 196,018

Yee Hop Holdings Limited & &2 AR A7



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

34. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 34. $R1T

(Continued)

Based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements and ignore the effect of any repayment

on demand clause as follows:

FEMEEE

18 8 3K 1 9 L 9 O B A
5 - 3 70 DA T E R B R 16
BOEE

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Within 1 year —FR 97,263 166,403
Between 1 and 2 years —EMFE 19,938 14,420
Between 2 and 5 years —Z=hF 36,630 15,195
153,831 196,018
Carrying amount of bank and other AR IREH KL —
borrowings that are not repayable FRNEENRITR
within one year from the end of HEMEERTE -
the reporting period but contain a HEEBREREER
repayment on demand clause g 3K 28,961 29,615
Carrying amount of bank and other 7B R R &HI KL —
borrowings that are repayable FRNEERSEERE
within one year from the end of RIEBIRRAVIRITR
the reporting period and contain HEmEE 2 REE
a repayment on demand clause 48,105 116,943
Carrying amount repayable within —FHRNEERTEE
one year and do not contain RERERERD
repayment on demand clause RmEE 49,158 49,460
Carrying amount that are not BEAR—FAEERRK
repayable within one year and do TBEEREXRER
not contain repayment on demand B EREE
clause 27,607 -
153,831 196,018
Amounts shown under current mEBEEIEAE TR
liabilities okl (126,224) (196,018)
Amounts shown under non-current  JER BB EIE 4R
liabilities & 8 27,607 -
Notes: Bt it
(i) The bank borrowings of approximately HK$77,066,000 (2020: (i) 49 7% ¥77,066,0007T (20204 : &

HK$146,558,000) were denominated in HK$ carrying interest
at variable-rate with an interest rate of 3-month Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") plus 1.6% to 2.75% (2020:
1.5% to 2.755%) per annum, guaranteed by the ultimate

holding company and its subsidiaries.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

34. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

()

(iii)

(Continued)

As at 31 March 2021, the secured bank borrowings of
HK$28,003,000 (2020: HK$20,840,000) carried fixed interest
rate of 4.35% to 8.64% (2020: 4.785%) per annum and
HK$28,613,000 (2020: HK$4,371,000) carried floating
interest rate of Loan Prime Rate (equivalent to approximately
RMB23,605,000 and RMB24,120,000) (2020: (equivalent
to approximately RMB19,070,000 and RMB4,000,000)),
guaranteed by the vice chairmen of the Group and the
subsidiaries’ credit were used for oversea trading and daily
operation respectively.

Unsecured bank borrowing of approximately HK$1,186,000
(equivalent to RMB1,000,000) (2020: HK$1,093,000 (equivalent
to RMB1,000,000)) carried floating rate of Loan Prime Rate
(“LPR") plus 0.6% per annum (2020: LPR plus 0.6% per annum)
for financing the Group’s operations as at 31 March 2021.

As at 31 March 2021, other borrowings of HK$11,500,000
(2020: HK$11,500,000) and approximately HK$835,000
(equivalent to RMB704,000) (2020: nil) are guaranteed by
shareholders of a subsidiary of the Group and carried fixed
interest rate of 10% and 5.88% per annum respectively. They
were repayable within a year.

As at 31 March 2021, unsecured other borrowings of
approximately HK$6,628,000, (equivalent to RMB5,587,000)
(2020: HK$11,656,000 (equivalent to RMB10,667,000)), carried
fixed interest rate of 4.79% to 8% (2020: 4.79% to 8%) per
annum. They were repayable within a year.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group obtained
new borrowings of approximately HK$87,597,000 (2020:
HK$182,263,000). The proceeds were used to finance the
Group's operations and subscription of associate’s bond.

34. IRITREMEE®E)

Bt ()
(i) (%)

202138318 A& EE £ F
EWBRARIEEMERNE KA
iR 17 {8 & 7 % 28,003,0007T (2020
1 8 1£20,840,0007T) (1% A F
F F R4.35% ZE8.64% (20204 :
4.785%) 5t B.) & 75 #28,613,0007T
(20204 : # #4,371,0007T) (1R &
FEEEFENZEHFEFTE)GE
B R4 A R #23,6050007T & A
R #24,120,0007T) (20204 : (A&
R # A R #19,070,0007T & A R
4,000,0007T)) * P RIAREINZ S
RA®HEE -

2021438318 - 4 3K 8 R 17
f& & 4 7% %1,186,0007T (18 & M
A B #1,000,0007T) (20204 :
7 11,093,000t (B R A R
1,000,0007T)) I B R & EEF X
(EXRERFER)FEF =N
FEFE06% 2020 - EFRESR
MEEFR06%) 55 - LABRK
AEBMMEEES o

(i) 2021438318 - HE b & & %
#11,500,0007T (20204 : & &
11,500,0007T) & 49 7 #835,0007C
(8 & » A R #704,0007T)(2020
F B AAEE-HHBARNAR
BIER - W0 RIEEEFMEI0%
K5.88%5T B o ZFEHIBEHER —
FREE -

(iiiy  M202143A318 @ E ftb & ¥ R
& & 4 % #6,628,0007T (48 & 1
A B #5587,00070)(20204F : #
#11,656,0007T (18 & MW & A B
#10,667,00070)) ¥ @ & F | £
479% ZE8% (2020F :4.79% =
8%)FtE c ZENRIBHER—FA

B -

HE2021F3831HIEFEER - A&
B & 15 51 8 B 4975 #87,597,0007T
(20204F : 7 #182,263,0007T) ° Ff
BREREANEELEERREH
ERAMERBE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial

mEMBRRMHE

35. AMOUNT DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY  35.

Statements

&+ — B B8 2 1 B WY FRIH

The amount was non-trade nature, unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand.

The controlling shareholder of the Company, Mr. Jim Yin
Kwan, Jackin, has beneficial and controlling interest in the
related company.

ZRBEIEEHEE - EEW A
AAEREEREE -

ARRRHEB B R EHE T E R BE
NABEEER R ERER -

36. DEFERRED INCOME 36. IELEW A

HK$'000

BT T
At 1 April 2019 7R2019F 4 A1H 34,637
Additions during the year FANRE 463
Credited to profit or loss FAE R (7,838)
Exchange realignment PE i 38 2 (2,014)
At 31 March 2020 720206 3AH31H 25,248
Additions during the year FARE 2,103
Credited to profit or loss FTABZE (4,575)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 38 B 2,070
At 31 March 2021 20219 3H31H 24,846

During the vyears ended 31 March 2021 and 2020,
subsidiaries in the PRC received subsidies from the
government of the PRC for financing research projects on
aquatic products. Deferred income is credited to profit or
loss (i) when the subsidiaries incurred expenditures and
recognised them as expenses on these projects and (ii) on
a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the
assets related to the government subsidies received.
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37. LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS

Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the Group
is obliged to make lump sum payments on cessation of
employment in certain circumstances to certain employees
who have completed at least five years of service with
the Group. The amount payable is dependent on the
employees’ final salary and years of service, and is reduced
by entitlements accrued under the Group's retirement plans
that are attributable to contributions made by the Group.
The Group does not set aside any assets to fund any
remaining obligations.

Movement of present value of provision for long service

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

37. RUBRBEEE
REBZEERBGD  AREALES
THEATHALEABRSAEET
REDAFRBOETRE N —
FHHE - BNFEARTZEFREDN
REFELRFFHME - LR
BAREBERRTE BN EEEZRR
BENEEE - ANEEXLEFER M
BENRETMASKTREEREHTES -

EHRGEEETNRERELHN

payment obligations is as follows: i
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
At 1 April R4H1R 516 470
Charged to profit or loss B 18 &= Bk 67 46
At 31 March M3H31H8 583 516

Movement of present value of defined benefit obligations

RERNEEHBREEHMOT:

is as follows:
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BETT
At 1 April R4A1H 516 470
Charged to profit or loss EECEREITS 67 46
At 31 March M3A31H 583 516

Yee Hop Holdings Limited &R AR A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

37. LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS 37.

(Continued)

The provision represents the management’s best estimate
of the Group’s liability at the end of the reporting period.
As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the amount is calculated
based on the principal assumptions stated as below:

EHEREEEET®

BEREEEENREERYAER
BEMNREMET o B20219F %2020
F3R3MH - SEOBEBETHREE

32 2|

BRERETE -

2021 2020
Salary inflation rate FolErX 5% 5%
Discount rate X 0.09%-3.22% 0.59%-0.86%

The most recent actuarial valuation of the present value
of the defined benefit obligation was carried out as at 31
March 2021 and 2020 by Graval Consulting Limited. The
present value of the defined benefit obligation of the Group
was measured using the projected unit credit method.

AERMETCHRENKIOHBERS
EHEECEBERARQTN2021
£ 2020538310 E T AEHE
MATEMNETRERAETEN

ERARTE -

38. SHARE CAPITAL 38. R
Number of Share
shares capital
BRHEE [N
HK$'000
BT T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREEE.01TH
ZRR
Authorised ZEE
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 and  #2019F481H - 20204
2021 X&2021F3A31H 1,560,000,000 15,600
Issued and fully paid ERITR#HE
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 and 720194818 - 20204
2021 2021 3A31H 500,000,000 5,000

Annual Report 2020/21 £ 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

39. COMMITMENTS 39. &g
(@) Others (a) EHfb
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Capital commitments BAT ZIEREGE I
contracted for but not WMEREFTHEREE
provided in the consolidated B & AN EHE
financial statements in
respect of:
- Acquisition of plant and -~ R R R R R
equipment - 32,870
- Acquisition of an -WiEEEEE
intangible asset 4,449 -
4,449 32,870
40. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 40. FREE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had provided RERR AEBEDUTE
the following guarantees: ok
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Guarantees in respect of zero REZEBBHFULRE
coupon bond in favor of holder B E L AR PTETHY
of the bond issued by the Group’s BEEFAARERA
associate B 1R - 59,582
Guarantees in respect of MBEANEFAEETRPR
performance bonds in favor of its ¥ @ AW E R
clients 47,795 97,871
47,795 157,453

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, it was not
probable that a claim would be made against the Group
under the relevant financial guarantees. The directors of
the Company have performed impairment assessment,
and concluded that there has been no significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition of these contracts.
Accordingly, the loss allowance is measured at an amount

XK

:.,J_L

equal to 12 month expected credit loss which is insignificant e

at the end of the reporting period.

ARREERA REMEMB
ERAAEEIRE D AROATEED
RIEFEDETRERMG
W AETIRERZFALAR
I M|BEEN - Ht - R
HBERR - ZAER12E A EH
EEEBESRITENEEBRE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

41.

42.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS 41. EEEF
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had pledged RmERAR AEEEEBUTE
the following assets to banks and other financial institution ETHRITREMSEERE - UgiiR
to secure the banking facilities granted to the Group: FAREEMRITRLE EE M -
2021 2020
HK$000 HK$'000
B¥ETT BT T
Other receivable H fth & Y K8 - 1,122
Contract asset BREE = 16,624
Trade receivable B 5 rEWFE = 9,177
= 26,923
SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 42. IR AERN AR S

Equity-settled share option schemes of the
Company

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a written resolution of the Company
passed on 25 November 2015 for the primary purpose of
providing incentives to directors and eligible employees,
and will expire on 24 November 2025. Under the Scheme,
the board of directors of the Company may grant options
to eligible employees, including directors of the Company
and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company.
Additionally, the Company may, from time to time, grant
share options to outside third parties for settlement in
respect of goods or services provided to the Company.
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42. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

Equity-settled share option schemes of the
Company (Continued)

The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to
exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. The number of shares issued and to be
issued in respect of which options granted and may be
granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted
to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue during
any 12-month period, without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders.

Options may be exercised at any time during a period as the
Board may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from
the offer date subject to the provisions of early termination
thereof, and provided that the Board may determine the
minimum period for which an option has to be held or
other restrictions before its exercise. The exercise price is
determined by the directors of the Company, and will not be
less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price
of the shares for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of
the Company’s share.

No share option has been granted since the Scheme
has been adopted. As at 31 March 2021, there are no
outstanding share options issued under the Scheme (2020:
nil).

42.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

UBROARERNINRS
(%)

KATWREEZEBREE
(&)

REARRBRRELAE  ARE
% 8 AT BE IR H O BE AR 0 AR 1)
BB BBEARANEMNKERD
BITRIDEN10% » REARFIRR
FRE  MEMFEREMAL
RO R RO BREN D ET
METFERTRODBETSEBAR
AIAMEMRI21E A A E &7 RO B
1% °

BREARESSAEETNHE
AR ETE  ETFEBELY
B I &+ F (A1 3% EL R SCER A 48
) AREFerETERERE
TEAARANREREHEMR
# o THEEAAARESEEE B
TRENATREE  )ARF R
MRELBHMKTE: (HRHOR
EERLBHMARELEEAN T
Wi (B Ri)ANAR RO EE -

AR ZTEIE WY MERHE
B% 4 - 72021438318 1B &%
STEERRITHARTTHE 2 BAE
(2020 : &) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, during the vyear, the Group
entered into transactions with related parties as

43. BB AR5

(a) BREAMBHRRAEMMLT

BEEN
BT THIR5:

AEBERFERHR

follows:
2021 2020
Related party Nature of transaction HK$’000 HK$'000
MR REME BT T BETT
Hong Kong Qing Chuang Loan interest income 208 -
Limited (note ) ERHEKA
EAESRIBRAR (ML)
Guangzhou Qingchangshe Expense reimbursement 2,729 -
Shangye Operating ERWmiE
Management Co., Ltd.
(note i)
EMBEEIHEEELER
BR AR (B ati)
Windmill Street Development Interest income on bond 7,274 2,302
Limited B F B A
Pioneer National Development  Depreciation of right-of-use asset 995 1,033
Limited (note (i)) CREEENE
HEZRERRBM )
Interest expense of lease liabilities 37 70
HEGBHNMERX
Asia Time Development Rental expenses (classified as short-term 540 540
Limited (notes (i) and (i) leases in years ended 31 March 2021
BERERARAA and 2020)
(7 () % (i) X (B 520214 % 20204634316
LFEESEREHEE)
Hilton Development Limited Rental expenses (classified as short-term 912 912
(notes (i) and (ii)) leases in years ended 31 March 2021
FJEERBERRAA and 2020)
(7 () % (i) X (B 520214 % 20204634316
LFEESEREHEE)
Land Treasure Development Rental expenses (classified as short-term 804 804

Limited (notes (i) and (i)
HEBERER AT
(B7 32 () % (i)

leases in years ended 31 March 2021
and 2020)

He% (B Z20215K%202063A318
TEETBEREHEE)

Annual Report 2020/21 4 3R
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43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) (Continued)
Notes.

The above transaction was conducted at terms
determined on a basis mutually agreed between the
Group and the related parties. The directors of the
Company have control and direct beneficial interest in
the above mentioned related parties.

ii. The above tenancy agreements were renewed on 1 April
2021 for further 3 years lease terms. Details are set out
in the announcement dated 1 April 2021.

(b) Compensation of key management

personnel

The directors of the Company consider that they and
one employee are the key management personnel
of the Group. Other than remuneration paid to the
directors of the Company as disclosed in note 12,
the Group paid significant compensation to one key
management personnel during the years ended 31
March 2021 and 2020, details of which are disclosed
in note 13.

44. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes are
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under
the control of trustees. The Group contributes 5% of
relevant payroll costs, capped at HK$1,500 per month, to
the MPF Scheme, in which the contribution is matched by
employees.

Pursuant to the regulation of the relevant authorities in the
PRC, the subsidiaries of the Group in this country participate
in respective government retirement benefit schemes
(the “Schemes”) whereby the subsidiaries are required to
contribute to the Schemes to fund the retirement benefits
of the eligible employees. Contribution made to the
Schemes is calculated based on the certain percentages
of the applicable payroll costs as stipulated under the
requirements in the PRC. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the Schemes is to pay the ongoing required
contribution under the Schemes.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

43. B AR 5 E)

(@) (&)
B & -

i bl %z F 4 AR g2 [ B R EE Oy
HRWE 2 B EREE O HK
BT ARBEER LA
G RBREN R ERESRE

2

B

ii. LA E M AR 2021
FA4R1H # — 2 & B3F -
BEFBIHN A A20214F
ARMBM A E -

(b) FEEEABEREHM

KRFEERABRER—%
BEAXAEENETEETEA
B o BRI MM 2R X
NFERBEENFH 25
KB R E20214 %2020
FIANBLEFER—ZEE
ERABLZNEEHH -
B ERM I3 -

44. ERKEF &

REMFEE

AEBANEEHAREARERR
VB E - AEEEHALE
BENHAZE  BAZTAEFHE
SERE - AEERABEIEKAD
5% (_EBR & & A% ¥1,50070) M54
BesraERHR MESMHK
bR IR ARR ©

RETFEEBERNMRE  AKHE
FAZR B B B 8 % 3] 2 B AR B R AT SR
KEFEt B (TR - &t - B
REAREHK RAEREER
MERKREFRHES - FHEIHRTS
AR 45 P B B SRPT AR TE B A A R B A
AWETEDLEE - AEE Y
M- B EERE N FE
PR #8 B9 5K o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

44. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued) 44. RRER & (&)

Defined contribution plans (Continued)

Pursuant to the regulation of the relevant authorities
in the Philippines, the subsidiary of the Group in this
country participates in respective Social Security System
(the “System”) whereby the subsidiaries are required to
contribute to the System to fund the social security benefits
of the eligible employees. Contribution made to the System
is calculated based on the certain percentages of the
applicable payroll costs as stipulated under the requirements
in the Philippines. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the System is to pay the ongoing required
contribution under the System.

The total cost charged to profit or loss amounted to
approximately HK$10,128,000 (2020: HK$8,919,000) for
the year ended 31 March 2021. The payment represents
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group in
respect of the current accounting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 45. KA T & Ak R &
THE COMPANY

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Non-current asset kRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary B—EMB AR
wE 14,808 14,808
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE I B B8~ B 3R IE
(note a) (Hfita) 113,932 112,159
Prepayments ICENE O 148 162
Tax recoverable A] Uy 5] R 18 17 120
Bank balances and cash RITHEB LIRS 475 469
114,572 112,910
Current liabilities REEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries ERWEB QR A
(note a) (B ita) 870 -
Other payables and accruals E fth JE AT RRIE K EFT
=8¢ 1,456 561
2,326 561
Net current assets RBEEFEE 112,246 112,349
Net assets EEFHE 127,054 127,157
Capital and reserve EXR#E
Share capital [N 5,000 5,000
Reserves (note b) & (47 #b) 122,054 122,157
Total equity ERAE 127,054 127,157
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:

(a) The amounts are unsecured, non-interesting bearing and
repayable on demand.

45. Z<NF) B B S AR R 3R (@)

(a) ZEEAREBER THERERE

(b) Movements in reserves (b) EEE2SH
Share Merger Accumulated

premium reserve losses Total

BRABE EOEE RitEsE @er

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000

BETFT BETT BETFTT BEBETT

As at 1 April 2019 R2019F4H1H 112,583 14,808 (5,245) 122,146
Profit and total comprehensive & A& FI| & 2 T UK 25 48 58

income for the year - - " 1

As at 31 March 2020 7202053 H31H 112,583 14,808 (5,234) 122,157
Loss and total comprehensive FREBEREEMAZ B

expense for the year - - (103) (103)

As at 31 March 2021 #2021F3A31R8 112,583 14,808 (5,337) 122,054
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COMPANY

46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March
2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries

Place of

incorporation/ Place of
establishment  operation

Issued and fully paid share capital/
registered capital

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

46. ARBE T EME DT

20215 202093 A318 * "R FA
MiE ARG BEEHIAT

Percentage of equity interest/voting
power attributable to the Company

Principal activities

HRAL/
WEATER RINLE ey BRARMRRE/ERES RAREERE/ ZARAIN TEEH
2021 2020 2021 2020
Direct  Indirect Direct  Indirect
BE BE EE B
Yee Hop Engineering Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - 100% - 100%  Engineering and
HK$14,800,001 HK$14,800,001 construction
A1k g Bk LTRRER LRREE - 100% - 100% IRREZE
14,800,001 14,800,001
Yee Hop Construction Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - 100% - 100%  Construction contracting
HK$1,000 HK$1,000
BARE i B LaRERI000T  EBAEEH,000T - 100% - 100% BEAE
Y.H. Foundations Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - 100% - 100%  Engineering and
HK$1,000 HK$1,000 construction

EAE B i LRRBR1000T  EBAREK,000T - 100% - 100% TIREREE

Full Tech Equipment and Machinery  Philippines Philippines Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - 100% - 100%  Provision of logistic services
Inc PHP21,250,000 PHP21,250,000 to construction and

mining sites

Full Tech Equipment and Machinery 3F2 % EEE £321,250,000  E@AE21,250,000 - 100% - 100% MHEEREEDBRENR
Inc. FRENER FRENER R

Shenzhen BGI Fisheries Sci & Tech  PRC PRC RMB100,000,000 RMB85,375,000 - 70% - 70%  Investment holding, research
Co., Ltd* FHERNEFBEER and development and
7] (note (c)) breeding, sales and

trading of aquatic
products

RIEREEHEARAT PE E ARH100,000,0007 A K #85,375,0007C - 70% - 0% RERR REREE-
(i) HEREEKER

Zhenjiang Kehua Fishery Development PRC PRC RMB10,000,000 RMB10,000,000 - 70% - 70%  Breeding and trading of
Co, Ld* BINERLEELR aquatic products
A7 (note (c))

BIMERSEREARAR i HE ARH10,000,000 A K#10,000,0007 - 70% - 0% FEREEKER
(H#e)

Hainan BGI Marine Sci & Tech Co.,  PRC PRC RMB10,000,000 RMB10,000,000 - 46% - 46%  Research, breeding and
Ltd* BREAEENEBRAR (note (3)) (note (3)) trading of aquatic
(note (c)) products

BREXEFHRARLT i P AR#10,000,0007 A E#%10,000,0007 - 46% - 46% WE BEREEKER
(i) (W) (i)

BGI Aquatic Product (HK) Company  Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1,553,860 HK$1,553,860 - 70% - 70%  Trading of aquatic products
Limited

EXKE(FR)ERAA i BiE E¥1,553,8600T 1,553,860 - 70% - 0% EBEKER

BGI Academy of Marine Sciences* ~ PRC PRC RMB1,000,000 RMB1,000,000 - 70% - 70%  Research and development
RINTERGERER (note () on breeding and

cultivation of aquatic
species

RITEREFRER W) * e AR#1,000,000T A K¥1,000,0007 - 70% - 0% EBERERERKENE

Yee Hop Holdings Limited & &2 AR A7
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mEMBRRMHE

46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

46. XA T EMBE AT (&)

Place of
incorporation/  Place of Issued and fully paid share capital/registered Percentage of equity interest/voting
Name of subsidiaries establishment  operation capital power attributable to the Company Principal activities
2R/
WERAER R TEny BRARMRRA/EREL ARFRERE/RAEEIN TEEH
2021 2020 2021 2020
Direct Indirect Direct Indirect
%3 Gk EE B
Zhenjiang Huayou Ecological Agriculture PRC PRC RMB10,000,000 RMB10,000,000 70% - 70%  Breeding and trading of aquatic
Sci & Tech Co., Ld*BTEEL R products
BEREBRAT (note (¢)
BTERLRRENRARLT 7 ik ARH10,0000007T  AR%10,000,0007 70% - 0% FEREEKEM
(Hit)
BGI Zhenjiang Detection Co., Ltd.* PRC PRC RMB4,199,000 RMB4,199,000 70% - 70%  Provision of laboratory test
BIEARUBRRE (note () services and sales of aquatic
products
BTEARNERRA ML) 7 ik AR%4199,000  AR%4,199,0007 0% - 0% REABRIABRBREE
KER
Jiangsu Yihua Food Co., Ltd.* PRC PRC RMB10,350,000 RMB10,350,000 70% - 70%  Processing and trading of
i ERRERDA (note () aquatic products
IHEERMERAAW L) P E AR%10,350,0000C  AR%10,350,0007C 70% - 0% MIREEKER
Hainan Haichang Prawn Breeding Co,  PRC PRC RMB2,550,000 RMB2,550,000 35% - 35%  Breeding and trading of aguatic
ltd* BHEEHEZEEERAR (note (b)) (note (b)) products
(note ()
BRBEHELEARAA FE HE AR%2550000  AR%2,550,0007C 35% - 35% EEREEKER
(A& ) (Hiib) (Wit )
Guangzhou Qingchuang Tiandi PRC PRC RMB20,000,000 - 63% - - Sub-leasing of premises
Commercial Operation Management
Co,, Ltd*
(RMBARMBRXELER
BRAF) note (c)
ENBHXLEXELERERLA H& ik A K %20,000,0007C - 63% - - pENE
()
Guangzhou Qingchuang Lixiang PRC PRC RMB15,000,000 - 70% - - Sub-leasing of premises
Commercial Operation Management
Co,, Ltd.*
(EMEEIBEELELER
AR L) (hote (c)
ENELRER2ELERERRA TE E AR #15,000,0007T - 70% - - AENE
(Hi# )
Notes: B it -

(a) The subsidiary is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of BGI Marine
with effective equity interest attributable to the Group of 46%.

(b) The subsidiaries are non-wholly owned subsidiaries of BGI
Marine with effective equity interest attributable to the Group

of 35%.

(o) These entities are registered as a private limited company under

the PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets and liabilities of the Group.
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of

excessive length.

* Translation of Chinese name for identification purpose only.

Annual Report 2020/21 £ 3R

(@ MEARAERGFIZEHRFN
BRR - HEAKEELERBRE
46% °

(b) MBRARAREXRGFHFZEHREH
BRA - HEAKEELERBRRE

35%
(0 ZEETBRBEFEEAZEDLARLA
BRAA -

$®ﬁ%$%ﬁ*t%ﬂﬁ$%§
wmgﬁﬂig%%$$@W%§
ﬁé%&%%°$@i%$%%&
RIEEMMTE AT NFFIEE B
BILE o

X EEBEERER -

195



196

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 46. AAREEME AT @)
COMPANY (Continued)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has other RMERR  ZXEBEEEHAKE
subsidiaries that are not individually material to the Group. mEERBTERNHEMEEAR
The principal activities of these subsidiaries are sales of Al ZEMBRARMEZEXESBE
aquatic products and investment holding. A summary of ERKEMREEER ZEWBA
these subsidiaries are set out as follows: AMEHIN AT
Number of subsidiaries
M AR #E
2021 2020
Principal activity Principal place of FTEEEMI
FTEXEK business
Investment holding — Hong Kong — &% 2 2
"B =R — The British Virgin -~ EEBEZHS
Islands (the “BVI") (ZBEZE#ES] 8 8
Inactive - Hong Kong —B% 4 4
N BB — The PRC - 4 1
— The BVI —RBRIES 1 1
- Australia — B M 1 1
- Laos —E1 1 1
21 18

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
subsisting at the end of both years or at any time during
both years.

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group that has non-controlling interests
that are material to the Group:

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and

Proportion of
ownership interest

Proportion of voting

BEMFERIMENEAER - K
BRAAMEZETEMNFENERKE
% o

TRITHEEHAEEMSBEX

ZIHEBRENAKEI R EHEB
NEIZFHIE:

Loss attributable

Name of principal place of held by non-controlling power held by non-  to non-controlling Accumulated non-
subsidiary business interests controlling interests interests controlling interests
EMRY/BIME FEREZBEN FEREZEBAD
WEAREE BRIZEXHE REERERLLA REELH FEREEEEER At FERER
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
% % % %  HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000
BETR ERTT BETR EERT
BGI Marine The PRC 30% 30% 30% 30%  (10,254) (2,074) 44,859 52,653
ERBF e
Individual The PRC N/A N/A N/A N/A (793) - 1,851 -
subsidiaries B TERA TiEA TEA @A
with immaterial
non-controlling
interest
BEEFERIFER
1 60 18 5l 0 8
NG
(11,047) (2,074) 46,710 52,653

Yee Hop Holdings Limited & &% %A R A7)
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mEMBRRMHE

46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 46. XABEEM B AT (&)

COMPANY (Continued)

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Non-current assets EMEBEE 104,051 149,923
Current assets MENEE 176,857 142,917
Non-current liabilities EmEBEE (52,453) (32,378)
Current liabilities mE B & (144,274) (132,380)
Equity attributable to owners of the ~ AQREIHEE A B
Company 39,322 75,429
Non-controlling interests* JEIE R 44,859 52,653
Year ended Year ended
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
= HZ=
2021%3H31H  202043A31H
IEFE EFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Revenue I 2= 192,588 197,301
Expenses X (223,380) (204,353)
Loss for the year FARE (30,792) (7,052)
Loss attributable to owners of the RARHEAAEIGEE
Company (20,538) (4,978)
Loss attributable to non-controlling  3E¥% A% #E 25 FEIG B 1B *
interests* (10,254) (2,074)
Loss for the year FARE (30,792) (7,052)
Net cash inflows from operating KETESBREESN
activities A FRE 1,083 3,736
Net cash outflows used in investing REEETAIRER
activities F R (21,675) (6,045)
Net cash inflows/outflows from mMEEBE,(FTA)
(used in) financing activities BErRARE
=5l 27,607 (8,818)
Net cash inflows (outflows) BaemACrE) F5 7,015 (11,127)
* The amounts included net assets or loss attributable to non-controlling * ZeBBRREEREENBAREREKE

mREFEERBIE -

interests of subsidiaries of BGI Marine.

Annual Report 2020/21 4F %R 197



198

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

47. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

For the year ended 31 March 2021:

47.

METHELE2EEYR

TREBNAEEREZHELZA

EEBFIE

BRERSRFERD S

BomMETBELZABABER
BRNBRERANEERERERR

BARERDRSNNAFEE -

B Z2021F3A831B L FEE :

Non-cash changes

FREEH
Rental
deposit paid
Financing Finance New lease by a related Exchange
1/4/2020  cash flows costs incurred arrangements company realignment  31/3/2021
2020% FEERE -HEEAT 20214
4518 BMERLRE KA HEERHE IMfNELERS EXRE 3A318
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BET T BT T BT T BET T BRI T
Bank and other ROREMEE
borrowings (1 ##34)
(note 34) 196,018 (46,289) = = = 4,102 153,831
Interest payable RS (GIAREE
(included in Accruals ERRAMEN
and other payables) FIE) 1,748 (8,666) 9,816 - - - 2,898
Amount due to a BN - B AR
director of a —ZEENHE
subsidiary (included (FGTAEFER
in Accruals and other REMER
payables) FE) 5,485 2,106 - - - - 7,591
Amount due to a related 1 — R B 2 )
company HE - 2,729 - - 7118 - 9,847
Lease liabilities HEERE 8,398 (6,457) 342 136,168 = 284 138,735
211,649 (56,577) 10,158 136,168 7,118 4,386 312,902
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mEMBRRMHE

47. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 47. BMEEBEE 2EEYHR
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Continued) (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2020: B E2020F3A31HIEFE -
Non-cash changes
FReED
Financing Finance New lease Exchange
1/4/2019 cash flows  costs incurred  arrangements realignment  31/3/2020
20195 FrEEmE 2020
4R1E BERERE KA HEERH EXAE 3A318
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BB
Bank and other borrowings ROREMER
(note 34) (Hi234) 49,843 147,804 - - (1,629) 196,018
Interest payable (included in RS (GIAEH &
Accruals and other payables) AR E f fE A
HE) 699 (5,920) 7,052 - (83) 1,748
Amount due to a director of a ER—-FERBAR—%
subsidiary (included in Accruals ESNTEGIAE
and other payables) AHER R
RIE) 5,680 (195) - - - 5,485
Lease liabilities REERE 14,373 (7,061) 524 938 (376) 8,398
70,595 134,628 7,576 938 (2,088) 211,649

48. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended 31 March 2021, a rental deposit of
approximately HK$7,118,000 (equivalent to RMB6,000,000)
(2020: nil) was paid by a related company on behalf of the
Group.

During the vyear ended 31 March 2020, the loan
receivable of approximately HK$18,180,000 (equivalent
to RMB15,576,000) (2021: nil) was settled by plant and
machinery from the vendor.
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49. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 1 April 2021, the Group entered into certain lease
agreements with connected persons in relation to the
certain premises for office usage and plant and equipment
storage in Hong Kong. Details are set out in the
announcements dated 1 April 2021.

On 19 April 2021, Mr. WANG Jian has been appointed as
the Non-Executive Director of the Company. Details are set
out in the announcements dated 19 April 2021.

On 29 April 2021, for prudence sake, the Board has
resolved to comply with the requirement of connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
regarding the Transactions contemplated under the
cooperation agreement entered into on 31 March 2021
as if Shenzhen Shen Meng Investment Group Co., Ltd. is
deemed to be a connected person of the Company. As
the highest applicable percentage ratios (as defined in
the Listing Rules) in respect of the Transactions exceed
5% but are less than 25%, the Transactions constitute
(i) discloseable transactions of the Company which are
subject to the notification and announcement requirements
under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules; and (ii) non-exempt
connected transactions of the Company which are subject
to the notification, announcement, circular and independent
Shareholders approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

Details are set out in the announcements dated 30 June
2021, 31 May 2021, 29 April 2021 and 31 March 2021.

49.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

WREHESE

R2021F 47810 » AREBEHEE A
TR A B B e A B & DA R A
LEREREOETYET LA THE
Sk o FFIBEH N BER2021F4
ABR RS -

M2021FE48198 - T A L
TEARRBIENITES - FBEHR
HEFA2021F4R19HH AN E -

R2021F4829H - AEER R
EE SR N2021F3A318 5]
YHEERRE METZZER
SEFTLETRABUHAZEETHNE
BTSRE  BORITEEERE
EEBR AR AHADE M EEE
AT - ARZEXRGZHEEBER
SHE(EER EMRB)BiBE5%
BIRA25% @ ML F R 5K >) A
NAEIZATHERS  WHEHEBSFE
MRAFEUAEE T ZRARAER
TE o RNVARRZIEREBERS
WEEBFEMARBEBLATE T2
B NG BREBERERE
T °

HBEHE N B A2021F6A830H
202155H318 ~ 2021548298 &
2021F3A31THMI A S -
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Five Year Financial Summary

EFEBMBERE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS mEHEE
For the year ended 31 March HE3IANEHLEEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BB T BB T BB T BB T
Revenue I &= 1,056,453 980,053 600,288 539,295 498,278
Cost of revenue U 28 B AR (935,804) (870,409) (484,009) (452,802) (419,821)
Gross profit EF 120,649 109,644 116,279 86,493 78,457
Gain from changes in fair value of AW BEERFEEZEH
biological assets less costs W %5 0 35 B AR
to sell 8,623 13,196 410 - -
Other income and gain Hbh W A Rz 46,088 45,803 1,933 1,896 2,526
Administrative and other expenses 17 BR Jz E fth B &% (105,007) (110,389) (65,583) (51,372) (52,504)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAXZ (25,523) (21,177) (1,286) - -
Impairment losses of CREEREEE
financial assets (1,481) (1,996) - - -
Impairment loss on goodwill BEREER (7,346) - - - -
Share of result of an associate SME—HEEAREE 19,024 1175 (4) 76 -
Finance costs BMEKK (10,158) (7,576) (1,548) (1173) (1,601)
Profit before taxation B % A& F 44,869 28,680 50,201 35,920 26,878
Income tax expense FBRiAEY (6,599) (6,174) (10,481) (5,768) (4,344)
Profit for the year 735 7 38,270 22,506 39,720 30,152 22,534
Other comprehensive income FREMEEKES
(expense) for the year (FAx) 17,815 (12,016) (4,079) 3,792 -
Total comprehensive income ERN2ENEEE
for the year 56,085 10,490 35,641 33,944 22,534
As at 31 March M3A31H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
Non-current assets kRBEE 505,172 299,638 264,863 108,104 56,358
Current assets REBEE 460,793 495,096 403,921 278,820 276,533
Current liabilities mEBAE (328,957) (372,311) (268,980) (99,588) (73,460)
Net current assets MBEEFE 131,836 122,785 134,941 179,232 203,073
Total assets less current liabilities EEBTBRRDAER 637,008 422,423 399,804 287,336 259,431
Non-current liabilities E =R (193,199) (37,373) 41,312) (6,556) (12,595)
Net assets EEFE 443,809 385,050 358,492 280,780 246,836
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Glossary
HEAAR

In this annual report (other than the Independent Auditor's Report
and Financial Information), unless the context otherwise requires,
the following expression shall have the following meanings:

“2021 Financial Year”

“2020 Corresponding
Year”

TAGM”

"Articles”

“BGI Marine”

“BGI Marine Group”

“Birmingham Property
Project”

“Board”
"BV
"CG Code”

"Company”

“connected person(s)”

“Controlling
Shareholder(s)”

"Directors”

for the year ended 31 March 2021

for the year ended 31 March 2020

Annual
Company

general meeting of the

the Articles of Association of the
Company, as amended from time to
time

Shenzhen BGI Marine Sci & Tech Co.
Ltd, a company incorporated in the
PRC and an indirect subsidiary of the
Company

BGI Marine and its subsidiaries

a project for the development of a
residential property which consists 304
apartments situated at Windmill Street,
Birmingham, the United Kingdom

the board of Directors of the Company
the British Virgin Islands

the Corporate Governance Code

Yee Hop Holdings Limited, an exempted
company incorporated in Cayman Islands
with limited liability, the shares of which

are listed on the Stock Exchange

has the meaning ascribed to it under the
Listing Rules

has the meaning ascribed thereto under
the Listing Rules and, in the context of
the Company, means each of Mr. Jim,
Mr. Chui and JJ1318

the director(s) of the Company

RAFHRA B AZBEN RS R TEE R

BRON - BRIEXE R BATE
BRABUTESE:

RONFEHHFE ]

[2020%F [F1 541 |

(RBFAE]

(R4

[EABE]

[EXBFEE]

MaREM%RE]

[E%g]
[REEZES]
[ % ERTH

[RA7]

(AEAL]

—
e
R
=0

58
]
il
il

[E%)

BRI 5

HZE20201F3A318IEEE

HZE202063831HILEE

ALARBREFAE

TRRABERAY £

3T

FUNEXRBENBEBERA
AR EEMKTSD
B UAKRDRNEENE
NGl
ZREFERENBARA
—AFENELEEE B
& AR B BA B F Windmill
Street #1304 A &
ARBEES
HBERIES
EERTH
EARREBAR RE2

BEEMRINERLER
DA ABBRBR A LS

ARLTHRAMETHHRE

BELETHRIAE T KR
£ ARAQARME  HBE
FE - fREERINGEG

KAAFER
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Glossary

EAAE

"GBP"
"Group”

HHK$H
“Hong Kong” or

“JJ1318"

“Listing”
“Listing Rules”

“Main Board”

“Model Code”

“Mr. Chui”

“Mr. Jim”

“PHP”

“PRC”
"Prospectus”
“RMB”

“SFO"

THK"

British Pound, the lawful currency of UK
the Company and its subsidiaries
lawful

Hong Kong dollars, the
currency of Hong Kong

the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC

JJ1318 Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the BVI, is wholly
owned by Mr. Jim and is a Controlling
Shareholder

the listing of the Shares on the Main
Board on 18 December 2015

the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange

the main board of the Stock Exchange

Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers

Mr. CHUI Mo Ming (& 88), an
Executive Director and a Controlling
Shareholder

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin (Z#EE¥), an
Executive Director and a Controlling
Shareholder

Philippines Peso, the lawful currency
of the Republic of Philippines

The People’s Republic of China

the prospectus in relation to the
Shares Offer of the Company dated 8
December 2015

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the
PRC

Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong
Kong)
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Glossary
HERAAR

“Share Option Scheme”

“Shareholder(s)”
“Shares”

“Shares Offer”

“Stock Exchange”

“Yee Hop Engineering”

“YH Global”

“YH Global Group”

the share option scheme adopted by
the Company pursuant to the written
resolutions of the Shareholders of the
Company passed on 25 November
2015

holder(s) of the Shares
Company from time to time

of the

Shares issued by the Company, with a
nominal value of HK$0.01 each

the public offer and placing of totaling
125,000,000 new Shares of the
Company at the offer price of HK$1.00
under the Prospectus

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

Yee Hop Engineering Company
Limited (& LR BRAA) a
company incorporated in Hong Kong
with limited liability and an indirect
subsidiary of the Company

YH Global Trading Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liability and an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company

YH Global and its subsidiaries and
associates (other than members of BGI
Marine Group”

(B8l

[Hefn % &)

[ 22 Ff |

[&aIi]

& AR

[EARKEHE]

ARARERDABKRER
015FNABEMBRER
REREMOERE 2

ARABRDZTEREA

ARRFMBOIEREERE
0.017T K fix 17

BEBRERNREBBIE
TOOTARBERREA R
125,000,000 % A 8] 37 i 0

BB ERIMARAT

BAIRARLDA RER
EMKIHARAR LR
RARMEENBRF

BRRREFERRA R
BEAMKINAERAR
YRARANEENE AR

£AERRANBATNR
BELA (FOEEATEE
Bk ARA)
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